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The Shenandoah Connty Hisioric Landmarks Survey was undertaken during the winter and spring
of 1993 o investigate the architectural snd historic resources of Shenandosh County, Wirginia.
The survey was famizd by the County of Shenandoab and the Virginia Department of Historic
Resources (VDHR) and was carried out by Maral 8. Kalbaan, Preservation Consultant; . Daniel
Pezzoni, Preservation Technologies, Inc.; and a team of sub-conractors heresfier veferred o
as “the consuliant™). The survey covered the rural areas of Shenandoah County outside of
incorporated communities and outside the boundaries of the George Washingion National Forest,
a survey area of between 240,000 and 230,000 acres. The two main objectives of the survey
were o survey a total of 350 resources, 315 at the reconnaissance level and thirty-five at the
intensive level, and to produce a survey report that wonld provide historic contexts for surveyed
properties.  Addidensl products were ¢ include survey files prepared with the Integraed
Preservation Software (IPS), photographic negatives snd prints for all sites, United States
Geological Survey {USGS) maps indicating the location of survey sites, and 3 seripted shde
prograin on the county’s BISWTIC TESOUTees.

Completed in July 1993, the survey resulted in the documentstion of 328 sites st the
reconnaissance level and thirty-eight sites at the intensive level for g total of 367 sites. Fourteen
of the intensive sites were roral comanunities for which VDHR Preliminary Information Forms
were prepared. The survey also resulted in the mapping of all accessible propertics that appeared
to be over fifty vears in age. This repont recommends that more survey bhe conducted in the
consty in order to document the many historic siies that were ot surveyed doring the initiad
phase and in order to define the threshold of National Repister eligibthity for various property
types. This report siso recommends that six intensive-level sites be comsidered for listing in the
Virginia Landmarks Register (VLR) and the National Register of Historic Places (MR},
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¥.  INTRODUCTION/DESCRIPTION OF PROIECT

The Shenandoah County Historic Landmarks Survey was undertaken during the winter and spring
of 1993 t nvestigate the architectural and historic resources of Shenandoab Coumty, Viegisia,
The survey was funded by Shenandoah County and the VIHR and was carried out by Maral 5.
Kalbian, Preservation Consultant; §. Daniel Pezzont, Preservation Technologies, Inc.; and a team
of sub-contractors. The focus of the survey was the rursl acreage of Shenandoab County owiside
of incorporated communities and outside the approximately 77.000 acres owned and administered
by the George Washington National Forest, a survey area of between 248, 000 and 250,000 acres
(USDA. Soil Conservation Service: 13, The two main objectives of the project wers 10 survey
4 totsl of 350 resources, 315 at the reconnaissance level and thirty-five at the intensive level, and
to produce a survey report that would provide historic contexts for surveyed properiies and
recommendations as o NR/VLR eligibility. In addition 1o this scope of work and sttendant
products (198 survey files, negatives and photographs, USGS maps, & scripted shide program on
the county’s BISIOEiC TeS0uILes, ic. ).

The survey was managed by Maral $. Kalbian, an srchitectural historian/preservation consulant
based in Bovee, Virginia and J. Deniel Pezzoni, an architectural historian/ preservation
consultant with the firm of Preservation Technologies, Inc., based in Roanoke, Virginia
Kalbian and Pezzoni conducted the majority of the windshicld reconnaissance that preceded the
survey and resalted in the mapping of all properties that appeared to be over fifty years in age,
and they ultimately surveyed thirty-eight intensive sites, three more than the thirty-five sites
specified in the contract. Individually, Kalbian served as contact for the agencies and individuals
involved in the project and gathersd site information at the VDHR, and Pezzoni prepared the
final report and scripted shide program. The project masagers were assisted by several sub-
contractors. Historian Judy B. Revnolds of Front Roval, Virginia assisted in the research and
writing of the religion, education, and population statistics sections of the survey report historic
context, and she served as the survey factomm. Archilectural historians Mare C. Wagner and
Susan F. Smead of Charlostesville, Virginia-based Preservation Assoctates of Virgisus surveyed
166 reconnaissance sies. Architectural historian Scott M. Hudlow of Williamsburg, Virgima
surveved 103 reconnaissance sites, Pezzoni surveyed fifty-eight reconnaissance sites. The total
anmber of reconnaissance sites surveyed was 335,

On Jansary 7, 1993 the consultant initiaied a windshicld reconnaissance of the counly m order
i identify historic resources that appeared to be over fifty yowrs in age. Kalblan, Pezzont, and
Reynokls completed this reconnaissance in February. Survey by Hudlow, Kalbian, Pezsoui,
Smead, and Wagner was conducted between lanusry and May, The consultant made several
presentations to the county board of supervisors and the historical society. Towards the end of
the project the deadline for completion of the project from May 31 1o October 1, 1993, The
main reason for the extension was to compensate for delays occasioned by [PS, the experimendal
software that was field tested by the Shenandosh County survey and other 1993 surveys. Bad
weather in February and March and other delays experienced by the consuliant also contributed
to the need for an extension.  The survey was completed and files and reports deliversd @ the
VDHR on July 18, 1993



- \VJ A\‘%\
N,/
/
-.\&\N
>

/ & e
; o Fishors Hillp
Tl S 7 ML Cilive S A Gl §
Jla S :
N 7 ? STRASBURG
/ R T P, S P
/ Saomavile # roms FROOK e
‘1”‘/3 / N K !”3“9 e
Y ~ Msurestown % < -
/ i s A 4 s
7 ‘ £ 4 @ /
/ - . “;w/"-.\ . __:":, 0&9’ /
e T WOODSTOCK # )% % &@ {j”’ "
;/ ,.w»/"'> Cai;mbaa\ Furnace O o N\ 41;&‘5 -~ -
e P ~ > ~ 3
W ; ~
/ &S < \ Wy x/
. & ‘ 0 N
‘ S Lase M x o S
/ 5 o HEL o ™ nane &,a, S
. i i ~ 2
y ./ e A EDINBURG  _o° 7%
¢ PR AN / < &
¢ f42 ¥

: S }
Orkacy Springs { 4
[/ Ockos Spogs

L e, 263 P
‘7 e
<\ -~;»<”../ s R e f(j
w0 ;ﬂ
R N ~J
\\ g i, g

. s
‘“*7;‘; E«‘omstv'zitej}
~
N,/
\ // Guicksburg




Shown are the priascipal USGE
guadrangles covering Shenandoab
County. The stippled arcas
indicais Genrge Washagion
Mationad Forest fands not
included in the 1993 qurvey,

ngmxia Falls

3 Wuﬁt Gap %

z 3§}féﬁémwiiiﬂ ; fﬂf"‘“@"iﬁ‘j&* s
/ Wooddork ff;)m:s Brook Ry &N

7

i




¥l  HISTORIC CONTEXT

Historic Overview

The settlement history of Shenandoah County extends over 10,000 years into the past with the
arvival of the first Mative Americans o the area. Furopesn setilement commenced in the second
guarter of the eighteenth century, and in 1772 Shenandoab County was formed out of Frederick
County as a result of population increase. The eighteenth-century population of the county was
largely Germanic in derivation, and German-American culture permeated every aspect of daily
fife in the coumy from religion and agricelture to architecture amd fumerary ant before
acculturation diluted the German influence during the nineteenth century. Town formation
commenced during the third quarter of the cightcenth century with the establishment of
Woodstock, later chosen as the county seat, and other important towns such as Strasburg, Mount
Jackson, and New Market. Shenandoah County was renowned for the productive limestone soils
of its central valley, and with neighboring counties it comributed o the repuiation of the
Shenandosh Valley as the “Granary of the Confederacy.” As 3 conseguence of this reputation
and the area’s proximity to Washington, the county was the scene of important military
engapements doring the Civil War,  After the war, the county experienced a significant
agriculiural expansion that resulted in the establishment of many historic farms and the prowth
of the county’s towns and secondary communities. The iron indusry was another important
component of the county’s economy from around 1800 into the early twentieth contury. i the
mid-pineteenth century the county hoasted one of the most productive complexes of iron furnaces
in the state, Other important industries included milling, tasning, and Hmestone quarrying and
fime production. The county's agriceltural and industrial products were transporied o8 roads
(principal among them the Valley Road) and inoreasingly during the second balf of the mneieenth
century on railroads (principal amony them the B&O). Transportation improvemenis penefitted
county springs resorts such as Orkney Springs. The iwentieth century saw the comtinued
dominance of agriculture (with apple and turkey production gaining in importance}, the rise of
automobile-tominsted landscapes and srchitecthe, and the gradual decline of the importance of
the county’s secondary communiiies.

Topography asd Political Organization of Shenandosh County

Shenandosh County is located in the Shemandoah Valley at the northwestern edge of YVirginia.
The county comzins 312 sguare miles or approximately 327900 acres and measures
approximately thirty-three miles in longth from s southernmost o #S northernmost points
{USDA. Soil Comservation Service: 1). The coumty is hounded on the nonth by Prederick
County, on the east by Warren and Page counties, and on the soumb by Rockingham County.
The western border of the county is formed by the state line and adjoins Hardy County. West
Virginia. The county is drained exclusively by the North Fork of the Shenandosh River, a
tributary of the Potomac River. {For the sake of convenience, the North Fork of the Shenandosh
River will be referred © as the "Shenandosh River” throughout the report.) Topographically,
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the county 1S considersd a part of the Lower Shenandosh Valley on accousd of ity position near
the confluence of the north and south forks of the Shenandoah River and the Potomac Kiver.
although Ristorically the county shared many demographic and cultural characteristcs with Upper
Yalley connties such as Augusts and Rockbridge (Mitchell: 100, The county’s clevation varies
from ground 1,700 in the Valley to aver 3,000° in the mountaing on the western edge of the
county. In 1991 it was estimated that approximately 60% of the county land area was forested.
{USDA. Soil Conservation Service: 1-2).

The county may be divided into three physiographic sections, each trending southwest-northeast
with the alignment of the Shenandoah Valley. The middie section, the Valley iself, accounts
for roughly half of the county’s land area. At the northern end of the county tis central valley
is af its narrowest, measuring approximately seven miles across. The central valley gradually
broudens urtil i is approximately ten miles across at the southern end of the county. The valiey
floor hiss 2 well watered, gently undulating surface underlaid by limestone bedrock that weathers
into a rich soil. The Shenandoah River clings to the easters edge of the central valley and is
charscterized by oumerous meanders.  In the Seven Bends area between Woodstock and
Strashurg these meanders have a rhythmic looping quality, and in the 1830s the Woodstock
section of the river was described a5 "plistenfing] in its doublings and windings like a silver
serpert” (Strother, Virginia Blusirgred: 793, Along the river and the walerCourses flowing o
it arve level fortile lowlands. one of the largest and most celebrated being Meems Bottom, situated
at the confluence of the river snd Smith Creek. The shondance of rich bottomiand and generally
level uplands made the central valley atiractive to early agriculturalists.

The central valley is bounded on the west by # chain of ridges that culminstes in the Great North
Mountain along the Virginia-West Virginia border. The beadwaters of many of the streams that
water the central valloy section of the county have their sonres in these mountaing. ACross the
central valley on the easters side of the county 13 another series of ridges backed by Massanutien
Mountain, Mestled betwepn Masssnutten Mountain sod a line of ridges running along the
Shenandoah River is Fort Valley (sometimes referred 1o as "the Fort™), a high, narrow valley
running approximately fifteen miles in lengb and watered by Passage Creck. The MORHAINROoNS
secticns along the east and west sides of the county generally bave shale and sandstone substrates
that weather inte poorer soils than those found in the central valley. The relative poverty of the
soils amd the lsck of level pround made these areas less anractive to early settlers. Extractive
industries such as lembering and mining plaved & more importan ie here than io the central
valley, although agriculture was still practiced. (The maps sppearing after the introduction 10
this report contain grephic information on the topography of the county.} The visuslly appealing
character of the county's topography was described as follows in the 186051 "The broad meadows
carpeted with velvet preen and walered by crysial streams; the rock-crested  mouniams
overlooking the river, ami bordering the valley on cither side in Jong perspective TaREEs.
vamishing in the distance in a haze of delicate blue; all combine to form a pioture of marvelous
beauty” {Sirother, Sampler: 3503,

The area now contained in Shensndoab County was nchuded in Frederick County when the latter
was established in 1738 (Kalbian: 18, 35). The ares was siso included in Lord Fairfax’s



Northern Meck gramt of §,000 square miles. A new coumy was formed from the southern
portion of Frederick County in 1772 and samed Dunmore in honor of the Commonwealth’s new
colonial governor, John Murray. Bart of Dunmore. In 1777, "after Lord Dunmwre had taken
a decided stand against the colonies in the contest with the mother country,” Dunmore fell from
grace with the inhabitants of the county named afier bim, and in 1778 the name of Dunmore
Coumy was changed to politically nevtral Shenandoab County (Martin, 1836 443). In 1831,
Page County was formed from the eastern portion of Shenandoah County, and in 1836 g part of
the county went to form Warren County. The area of the county has remained stable at 312
square miles ever since the determination of the boundary between the Shenandoah and Frederick
counties in the late 1840s (Williams: 4091, In the carly 1870s the county was divided into six
magisterial districts, called "townships® in the enabling legislation. (Thess districis are portrayed
in the "Outline Plan of Shenandoah [County], Virginia® from the 1885 Lake Adas that appears
after the introduction 10 this report.)

Town formation began in the county even before its division from Froderick. The first formally
established town was Woodstock in March 1761, followed closely by Strasburg in Movember
1761 (Hemings. 1736-17631 406, 474). Woodstock became the county seal jm 1772, and
Swasburg developed inte an important regional pottery center. C(ther early towns inchude
Mewmarket, Mount Jsckson, and Bdinburg. Secomiary towns and villages developed throughout
the nincteenth century. {Due to the fact that the area in the incorporated fowns of Edinburg,
Mount Jackson, Mew Market, Toms Brook, and Strasburg has been excluded from us survey,
ihe development of these communitics is nof addressed in this report.}

Prehistoric Native American Settiement: 10,000 B.C-1606 A.D.
Buropean Settlement to Boviety: 1607-1749
Colony t© Mation: 1730-1789

Mative Americans probably first appeared in the Shenandoab County at the end of the most
rocent episode of continental gleciation around 10,000 B.C. This earliest era of oecupaton 18
referved 1o by anthropologists as the Puleo-Indian period, extending to 8,000 B.C. Warren
County, Shenandoah’s neighbor to the east, is home to one of the nation’s most sigmificant Paleo-
indisn sites, the Flist Ren She (iso koown a3 the Thunderbird Site).  The sparse, nomadic
Native American populations of the Paleo-Indian period bunted game and gathered wild plants
for subsistence. Following the Paleo-Indian period was the Archaic perind (8,000 B.C. w
1.2000 B.C.), charscterized by increased sedentism and a gradual increase in Mative populations.
The Woodiang period (1,200 B.C. 1o 1606 A.D.) saw the introduction of agriculture by 1,200
A.D.. continued population growih, and the rise of tribal social structures.  During the late
Woudland period after 1,000 A.D.. pallisaded villages began to appear in Shenandosh County,
notably the Miley Sile near Maurertown and the Quicksburg Site on the Shenandosh River near
COuicksborg, These sites preserve evidence of Native American lifeways such as food storage
pits, hearths, graves, amd {at the latter site} cucular dwellings (Loth: 424425},

Enropean exploration of the Valley probably began in the second half of the seventeenth contury,
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when traders operating from bases on the Virginds fall line began to pass through the area m
search of contacts with Mative American groups either in the Valley or further tndand. Axg oarly,
well-documentad expedition to the Valley was that of Virgiaia Governor Alexander Spotswond
and his "Knights of the Golden Horseshoe. " In Augusi and September of 1716, Spotswood and
a party of sixty-three men and seventy-four horses crossed the Blue Ridge Mountains and camped
on the banks of the Sowth Fork of the Shenandosh River. Spotswond’s precise route 1S not
known for certain, but one interpretation has him reaching the river negr the village of Alma m
Page County, approximately four miles east of the southern tip of Shenandoak County (Dabney:
75%). When European settiers began to move into the Valley during the second guarter of the
eighteenth century, Mative Americans were apparently no longer resident, although londian
hunting and war parties continued o pass through the area. In fact, one provision of the 1722
Treaty of Albany stipulated that the Indians wers o sbamlon their north-south rowte east of the
Blug Ridge in favor of 2 path through the Valley (Mewlon and Pawiett: 19},

The Enropean setlement of Shenandoah County began in the 17305, contemporanenus with other
areas of the Shenandosh Valley. The greatest influx of settlers occurred in the late 17605, as the
Valley progressed from s frontier footing to 8 more settled state (Bailyn and DeWolfe: 239).
Although some carly settlers trickled in from eastern parts of Virginia, the vast majority moved
inio the area from the north, principally southeastern Pennsylvania. These seitlers were largely
German and Scotch-Irish in ethnic composition, with & scattering of Foglish {Michell: 34}
Gienerally, settiers were drawn from what might be considered today the "middle dlass.” As
cultural geographer Robert Mitchell has put i, they were "upwardly mobile bearers of g liberal,
individualistic ideclogy which they quickly put inio practice by ontering the ranks of
landowoership” {Mischell: 1103

The first sewtler in present-day Shemandoah Connty is believed ® have been George Bowmas,
who located tn 1731 or 1732 on Cedar Creek. Bowman was & son-in-law of one of the Lower
Yalley's principal carly developers, the German Jost Hite (Wayland, 1927: 49; Mitchell: 28).
Most of the county’s initial settlers were apparently German, but the seulement near Mount
Jackson in 1734 of three families with the surnames Allen, Moore, snd Whits, suggests English
and/or Scotch-Irish were present from the beginning (Waviand, 1927; 491, Some students of the
Shenandosh Valley have claimed that in certain instances Scotch-Irish represented & piomeer
vanguard that sold partially improved boldings o & German second wave (Wayland, 1907 94}

Whatever the initial ethnic makeup of Shesandoab County, by the Revolutionary War period
Germans accounted for a majority of the white population. Based on an examination of county
records, Mitchell has estimated the German populstion of the county & 60%, followed by 22%
English, 10% Scotch-Irish, and 8% other. This compares to German population estimates of
43% i Rockingham County and 30% in Prederick County (Mitchell: 43}, The estmated
proportion of Germans in Shenandoab County is similar to that of heavily German counties in
Southeastern Penpsylivania; Germans may have acconnted for 68% of the population of Lancaster
County in 1782 (Lemon: 4693, The German numerical majority transiated imo political power:
"Only in Shenandoah County were Germans consistently prominent io local legistatures during
the oolonial period” (Mitchell: 108). The demopraphic snd cultural ramifications of this strong



Cierman presence will be discussed throughout this report.

African-Americans were present in Shenandoah County during the colonial period, sithough their
surebers were small in comparison to the Piedmont and Tidewater sections of the state, amed even
in comparison o other counties in the Valley (Mitchell: 108). The Germaness of Shenandoah
County sppears t© be the major facior in the low inculence of slavery, Mitchell noted that, "The
mwst heavily settled German county, Shenandoah, consistently haid the fowest number of slaves.
the Jowest proportion of slaveowners, and the highest proportion of owners with only Dne OF 1wo
slaves.” of alf the Valley connties (Mitchell: 130). Some have attributed German resistance ©
slave-owning as a result of cthival beliefs, but Klaus Wust, the foremost student of Yagiua's
Ciermans, has stated that, “The main reason for the small sumber of slaves in sections settled by
Germans is likely o be found in the different economic and ensuing social structure of German
neighborboods” (Wast: 1213, Another form of enforced labor--indentured servitude of Burppean
immigrants—was present in the Valley as early as the 1730s (Bailyn and eWolfe; 343

The ethnic cohesion of Shenandoah County’s Germen community appears o have Bmited its
participstion in the Anglo-controlled, slave-based Virginia economy. Whersas other counties of
the Valley indulged in the labor-intensive cultivation and processing of hemp during the late
colonial period, the Germans of Shenandosh County displaved only 2 tepid interest in the
fucrative cash crop (Mitchell: 166). The county’s economic otherness was also reflected 1o the
valse of personal estates. In a study of ipvenicry evaluations, Robert Mitchell has shown thiat
the median value of personal property for citizens of Shenandoab County who died during the
1770s registered far below resudents of neighboring counties. The median value for Shenandosh
County was 70 pounds, compared to 114 poamds for Augusta County and 165 pounds for
Frederick County, where stave ownership was more pervasive. The inequality persisted into the
17905, when the median Shepandoah County inventory was valued at 117 pounds and that of
Frederick County 2t 198 pounds (Mitchell: 113). Although Shenandoah Connty’s resistance o
slave labor and cash crop cultivation may have hindercd is material progress during the
sighteenth and esrly nineteenth cemturics (when measwred m srictly monetary terms}. the
consequent reliance on white indentured labor and tenancy, Kinship- and comsnunity-based labor
pooting. snd mixed farming may have prepared the county W COmpEls mIc effectively in the
dramatically altered economic landscape of Reconstruction Yisginia (Wust: 194; Wayland, 1907
187},

As noted in passing above, Shenandoah County’s agriculinral and industrial base was established
during the eighteenth century.  According 1o Wust, the strategy of the county’s German farmers
wis to "take up as much land as could be readily farmed by their family without cutside hedp”
{Wast: 1941, Crops were diversified; wheat was important, but cam, rye, 0ais, anid flax were
also grown in quantity. As with other backcountry counties {25 Shenandoal was for much of the
sightesnth century}, the vaising of Hvestock figured promigently.  Mills were established early
in the settlement process to supply local aeeds as well as to grind flour for export. Carpenters,
wagonmakers, Macksmiths, tanners, shoemakers, tailors, and tradesmen of every description
sstablished themselves in the connlryside and in the towns that began to appear during the second
half of the pighteenth contary. Shenandoah County s celebrated nincteenth-century iron industry
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had s origins in the cighteenth ceptury.

The religious make-up of garly Shenandoah County reflected the ethnic compousition of the area.
Although the Church of England was the official church in the county, as elewhere in the
English colonies, the majority of the county’s early settlers were Germans who subscribed 1o the
Luthersn, Reformed and Mennonile faiths (Wayland, 1927 3903  Of the six oldest
congregations in Shenandoah County identified by John W. Wayland, four were Lutheran and/ar
Reformed (bid.: 38%). During the vears of initial settlement, most religious denominations
lacked church buiklings and ministers. People of different faiths met in the homes of members
of like religions affiliation and relied on Hinerani ministers, known as circuit riders, 1o preach
the pospel and perform sacraments of the chuarch.

Germans 50 dominated religions life in Shenandosh County that seven of the twelve vestrymen
appointed 1o the newly-formed (Chorch of England) Beckford Parsish in 1769 were German
(Wusi: 79). When looking for & rector for the new Anglican chapel in Woodstock, the vestry
decided “io find a Person of an unexceptional Character, either Ordained or Desirous of
Cibtaining Ordination in the Clergy of the Church of England, who is capable of Preaching both
in the English and German Language” {ibid,: 75). Peter Mublenburg, who was ordained in the
Lutheran and Anglican church, was seni to Woodstock in 1772 ® mundster to the Lutheran
Church. He ministered to the Anglican congregation in Woodstock, a5 well a8 1o Lutheran and
Reformed congregations thronghout the county {ibid. © 76-82; Wayland, 1927 400-407).

Ome of the early Gorman sects, the Mennonites who setled mainly in the southers cad of the
county, began to sell their holdings in Shenandosh County and migrate south o present
Rockingham County after the drawing of the Fairfax Line in 1746, presumably o minimize
comiact with Lord Fairfax (Wayland: 424).  Another German religious denomination, the
Dunkards, settied 8t Flat Rock in the Forestville ares in 1775, John Garber acted as patriarch
and spiritual leader for this group, the first to establish 2 Duskard Church in the Valley (ibid.:
3983,

Several English denominations other than the Church of England were established in Shenandoah
County prior o the Revolutionsry War. Quakers settied in the southern end of the county
around Mew Market; by 1738 a Quaker Meeting House was erecied on Holman's Creek abom
a mile northeast of Quicksburg (ibid.: 389, 4331, In his "Memoirs and Journal of Huogh Judge:
A Member of the Society of Friends, and Minister of the Gospel,” Hugh Judge chronicled s
vizits to this Quaker mesting in 1782 and 1784 (ibid.; 433-433). The Baptist also made inroads
inn the southern part of Shenandoah County, beginuing in the 1750s.  Baptist on Smith Creek
were organized as early as 1756 and land for the construction of a church building was deeded
in 1765 by John Sevier, founder of Mew Market, 1o the Smith Creck Baptists {ibil.: 389). The
eminent Baptist minister James Ireland setiled fn New Market between 1769 and 1770 (bido
391, 467

Formal cducation was synonymous with religious instrucion in Shenandoal County Juring the
cighteenth contury. The sarhiest schools in Shenandoah County were German Schonls. conducted
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a5 adjuncts of German churches. Lessons were taught in German from Bibles amd catechisms
(Wust: 110; Wavland, 1927: 4663, After 1760, with the coming of the "New Light” movement
in the Shenandoah Valley, a flurry of church and school consiruction begen in the German
community, sspecially amony Lutherans, Reformed, Brethren and Dunkards. Lesders of the
Cierman community grew concerned that the younger generation’s enthustasm for this charismaiie
moverment was leatding them sway from their traditional German heritage.  Af the same time,
focal leaders reacted to the inaction of the church leadership in Pennsylvania, whom Valley
termans fedt failed to supply them with & sufficient number of ordained ministers and educated
seachers 10 maintain German Schools and churches (Wust: 85). One "New Light” minister of
particular concern to German leaders was the Reverend James Ireland. & prominent Baplist
minister, who seitied in New Market and conducted one of the sarliest English-language schools
in the area from 1768 w 1770 {Wavland, 19270 467

Posmestic Theme
Early National Peripd (1790-1829)

Antehellom Period {1830-1860)
Civil War {1851-186%)

The house and its complement of domestic outbuildings was an early fixture of Shenandosh
County's cultural landscape. The 1785 state enumerstion reported 930 dwellings in the county
and 1,188 "other buiklings,” presumably largely a mix of domestic and agricaltural outbuildings.
By 1830, according w the federal census of that year, the number of dwellings had risen ©
2.143, occupied by 2,163 families. The coumy’s antehellum housing stock ranged from simple
one-room log Bouses o the massive German log and stone three-room-plan houses constructed
iny the eighteenth and sarly minsteenth conturies and their successors, the Federal- and Greek
Revival-sivie double-pile center-passage plan howuses boilt owt of stone, brick, or frame from the
tail end of the cightecnth comtury through the Civil War {and beyomd).

The single space in Shenandoab County’s smatiest houses, its one-story of one-story with garret
one-room-plan dwellings, probably accommodated most housebold activities from cooking and
eating to sleeping and socializing without srehitecturalty-defined functional differentiation. Hall-
parlor-plan houses exhibited some degree of differentiation, with most daily activities ccourring
in a main room known as the ball, and 2 smaller side room known as the parlor used for sleeping
and as 2 "best ropm” for spectal oocasions such s visits by honored puests. A handful of these
minimal dwellings dating to the antebellum period have been identified in the county. A 1-1/2-
story v-notched log dwelling with s whitewashed exterior (85-437) is one of these; another is the
1-1/2-story v-notched Fleming House (85-1433. One section of the possibly eighicenth-century
fog dwelling on the Boehm-Coffelt Farm {85-62) appears t originally have been a 1-1/2-story
one-room dwelling with 2 stope gable-end chimney and an enclosed winder stair.

The county’s German settlers brought with them a distinctive thres-room house plan generally
known as the Flurkuchenhaus plan. The three rooms contained in these houses were associated
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with specific functions. Usually the largest room served as a kichen and informal siting room
and was known as the Kuchen, Adjoining the kurke was 2 more formal parior or dining room
known s the Stube and & Kammer, or bed chamber. These rooms were wsually grouped around
4 central chimney mass, although in some instances the chimpey was Jocated on the pable end
or ends of the house. The Kuchen exiended from the front to the rear of the house and was
asually situated @ the right of the central chimney. The wide, front Stuby was separated from
the narrow, rexr Kammer by a partition, Some Flurkuchenhaus-plan dwellings had only two
rooms: the Kuchen and an unpartidoned Snebe.  In cenain large exsmples, 8 small room was
partiioned off at the rear of the Kuchen {Chappell: 37; Bucher: 14).

The Flurkuchenhaus plan was one of several cultural irsits that distinguished the county’s
{ermsn majority from other ethnicities. It was often combined with other architectural foatures
such as hillside siting, cellars containing springs, and charactenstically Oerman voof sirpciures.
Although clearty German {or Pennsylvania German} in derivation, the Flurkuchenhaus often
incorporated architectaral features that were Anglo-American in origin, Symmetrical, fripartite
door and window arrangements on the principal facade and the migration of the central clumney
to a peripheral placement may indicate "selective cultural assimilation,” the gradual adoption of
non-Cermanic characteristics prior 1o the eventual abandonment of the Flurkuchenhaies plan afier
1800 (Chappell: 81-62; Weaver).

As of Summer 1993, 3 total of three houses with classic central-chimney thres-room Crerman
plans (or clear evidence of the former presence of such plans) have been identified n Shenandoak
County. These houses are Fry’s Fort (83-38), the E. Prye House {85477}, and the Dellinger-
Vetter House (854873, In addition, six houses with central chimneys and three room plans are
similar 1o the classic examples cited above: the Coffelt House (85-450), the Funkbhouser House
on Rt. 263 at Rinkerton (85-433). the Waggoner-Foliz House (83-482), the two-story log house
next 1o Yesper Hall (85-4703, the Windel House (83-464), and the Stickley famnily house on
Rellview Farm (83-65). Further investigation may show that these houses are oF wee in fact
Flurkuchenhous-plan dwellings. The plan of the aforementioned Van-Barton House {83-401) bas
German characteristics. The Gochenour-Foltz House {not yet surveyed) appears to have had 2
central chimney originally and possibly a thres-room plan, although in the mid-nincteonth century
the chimney was removed and the house was given a double-pile conter-passage plan. Other
houses {extant and demolished) thet may have or may have had German plan slements inchide
the Mounce Byrd House (85-3), the George Huddle House (85-5), the Thomas Hudsen House
(85-20, the Barb House (8S5-426), and the Keller House (85-71). Funue swivey will
undoubtedly identify more of these sipnificant dwellings. {The plan of the eighteenth-century
house knows as Fort Bowman is not considered in this account. }

The Dellinger-Vetter House illustrates many of the features associsted with the county’s garly
German bouses.  Probably constructed during the second half of the eighteenth century, the
Dellinger-Vetter House s a full-dovetailed log dwelling with a characteristic three-room Hermmn
plan. Extending from the house are exiensions of gable-end wall logs that form cantilevered
supports for front and rear porches. The from and rear entries 1o the krche are fited with dutch
doors hung on wrought "rat tail” hinges, (Other early howses with Dutch doors are the Philip
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Raker Honse. 85-77, anid the Waggoner-Foltz House, 85-482.) The central chimmey mass has
a large fireplace opening into the kuche: on the opposite side, facing into the stuby, is 2 sinall
rectangular sperture that formerly received the flue of 2 stove.  Under the stube and kammer 13
a puncheon floor (halved logs laid side by side that form both the floor seructure and surface),
a domestic consiruction technigue now exiremely rare in the state.

The Dellinger-Vetter House cellar is a refatively simple space compared to the cellars of other
carly German houses. The remarkable Hupp House (85-73 is 2 three-story stone dwelling of
eiphteenth-contury date with the two lower stories built into a steep bank above a spring-fed pool
in Strasburg. The lower cellar features a spring wough and an iron-barred loophole window for
ventilation; the upper cellar served sn sdioining kitchen room. Other baok houses include the
Philip Baker House (85-77), the Brumback House (83-202), the John Beeler House {(B5-4621, the
Rickard House (R5-441), and the Barb House (85-87). The latter two bouses are otherwise
relatively typical Anglo-American dwellings with symmetrical facades and brick constrocton.

A number of dwellings with cellar springs or spring troughs like the Hupp House have been
identified: the Thomas Hudson House {85-20), the Ssapp-Hupp House (83-29; otherwise known
as Wildflower Farm), the John Beeler House (85-4672), the ruins of an eighteentb-century full-
dovetail log house on the Craig-Hepaer Farm (85-455), the Coffelt House (83-456}, and a wash
house/tenant house on the Levi Gochenour property nesr slonzaville (85-472). This later bouse
hgs 3 spring that flows out of a cleft in the bedrock into a semi-circular hasing in the wall over
the basin is an arched niche that was presumably used for food storage. At the opposite end of
the cellar is & large fireplace that was probably used for food preparstion, lard rendering, and
washing.

A classic example of 3 partially acculturated German-plan dwelling is the Van-Barton House {85-
4013, g §-1/2-story log dwelling of about 1800 with a symmetrical five-bay fromt elevation and
a relatively narrow gable-end with an exterior chimney. Squeezed into this otherwise Anglo-
Americen shell is a thres-room plan with undeniable analogues of the kuche, stube, and kammer,
Emblematic of the hyvbrid character of the house is the front door, which has & conventional
Gieorgian raised six-panel outside face, and & more typically German diagonal beaded batien
inside face. The battens are sttached with countersupk nails forming a six-panel design that
mirrors the treatment of the outside face.

Symmetrical Angle-American houses made their Shenandosh County debut during the late
eighteenth and early nineteemth centuries with examples such as Mt Airy (85-18), the Snapp
House (83123, and Halfway House (§5-83). The typical center passage of these houses offered
the household 2 greater degree of privacy than the halb-parior and (to s lesser degree) three-room
Cerman arrangements, by creating a separate circulation path thet obviated the need to pass
through living and slegping rooms in order o enter or move arcund inside the house. By the
second gquarter of the nineteenth century. most of the houses built for the county’s wealthier
inhabitants featured symmetrical three- or five-bay facades that usually (hut not always) reflecied
a cemter-passage plan on the interior. The majority of these houses featured single-pile conter-
passage plans in a two-stary envelope, & form penerally referred to as the I-house. The largest
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examples had double-pile plans (with a second range of rooms behind the front rocms) giving
the house a distinctive cubie form,

The county’s landless workers—-black slaves and white tenants—-were sometimes provided separate
fodgings on farms. Slave numbers were low in antebellum Shenandoah County; nevertheless,
rwo possible shave houses bave been Wlentifed. On the Cone Farm (85-130) near New dMarket
is 2 one-room log bank house formerly with a Jarge pable-end brick chimney that is believed (o
have functioned as a slave dwelling and/or tenant house. Another slave dwelling s reported ©
stand on the James W. Smoot Farm (85-484: not yet surveyed). Tradition associated with the
Rinker-Bownan Farm (85-430) states that a dwelling known as the "Old Marths Hogse"--named
for its cccupant, 2 black cook-steod behingd the aniehellum main bouse. The few slave dwellings
that existed in the county probably existed singly on farms, since they provided lodgings for an
individual or single famity. Detached kitchens and other buiklings may also have served as slave
housing.

Most of the county’s identifiable tenant bouses date t after the Civil War. One exception may
be & two-story weatherboarded frame tenant house on the George Minnick Farm {85-4113. This
dwelling has simple Greek Revival styling like the main Minnick bouse, suggesting a date of
constraction on the eve of the Civil War, Tt is likely that some fenants lived in the main house
with their employers.

Many of the daily activities of the county's antebellum homes took place in domestic cutbuildings
that surrounded the main house. One of the more important of these vutbuildings was the
detached kitchen.  Also known as 2 summer kitchen for 13 use during the warm months, the
detached kiichen removed wnwanted heat snd unpleasant odors from the main bouse and
minimized the threat of a disastrons fire. Sometimes the detached kitchen was actually connected
to the main house by an open breezeway, as in the case of at Jeast one Shenandoah County log
house (85-360). Breezeway anachments sppear to be rare in the county; nsiead the kitchen is
wsnalty located at some remove behind the main bowse. Kitchens were also located in rear ells,
basements, and in the main body of the house (as in the case of the Auche).

Other amtebelium domestic outbuildings observed in Shenandoah County include smokehouses
and meathouses. cellars, washhouses, and springhouses.  Smokebouses were commonty
constructed of lops. a5 at the Waggoner-Foltz Farm (85-482), or of brick, 1o Jessen the threat
of five and io secure the contents from animals and thefi. One of the county’s more impressive
hrick smokehouses stands on the Cone Farm (85-136), and is & two-level random American-bomd
buiiding with barred vents. Springhouses cosld be large, approximating dwellings in size, and
probably alse doubling ss dwellings. A large stone springhosse stands on the John Wisman
Farm (85-125). An sxample of 2 smaller log springhouse survives near the Benjamin Wine Farm
{85-181}.

Bevonstruction and Growth (1866-1916)
World War 1o World War 1 (1917-19435)
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The increase in the number of Shensndoah County’s farms during ihe late ninetoenth century
undonbtedly resulted in an increase in the rural housing stock, The vast majority of the CORBtY 'S
farmbouses of the period, for both owners and tenas alike, are two stories in height. This
preference for two siories is cultarally based. and relates the area more strongly 1o the M-
Atlantic vegion than to the South (Jakle et al: 75). Alihough Shenandoah’s citizenry harbored
a cultoral predilection towards two-story dwellings, they could not have buill them had it not
been for the agriculmral wealth of the connty.

The two-story single-pile (I-bouse) dwelling that became popular during the antebellum pering
remained the form of choice among the county’s inhabitams. Usually these dwellings had 2
cener-passage plan. although certain four-bay examples {window-door-door-window} have two-
room plans. Many more summer kitchens survive from this period than preceding pericds. On
gceasion, as ai the Issiah Bowman Farm (85-43%). the kitchen served as a wemporary dwelling
while the main house was being built. A particelarly notable summer kiichen siands on the
Clanshan Farm (83-22). It is 8 two-story building constructed during the early twentieth century
out of glazed ceramic block, s fire-preventive measure and & product of the srehitectural
experimentation of its builder, comtractor “Green” Clanghan.  The numerous domesto
outhuildings typically found on Shenamivab County farms contribute to the historic character of
the conniv’s roral landscape.

Agricalture Theme
Early National Period (1790-1829)

Mixed farming typified Shensndosh County agriculiure during the early national period much
as it had during colonial times. Grain and livestock production remained important.  After the
Revolutionary War, tobacce was grown in the county on a limited basis and was used to pay
taxes o biew of currency (Mitchell: 1803, The federal consus of industry taken in 1810 lisis
Shemandoah County 23 one of twelve counties in the state where snoff was produced, additional
evidence of tobacco cultivation (Mitchell: 201). The 181D industrial census alse provaies an
indication of the dimensions of flax cultivation in the county. Shenandoah County produced
15.000 gallons of Linseed oil in that vear, amounting to 45% of the total recorded cutput of the
state of Virginia, then the leading producer of Hnseed ol in the Sowth (Mitchell: 182; Gray:
821). The flax itself went towards the county's burgeoning productivn of linen cloth,

The property type reflecting the early agricultural bistory of the coumty is the farm, and within
fhe farm property type are numerous functional sub-types, principal smong them the barn. The
majority of Shesandosh County's barss are Pennsyhania hank barns, & form believed 1 have
originated from Swiss protaypes in southeasters Pesmsylvania during the early cighlesnth century
and to have diffused southwestward into the Shenandoah Valley with the heavy Pennsylvania
German seitiement of the ares. A bank barn is & mulli-level structure boilt into 2 bank so thal
both the basement stabdes and the upper-lovel hay mows, granary, and threshing floor can be
aceessed from ground level, Another defining attribute of the type is the forebay, a projeciion
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of the upper level over the down-slope side of the basement (Ensminger: 33-35). I Shepandoal
County, as in Pesnsylvania, the barn type was historically referred o as 2 "Switzer” of
"Swisher® barn, etymological evidence of its ultimate origin (Wayland, German Elemens. 151
Martin: 28}, Unlike the German-derived houses that succumbed w acealtuvation by the early
nineteenth ceptury, the bank barn was adopied by all culinral groups living in Shenandosh
County and is one of ihe more important cultural comtributions of the German popudation.
Another barn tvpe, generally found in the more mountainous sections of the county, 1% built on
tevel groond without a projecting forshay. This type has precedence both in British and
continental cultores.

Agricultural buildings such as barns are notoriously difficult to date, owing io the limeless
technologies ased in their construction and the general absence of stylistic feaures. Probably
many of the earliest barss in the county were constructed of logs. One log barn thal may date
to the late cighteenth century is the Winde! barn {85-464), which has two log units with balten
doors constructed with wrought nails and hung on woeoden strap hinges. On many log barns the
wood hinges of former threshing floor doors survive, although the doors themselves have been
dismantled. Other agricultural property sub-types may survive from the late-sighteenth-fearly-
minstesnth-century period, although none have been definitively identified.

Antehelinm Period (1R3G-1860

Beginming in 1840, the federal government collected agricultural information slong with
population statistics as part of its decennial census, providing the first hard dala on the sature
and scale of Shenandosh County’s agricubtural production. The 1840 census indicates thal mixed
farming continued as the dominant form of agriculure in the county, with one major LRCOPHON.
Flax production had attained huge proportions (as the 1810 industrial census had hinted): totl
county outpat in 1840 smounted w 116,000 pounds. Shenandoah’s closest rivals in the ¥alley
were Botetourt County, which produced 74,000 pounds of flax in 1840, and Rockingham
County, which produced 37.500 pounds. Many counties of the region reported no flax
production. The magnitude of Shenandual’s flax production suggests that the crop had acquired
a local importance comparable 10 bemp or wbacco in other sections of the state.

An analysis of the three censuses of 1840, 1830, and 1860 reveal certain wrends Shenandogh
County’s agriculnre. Flax production phenmeted to 1,465 pounds in 1850, wheress production
remained relatively strong in neighboring Rockingham County (12,992 pounds in 1850) and in
the counties of the upper Valley. Coro and especially whest praduction remained at fairly
constant levels comparable 1o production in Prederick County an considerably less thas in the
farge Valley counties of Angusta and Rockingham. 54, Shenandosh County contributed to the
phenomenal wheat production of the Valley, the principal wheat-growing region of the South
during the antebellnm period (Oray: 876). Cuats and rye production fell off during the period,
a regional trend.  Shenandoah's other agricoltural products included buckwheat, dloverseed,
grass-seed, buckwhest, orchard products, and & small amount of hemp.

Shenandoah witnessed # dechine in Hvestock numbers during the 1840 o 1860 period.  In 1840
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there were 4,133 horses, 10,382 cattle, 172,345 sheep, and 16,424 swine in the county. in 1860
these numbers had dropped 1o 2,326 borses, 6,442 caule, 3,742 sheep. and 8,905 swine.
Neighboring counties also experienced fluctuations, but none saw a steep decline of all four
fivestock groups.

Information of a more anecdotal nature exists for Shemandoah’s antebellum agriculure. An 1835
pazetteer reported that the county’s farmers raised wheat, rye, Indian corn, and oats, andd
produced staples such as flowr, bacon, beef, and bulter. The same soumce noted the use of
plaster. clover, and timothy in manuring fields, and observed of Fort Valley, "It is tolerably
fraitful in grass, corn, Tve, buck-wheat, potatoes, twrnips, &c” (Martin: 444-446}.

The charscteristios that define the farm property type and sub-types for the preceding period also
apply 1o the county’s antebelium farms. One antebellum farm building, the Hockman Bara { 85~
93} ix significant to Shenandoab Coumty and to the staie on account of U5 exireme TRrILY 45 2
brick bank barp with vemtilation slits and decorative brick latticework in the gable ends. Another
parn, the Snapp-Hupp Barn (85-126), features brick walls with ventilation slits on three sides of
its hay-mow level. In Pennsylvania, most brick bams like the Hockman and Suapp-Hupp harns
were built after 1850, although some date earlier. The accomplished brickwork of such baras
may indicate the influence of Anglo-American culture on what 5 vtherwise a German-derived
form (Ensminger: 981015

Civil War (1861-186%)
Reconsiruction and (1866-1816)

During the Civil War, Shenandoah County snd the other counties of the Valley gained a
reputation as the "Granary of the Confederacy.” Initially, the Valley’s farm economy may have
henefitted from hostilities. Many of the area’s farmers objected to military service on religious
grounds and instead stayed bome w farm, whereas the enlistment and conscription of farniers and
the general disruption of the slave-based economy interfered with agriculiure in other regions of
the state {Aten ef al: 15). The Federal government recognized the importance of the Valley's
farms to the Sowthern war effort, and in Ouicher 1864 Gen. Phillip H. Sheridan set about to
destroy the region’s agricultural potential. Sheridan reported: "1 have destroyed over 003 barns
filled with wheat, hay and farming implements; over seventy mills filled with flour and wheat;
have driven in fromt of the army over 4000 head of stock, and have killed and Jssued o the
tronps not less than 3000 sheep” (Dabney: 347; Aten et ali 1), Shexidan’s sstimate of the
aumber of cattle he drove from the Valley equals the entire Shensndoah County herd enamerated
by the 1860 census.

The wral traditions of many families in Shenandosh County, omne of the principal theaters of
action, record the details of barn burnings amd other sspects of the communal calamity.
Aneedotal evidence suggests that some barns were spared, cither because they were missed or
because they belonged to Unios sympsthizers. The latter appears o have been the case
stromgly pro-Union Fort Valley; sccording 0 @ period account, "The Fort has been greatly
favored by the Pederals, The torch was applied t almost every barp and mill along the Pike
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and river . . . whilst in the Port nothing but the furnaces were barned” (Letter from Addison
Munch 10 Silas Manch, March 17, 1863, in Clower, 1984}, As another {second-hand) account
has it, an apparently empty log baok bamn belonging to the Koontz family near Calvary was lefl
untouched because the commmanding officer charged with ity burning interpreted his orders w
apply only to "full mills and barss™ {Mardn, 1977 38).

Despite the ravages of the war, the decennial agricultural censuses of the lale nineteenth and
early twentieth century indicate that Shenandoah Coumy rebounded relatively quickly and
eventually surpassed antebellum levels of production. Underlying this expansion was an inCrease
in the amount of improved land available for culiivation, From 1860 to 1870, the amount of
improved farmiand (cropland, cleared pastursge, efc.) in the county jumped 30% from 76, 641
acres t 114,931 acres. (At the same time, the state iotal decreased 42%.) The mmproved
acreage continued 10 expand, reaching 143,375 acres in [R90, Between 1850 and 1930 the total
hovered in the range of 138,000 o 144,000 acres.

Paralicling the expansion in improved avreage was 8 dramatic increase in the number of farms
in the connty, from 493 (according to census compendivms} or about 514 (based on & cursory
scan of agricultural schedules) in 1860 t¢ 1,078 in 1870 and 1,806 in 1880, From 189010 1934,
the nomber of farms Tuctuated between 2,200 and 2,700, The increase in improved acreage dud
not keep pace with the increase in the nomber of farms; conseguently, the average sumber of
improved acres per farm decreased from sbout 155 acres in 1860 to 106 acres in 1870, 73 acres
in 1880, and 64 acres in 1890, From 1890 1o 1930 the average hovered around 60 hmproved
scres per farm.

The relative size of county farms also evolved during the late nineteenth contury. In 1860, 438
or 88.3% of the 4973 farms contained fifty 10 499 acres. The percentage of these farms gradually
decreased through the remainder of the mineteenth centiry; by 1890 the figure stood a8 36.7% .,
although the absolute number of farms in the size range had increased 1o 1.264 out of g total of
2,278 farms. At the same time, the number and proportion of farms containing less than fifty
acres increased phenomenally, from fifty-three in 1860 (10.8%), w0 237 in 1870 (22%), 10 599
in 1880 (33.2%), to 922 in 1890 (41.4%). Also, very large farms increased in sumber, from
twelve farms of 500 or more acres in 1860 o fifty-one farms of over 300 acres in 1880 (after
1880, the number of farms in this size range gradually decreased). Fifteen farms contained
1,000 or more acres in 1880,

Associated with, but not divectly corresponding to these developments was an increase in the iotal
population of the county. Betwesn 1860 1o 1870, the population of Shenandoab County rose
from 13,896 t0 14,936, This 7.53% increase in population is swch smaller than the 30% increase
in the amount of improved acreage during the period and the over 100% increase in the pumber
of farms. The county population did increase more rapidly during the 1870s, rising to 18,204
in 1880--a 22% iamp over 1870

A explanation other thun simple popelation growth must be found 10 explain the developmonis
of the 1860s. The namber of farms and the smouni of improved acreage in farms appear (o bave
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been well under the county’s potential before 1870, Perhaps the county's social structure--the
heavily Cermanic composition of its population and #s general aversion 10 slavery--prevented &
mare intensive use of the tand. The pradus! accolturation of the German population and the
abolition of slavery, which placed the county on 2 more equal economic feoting with the rest of
the stale, may have allowed Shemandosh County to participate more fully in commercial
agriculiure. Certainly the Civil War had a tranmatic effect on the social structare of the county.,
possibly leading to & change in the way farms were owned and aperated.  Another by-product
of the Civil War—the devastation of the cousty’s farms by Sheridan in 1864--may have
contributed to the postbellum developments.

These crude hypotheses are highly speculative; a more thoroogh study of population and
apricultral statistics, land records, and social composition would shed needed light on the
subject. A cursory examination of land book entries for the county’s rural properties shows an
increase from approgimately 1,700 entries in 1830 o 2,400 entries in 1870 (the 1860 landbook
is apparently missing). This very preliminary data corroborates the census information, although
the percentage tise in holdings is not as dramatic.  Another factor that should be considersd in
the interpretation of the censes data is the possibility that farms were counted in different ways
hefore and after the war.

Cropland and pasturage increase and the cumulagive effect of technologicsl advances led © a
growth in agricelural output over antebelhem levels. Production totals from census year 1o
census year might fluctuste, but the overall trend from 1R6C 1o 1920 was for larger harvests of
corn and whest and for larger berds of horses. beef catile, mitk cows. and swine. The increases
for these agriculiurgl mainstays are shown below:

Table 1. Agriculinsal production in Shenandoah County, 1860t 1920, (Corn and wheat
measured in bushels. )

Com Whest Horses Cattie Milk Cows  Swine
186G 193,778 172,292 2.526 4,340 20718 §,505
18920 793,323 421611 6,153 8.083 8,540 243,338
Fimg. 304% 145% 144% 6% 361% 128%

As with the prowth in improved acreage and the number of farms, the ncrease in agrivuitural
production between 1860 and 1920 cannot be explained as a simple function of population
growth. The county population during those years grew by 3% from 13,896 1 20,808, far lesy
than the 86% o 361 % range in increase for the products in the table above. Rather, Shenandoab
County’s farmers increasingly engaged in the production of surpluses for sale 1a markets cutside
the area.  Mechanization, the adoption of more productive scientific farming technigues, the
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refinement of national transportation petworks, and the growth of nearby wben centers such as
Washington as well as markets further afield motivated and facilitated the agoicultural expansion.
The simple two-story frame farmbouses of the period that threng Shenandosh County’s
countryside are a Jegacy of this expansion and the resulting prosperity, as are the county’s many
lme-npineteenth-contury villages and crossroads communities.

Whereas mined farming--the production of & variety of crops and animals for bome use and
consumption and for market—remained strong, the period alse saw the rise of more specislized
forms of agriculture, Shenandoab County joined in the apple craze that swept the lower Valley
during the lste ninetesnth century. The growth in orchard production appears 10 have begun 88
carly as the 1860s, when the value of orchard products increased from 3553 in 1860 10 §7,896
in 1870, In 1890 the county produced 269,411 bushels of apples, over 3% of the state total.
One commentator noed that, "Since 1890 the planting of commercis] orchards, especially of
apples, to some extent of peaches and other fraits, has gone forward to surprising proportions”
fWaviand, 1927: 354). Apple production increased even more during the period between World
War §and 1L

Shepandosh County has many farms dating to the postbellum period; in fact, late-nineteenth- and
early-twentieth century farms are the dominant property type of the copnty’s countryside, Large,
heavy frame bank barns were built to replace the log and frame barns destroyed during the war,
oftentimes on the foundations of the earlier barns. The framing members of postbellum barns
could be hewn, straighi-sawn, or circular-sawn, with hewn logs serving as joists under the mows,
threshing floor, and forebay. Framing members were invariably tied together with pegged
mortise-and-tenon ioints, County barn builders apparently found mortise-and-tenon heavy frame
comstraction to be superior to nailed light frame construction, and the former technigue persisted
unti} at Jeast the 19405 (Phyllis Wright, personal communication). The beats, the souctural units
comprising the barms, vary comsiderably in form, and may ultimately prove uwseful in the
identification of individoal barn builders and g5 aids in dating barns. The rouf stracture of the
typical postbellum Shenandoah County barn ususlly consists of canted queen posts that support
purling that in turn support rafers.  Hay forks and their wracks are common features of the
period,

The Shenandoah Valley bas a2 concentration of a type of bank barn referred to a5 2 multiple-
averhang barn (Fasminger: 75-79). These barns have cantilevered overhangs on wll sides, not
just the forebay side. Shenandosh County examples survive af sites 85-22, 83-219, and B3-228
among others. A barn with 2 bank and entry on s gable end survives at site 85-149. Barns
with gabled hay mow extensions on their forchay sides are wlso found. These barns have T-plans
and are to be seen vn the Cone Farm (85-136) and the Wagponer-Foltz Farm (83-482).
Livestock shelters constructad from one cormer of the hasement story under the forebay and
extending into the barn yard were another method of extending the functional space of the barn.
An example of this kind of wing can be ohaerved on the Uoffelt Farm (B5-436). Several barss
were observed with basemeat-level drive-throughs, one example being the barn on the Clanshan
Farm {85-22). The postbellom barn on the George Minnick Farm {83-411) has & limestone-
walled barnvard off of its forebay side. In short, Shenandosh County harbors representatives
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of nearly every type and sub-type of bank bamn observed in the Peomsylvania Culture Region
defined by culmral geographers.

Perhaps the largest collection of barns in the county survives on the Mt Alry Farm near Mot
Jackson (85-18). Located at the foot of the ridge on which the 1790s Mt Alry House stands i
the farm’s north complex of barns. The largest bars in this complex has Gothic Revival-mspired
pables, bargeboards, and board-and-batten siding, and is probably the product of a lafe-
nineieenth-contury architect rather than a traditional barn builder. (Another Gothic Revival barn
is located on the Newman Farm, 85-99.) Dating i the early twenieth century is the farm’s
south complex. inciuding several immense gambrel-roofed dairy baras with attached mmulls for
grinding animal feed. fromically, these later barns employ the more traditional mortise-and-teaon
heavy frame construction, vet their gambret reofs reflect the influence of nativual, sciemtifically-
informed concepts of barn design.

A wide range of property sub-types are {0 be found on Shenandoah County farms of the period,
including granaries, pig pens, wagon sheds, tractor sheds, corn cribs, scales houses, work shops,
and silos, On the Hepner Farm nesr Alonzaville (85-455) is an unusual farm outbuilding: a
small frame drying house used for drying apple "snits.”  An isferesting collection of powred
concrete farm builiings appear on a farm near 5t Luke {85-423), including a pig pen, s chicken
house (dated 19143, 3 wash house, and 2 sifo.  An upusual nomber of poured concrete farm
butldings populate the vicinity of this farm.

World War 1o World War 11 {1917-1943}

The period between the two world wars saw the further development of a trend thet characterized
the late wineteenth and carly twentieth centwries: the incressed specialization of the county’s
apriculiure. Apple production comtinued its spectacular rise. with production topping 711,000
ushels in 1930 and 741,000 bushels in 1940, according io the agricultural census of those years.
The 1940 figure represented over 6% of the state’s iyl cutput.  Probably due o #s good rail
facilities, the county ranked among the state’s top apple shippers (Moore and Miller: 293, The
Turkey Knob orchard near Quicksburg encompussed 1,400 acres, and was one of only two
irrigated apple orchards east of the Mississippi River (ibid.). Peaches and grapes werp also
produced on a commercial scale in the county during ihe period, but did not approach apple
pragluction in imporignce,

"Cr county has more poultry per square mile than any county in Virginia," wroie one local
observer in 1931, The total value of eggs and poultry sold in 1928 amounted to 971,604,
greater than amy other cluss of crop or lvestock product, including apples, which brought
$680,000 (Ibid.). Shenandoah County remained an imporiant producer of more waditional
commercial agricultural products; the 1925 barvest of over 408,000 bushels of wheat ranked
among the largest in the state according {0 the agriculiural census of that year, surpassed only
by the neighboring counties of Augusia and Rockingham.

if the guamity and valoe of agriculteral products 5 any guide, Shenandozh County does aot seem
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1o have suffered appreciably from the mation-wide agricultural depression of the 1920s.
However, the general Depression of the 19305 Jid have 3 profound effect on the county.
According to the agricultural censuses. the total amount of improved acreage in farms dipped
from 138 454 acres in 1930 to HI2,000 scres in 1933, and improved acreage remained lower
than the late-nineteenth/carly-twentieth-contury norm in 1940, Corn and wheat production were
also down.

As noted in the discussion of farm property types for the preceding period, the raditional hegvy-
frame Pennsvivanis bask barn remained the normative barn form into the early twentieth century.
The continued popularity of the form can be atiributed largely to #ts funchonal superiority.
Reinforcement may alse have come from agricultural research institutions and the agricalmral
press, which promoted bank barns during the late pincteenth and early twentieth ceaturies.

Several property sub-types assockated with poultry production deserve comment.  Typically
during the peried, chicken houses were crude frame structures, often with shed roofs and south-
facing windows. Ancther form appears in Shenandoah County, the so-called round brooder
house. Reound brooder houses have circular or nearly circular plans that are said © have
prevesied chicks from piling up and suffocating in corners. The mgjonity of the county’s
round brooder houses are frame, although one stone one was cbserved (85-458). Towards the
middle of the twenticth century, farmers began o construct large, often multi-story chicken and
urkey houses, Early examples of these large poultry houses survive in Comtoville (85-402) and
at Smith Creek Farm (85-133), A huge example from 2 Iader period was sarveved on the B F.
Humston Farm {85-181).

Fducapion Theme

During this period, Shenandoah County saw a contimumtion of the siruggle by the German
community {0 preserve ity cultural identily through i schools and charches.  The German
sducational institations maintained io have a swong Yok with the church, and together these
mstitations worked o ensure that German be the hanguage wsed in church and school. Bome
German schools established during this period inchude one gt Solomon Church around 1796, In
Strasburg around 1799, in New Market in 1804, and an elomentary school at New Market in
1805 (Wayland, 1927 11, 160, 466; Wast: 160).

At the same time there were several leaders in the Germun community who stiempied fo
assimilate the German population into the English calture of the Valley., They were able to do
this ihrough the introduction of the English language in the church and through publications for
children that used German gnd Baopglish vocabulary. The Henkels, who established a press at
New Market in 1806, published bilingual books for children. These books inchuded the "German
Virginig Children’s Book™ of 1807, followed by the "Virginia ABC and Mame Book” in 1808
and the “Large ABC Book” published in 1817 {Wust: 136}, Samus! Simon Rmucker, as well
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as other Lutheran ministers, gradually imtroduced English into the church through his sermons.
In 1820 he established a school in New Market that was charged with training ministers it both
English and German. In 1826 Smucker moved his school to Geitysburg, Pennsylvania, where
it developed inio the Gettyshurg Theological Seminary (bid.. 164).

English schools became more numerous in Shensndosh Coumty during the early ninetesnth
century.  These schools were operated in wuch the same manner as the German schools,
providing the basic edacatiomal skills of reading, writing, and cipbering. For those students
desiring an education beyond that obigined in primary schools, scminaries and academies began
to appear i the county. In 1804, the state legislature permitted the holding of a lottery to raise
money for @ seminary in Strasburg, the first English school in that town (Wayland, 1927 466-
4671, In 1B17, the legislature granted charters for the establishment of Woodstock Academy and
New Market Academy (Wavland, 1927: 468, Wast: 162

A% an institution of learning, the academy became very popular in the South from the 18307y
through the Civil War, The early academies were esiablished mainly for men providing an
expanded curriculum much like that used Inter in high schools. They were fisanced by tuitions,
fotterizs, endowmenis or 3 combination of the three and governed by 2 board of trustess
{Cremin: 4273,

Few tural school bouses dating 1o this period have been identified in the county. A possible
early-ninefeenth-cenfury stone schoni house survives at site 83-39.

Antehellum Period {1830-1860
Civil War (18561-1863%)

Fducational opportupities in Shenandoab County increased and became more universal during
the decades preveding the Civil War, A grester number of community schools were established,
and secondary educational facilities were established for women. The period alse witnessed the
disappearsnce of German schools.

Leaders of the German commanity began to recognize and understand the value of the English
culture in their Hives, as well as the use of the English language. As a resulf, more and more
Ciermans began sending their children to English schools (Wust: 159-162).  In a report somt 1o
the Virginia Synod in 1830 by the Lutheran church in Shenandosh County, 1t was noted that oaly
one German school still existed in the county {Wast: 161). Another sign of this sssimilation was
ihe decision of the Henkel Press to discontinue printing s children’s books and even its church
literature in the German language by 1841 Ghid. 157}

By 1830 residents of many communities throughout the county had banded together to establish
schools for their children. These community schools usually provided instruction in reading,
writing, and ciphering through the seventh grade. They were usually housed m a8 one-room
building locsted within five miles of the residents wsing the scheol.  The operstion and
management of these schools was controlied by the community, which saw to the muinienance
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of the school, the purchase of materials. amd the hirieg of G teacher. By 187, when the freg
public school system in Virginia was enacted, there were approximately sixty of these schopls
in exisience in Shenandosh County (Grabill diaries),

A number of mstitations of higher learning were established in the county after 1840, including
several female seminaries.  Woodstock Female Seminary was established in 1844, New Market
Female Seminary in 1850, and the Orkney Springs Female Seminary in 1860 (Wayland, 1927
469-470). The female seminaries did not always provide the same type of mstruction as that
provided in the male acadenvies. The female student was tanght art, needivwork, and lterature,
whereas their male counterparts were taught more mathomatics and science. Another nsiituton
of higher learning chartered in 1849 was Shenandale College in New Market, ¥ts chavier basved
the teaching of theological subjects and provided for a department of agricultore (ibid. 2281},

Reconstruction and Orowth (1866-1916)

The educational system in Virginia and in Shenandoah County snderwent dramatic change sier
the Civil War, Free public education was introduced throughout the siate 45 8 consequence of
the Underwond Constitation of 1870, William Ruffner was appoimed State Superiniendent of
Public Schools. and John M. Grabill wes appointed the first Superintenddent of Public Schools in
Shenandoal County (Echoes: 15-17).  As with other educators throughowt the South, Grabill
combatted the "strong traditions of community centrol combined with vigorous political and
ideotogical hostility toward poversmental ingusion” (Limk: 73, Most sputherners equated
common schools with higher taxes (bid.). For decades the citizens of Shenandoal County bl
built schools, operated and maintained school buildings, hired wachers, and decided what
curriculum would be taught without assistance from governmental agencies. With the
intraduction of the free public schoal system, they saw control over thelr schools gransferred to
Richmond or the county government. A lack of compulsory school laws altowed many parents
i refuse to send their children o the newly organized poblic schools, ner would they pay the
school taxes levied to maintain these schoods {ibid.: 26-27). It was in this climste that private
schools remained an important educations] mstitution through the reminder of the mneieenth
Lentury.

Grabill worked uncessingly for the cawse of free public sducation in Shenandosh {County
(Erhoes: 8. He used his position as editor of the Shenandouh Herald to lead this fight and he
insisted that his children attend public schools when friends were sending their children 10 private
schools (ibid.: 9). In 1872, the county hived sixty-six teachers for sixty-two schools that enrotied
3 536 children. In 1882, when Superintondent Grabill retired, the county hired 127 teachers for
103 schools that enrolled 4,496 students (ibid.: 63, These figeres atiest to Grabill’s success in
promoting free public education.  Ancther indicator of the rising fortunes of public education
the county was the organization of the Virginia Teachers League in Mount Yackson i 1898,
This was the first teacher association in the siate of Yirginia (ibid. : 19-20; Wayland, 1827 4773,

During this period several important private schools were estgblished and operated in Shenandoah
County, Prom 1870 through 189G the Polytechnic Instinate operated in Mew Market. This
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institation was headed by the eminent educator sad poet, Joseph Salyards {Wayland, 1927: 4723,
From 1874 to 1882 the Virginia Mormal Music School was conducted at the Polytechnic Institate
(ibid.; 478-480). Massanuiten Academy in Woodstock was established in 1899 by the Reverend
1. Sitor Garrison, a minister in the Reformed Church. This school for boys was organized a8
a military academy during World War I (ibid.: 477-478). Shenandosh Valley Academy was
gstablished in Now Market by the Seventh-Day Adveniist Church in 1908 {ibid.: 478}

The earliest sizeable group of roral school houses survives from the last third of the ninctoenth
century and the early twenticth century. Most of these early public schools were one-stary, one-,
fwo-, or thres-room buildings of weatherboarded frame construction.  Barbs School {83-4183,
jocated in & remote valley south of Orkney Springs, is typical of the simplest of these butldings:
& gable-fronted one-room building with a single entry on the gable front, three windows on each
side elevstion, a windowless rear wall that would have accommodated the blackboard, and
provision for a stove. A somewhat Jarger and finer school from the peried stands in the Cedar
Creek valley (85-389). Among the largest rural schools of the day are two-story, multi-room
frame elementary andfor high schools dating to the early twentieth centory such as survive at
Conieville (85-106; 85-402), Forestville (85-405%), and Hamburg (85-433).

World War Lo World War 11 {1917-1%45)

Free public education underwent several sipnificant changes between the World Wars,
Consolidation brought an end 1o localized control of community schools. Lengthening af schoot
terms and additions to the carricelum broadened the educations! opportunities of students in
Shenandoah County’s public schools.

in 1927 the state legislature enacted & law that consolidated the separate magisterial school board
districts into one countywide School Board made up of ene porsen from each magisierial district
(Echoes: 243, Before 1922, cach magisterial district had three or more school trustees. These
srustees held titles o schoothouses, saw 1o the maintenance of the facilities, hired teachers, and
fevied taxes W support the schools in thelr distrors (Link: 143). With this new legistation, tles
to school property were turned over to the county, the treasurer of the county handled the
fimances for the school system, and the School Board hired teachers. Thus, the power of
poverming county schocls became muore contralived with the county government { Echoes: 33-34).

The other pigce of legislation which provided for 8 more centralized school system was the
compulsory school law of 1918, Superintendent C. V. Shoemaker worked over 2 devade to get
a compulsory school law passed and enforced in the county. In 1914 the School Board voted
to subsit the issue of a compalsory school law to the peaple at the next general election, but it
was not untit 1925, when the Schoo! Board established a plan whereby pareats of wosni siudents
would be prosecuted. that compulsory education became a reality in Shenandoab County (ibid.:
27283,

Although several men succeeded John H. Grabill as county school superintendent, C. V.
Shoemaker, who served from 1913 il 1940, proved o be particalarly effective (ibid.: 23-32).
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i addition 1o leading the fight for compalsory education, Shoemaker was imstrmental m the
consolidation of Shenandoah County schouls and the initation of an exlensive hutlding program
in the laie 1930°s. "When Mr, Shoemaker took office in 1913, there were seventy-nine schools
in the county employing 156 teachers. There were four schouls for blacks. When he resigned
in 1941, there were thirty-six schools emploving 146 teachers” (ibid. 24y, Through
Shoemaker's efforts, most of the one reom schoolbouses were closed by the fall session of 1939
{ibid.: 2527

Also during this period, the school vear was lengthened to nine months and new curricula were
mroduced.  Under the Smith-Hughes Act, agriculture and bome economic classes werd
cstablished. The first vocstional-agricultural departmenis were formed at Woodstock and
Strashurg high schoals in 1923, Vovational-sgricultural classes were added o the curmiculum at
New Market High School in 1926 and to Toms Brook and Edinburg high schoods in 1931 {imd.:
§71, Home sconomic classes began at Woodsiock and Strasburg high schools in 1930 and 11 the
four other high schools in 1934 (bid.: 773, Music, physical education, and health programs
were alse imroduced into ibe curricuhem {ibkl: 25-26). In 1926 a Shenandoah County
Geography Supplement was written hy twoe Shenandoah County school educators; James Moore,
principal of Toms Brook High School, and Margueriie Miller of Oranda School (bid.: 23;
Wayland, 1927 448}

Milion Hollingsworth, superintendent form 1940 to 1943, complered the consolidation effort and
puiiding program begun by €. V. Shoemaker. By 1945 there were six high schools and ten
graded schools in the county. Blacks in the county wene bused to Manassas for vocational
training. For a high school education, blacks living in the southern end of the county were based
13 Harrisonburg and those in the sorthern end were sused to Winchester (Echoes: 42).

Consolidation meant 2 decrease in the number of rural schools buill in the coanty. One of the
fow schools built during the period {or possibly the early post-war period) is located n the
village of Columbia Fursuce (85-400): & one-siary strepcher-bond brick or brick-cased bulding
an 2 raised basement with Colonial Revival details such as a cupola and quoining.

bilitary Theme

Civil War (1861-1865}

As with the rest of the Valley, Shenandoah County was contested by Federal and Confederate
forces throughout the Civil War, The sirategic importance of the Valley has been surmmarized
as foltows: “Confederate armies used the Shenandoah Valley a5 2 natural corridor t invade of
threaten invasion of the North. Because of its svuthwest-northesst orientation, Confederate
armies marching down the Valley approached Washington and Baltimore, while Union armies
marching up the Valley moved farther away from Richmond” (Aten &t al; 14). The Valley also
provided the Confederacy with a relatively concealed staging ground for its miliary operations.
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Importast battles wore fought @t New Marked, Fishers Hill, Toms Brock, and Cedar Hill in
Shenandoah Coanty during the Lynchburg Campaign of May and June 1864 and the early months
of Sheridan’s Valley Campaign during the second balf of 1864, In May 1864 a Federal force
of 6,275 men under the command of General Franz Sige! marched up the Valley to cut
Confederate supply and commenications lines af Staunion in order 0 assist Federal operagions
iy Pledmont Yirginia, On May 13 a1 the northern cutskirgs of New Market the Federal army met
a force of 4,090 men under the command of Confederate general John C. Breckinridpe., The
eosuing battle resulted in the defeawt of Sigel and the loss of 146 lives. As a vesull of New
Market, Rigel was replaced with General David Huster, who campaigned successfully in the
upper Yalley before retroating. Confederate peneral Jubal A, Barly then occupied the Valley and
from it launched attacks on Marviand, Pennsylvania, and Washington (3bid.: 18, 26-27).

Far more momentous for the Confederacy and for Shenandoah County were the events of
Septesmber amd October 1864, Ceneral Ulysses 8. Urant, then in command of the Federal
armies, sought to break Confederate sirength in the Valley. He chose General Plullip H.
Sheridan for the task o Aogust 1864, After g sexies of encounters in Marviand and Virginia
culminating in 8 Union victory at the baitle of Opeguon or Third Winchester, Sheridan’s 29,444~
sirong army parseed General Barly’s force of 9,500 men w the Iatter’s entrenchments at Pishers
Hill., Fighting on Sepiember 21 and 22 resulted in eiphty-two fatalities and forced Early 1o
withdraw furiher south. Over the following weeks, Sheridan’s army laid waste w the area’s
farms in what became koown as "The Burning” (bid.: 21, 2627

Farly struck back on (Octeher © but his cavalry was defeated at the battle of Toms Brook. Early
persisted, reoconpying te fortifications ot Fishers Hill on October 13 and launching an attack
on Sheridan’s army, then encamped in Frederick County. On October 19, Early’s forge of
15,265 men atacked the Federal army of 31,944 men in the battle of Cedar Creek, fought in
hoth Frederick and Shenandoah countics. What looked ke a Confederate victory in the morning
was reversed in the sfternoon, and Harly retreated scuthwand, With 964 fatalities, the battle of
Cedar Creek proved the Valley's bloodivst.  After Cedar Creek, Harly anacked the Federals at
Rude’s Hill in Shenandoab Coonty on November 22 and elsewhere but could not dislodge the
enemy. Sheridan’s destruction of produce and Bvestock in Ootober 1884 deprived the
Confederate arvy of winter provisions, amd in the following spring Barly was finally defeated
and Confederate cantral of the YValley ended bid., 22, 26-27).

Civil War defensive works survive in the county on a hill overlocking downtown Strasburg.

Important baitlefields are Fishers Hill (85-1) and New Market (85-273, (These battlefields wers
ot resurveyed.)

Religion Theme

During this period three new church bodies appeared in Shenandoab County; the Methodists, the
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Preshyterian, and the Unitod Brethren, The period is also marked with Confroversy COncermng
the use of the English language and, in some cases, Hnglish doctrine in the German churches.

Rishop Francis Asbury traveled through Shenansdoah County at least eight Hmes during the
period, stopping to preach in 1790 at Bethel sear Red Banks and at the Episcopal Church 1o
Woodstock, and again in 1806 in Stashurg (Wayland, 1927 405, 405, 4253 Asbory
commented on ks 1790 visits in his diary: "We had a crowd of people at Bethel, who appeared
very imsensible. Rode on o Miller’s Town, properly Woodstock; here b was permitied 1o preach
in the Fpiscopal Church, many attended and behaved well, and 1 had Hipht and Hberty in
speaking” (bid.: 405). Two methodist mimsters were Hcensed in Shenandoah County in 1792
and the first church building ssed for Methodist worship was built arcund 1808 in Woodstock
{ibid.: 427, 429},

By 1822 three Presbyterian churches had boen established in Shessndesh County, one at
Woudstock and two at Strasburg. 1n 1824, the Reverend William H. Foote grpanized these three
congregations into the Usion Church of Shenandoah County with thirty-one members. Thes in
1476 the Union Church was divided into the Woodstock and Strasbury Presbyterian Churches,
The Strasburg cengregation dedicated thelr fivst church building in 1830 and a church at
Weadsiock was erected arcund 1833 (ihid.; 431-432).

The third new denomination in Shemandoal County was the United Brethren,  Around 1800,
Reformed Pastor Witliam (terbein and Mennonite Martin Boehimn founded the United Brethren
Church that taught the dectring of evangelism and a freer commumion much like that of the
Methodists. 1o fact, they were sometimes called German wethodists. The ministers m tis new
church wonld preach with Methodist ministers at camp meetings troaghout the Valley., This
milingual team was very effective with the Germans of the Valley (Wavland: 444-446, Wust
134-138;.

Mirroring struggles in ihe German schools of the period, the German churches debated the
guestion of using Eaglish instead of German for church seyvices and publications.  German
church elders believed their traditions and values were not being trassmitted o younger
generations, and the language issue was al the heant of their concerns., The Henkel Press, as well
as other conservative printers, continued to print church literature i German throughout the
period (Wust: 1537}, The lack of English wranslations of church catechisms and other doctrinal
Hierature contributed to the continued use of German in the German churches, especially the
{utheran Church, However, some German churches during this period began to allow the use
of English in sermons, and church records were increasingly kept in Hoglish { ibid.: 1400,

In the Lutheran Chusch, the language issue was associated with doctringl guestions that
eventally led 1o the division of Lutheran congregations throughout the state andd county o the
Tenmessee Synod, organized by Pant Henbel in 1820, and the Virginia Synod, organized in 1R29
(ibid.: 1373, Because the Reformed Church hed similar religious tenets as the Presbyierian
Church, it lost membership due to the language issue.  Likewise, the United Brethren lost
membership to the Paglish speaking congregations of the Methodist Church (ibid.: 141}
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The Dunkards took a more concilistory approach 1o the language issue. They realized that the
copversion of the younger generation mecessitated the wse of English, but the retention of
members of the older generation required the use of German. Thus, English- and (erman-
speaking ministers were paired. resulting in the "English Arm” and "German Arm” of the
Dunkard Church (ibid.: 146},

Pew churches dating to this period have been identified in the county. A remarkable exception
is the original building of 5t Pasl's Lutheran Church (85-483), which probably dates (o the
18205, A simple v-noiched log building of domestic scale and form, the church originatly steod
on the site of the present St. Paul’s in Jerome, but was moved in e nineteenth century 10 Esaac
. Foltz Farm (83-425) where i has served an agriceliural function. In addition to i85 great age,
the building i significant as an example of first-generation church construcion, oSt orher first-
generation churches having been torn down or dismembered when they were replaced.

Antebelium Pertod (1830- 18680
Civil War {1861-1865)

The Lutheran Church remained the larzest church body in Shenandoah County during the lae
antebeliom period.  As in the case of the German schools, e use of German in the church was
eliminated by the 1840’s, except for special vccasions. The Henkel Press printed its last German
text in 1841, The process of transiating the Hterature of the church into English began with Paul
Henkel, and ended with the English translation of the "Book of Concor " in 1851 (Wust: 157,
3Ry, The separation of the Union Churches, Reformed and Lutheran congregaiions that shared
property and clergy, was also nearing completion by the time of the Civil War (ibid.: 139). The
county’s Guaker meeting and Mennonite congregations disappeared from Shenandoah County
during the period (Wayland, 1927 433 Wust: 147}, Little is known concerning the fate of the
Cuakers, but as stated previously, the Memnonites woved further south 1ato Rackingham and
Augusta counties {Wust: 146, Wayland, 1927: 424). The Christian Church, or Disciples of
Chwist, appeared in Shenandoah County st mid-century. The first congregations were formed
around Strasburg, Woodstock, Bdinburg, and Alonzaville (Fairview) in the 1850°s.  Other
congregations and churches were organized following the Civil War { Wayland: 396},
Considerably more raral churches survive from the laie antebetium period than from preceding
periods. These churches generally share simitar nave-plan forms with gable fronis and intenior
seating arrangements directed towanis a pulpit at the rear gable end. Most churches that SUFVIVE
from this period are of weatherhoarded frame construction with tall side windows. Pew survive
in their original state; belfries, entry towers, and lancet-ached stained-glass windows are common
alterations. A notable grouping of antebellum churches occurs ia the tiny community of Hudson
Crossroads (83-4103, where St James Lutheran Church and St Johns United Chuorch of Christ
mimic the spived skyline of & New England village.

The resnlts of the survey conducted for D. §. Lake’s dulas of Skenandouh and Page Counties.
Virginia, published in 1885, show that there wers seventy-nine churches—seventy-three white and
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six Mack--in the county af that time. In semmarizing the findings of the atlas, Jobn Wayland
listed the following dencminations for Shenandoah County: oue Baptist church, two Episcopal
churches, two Presbyierian churches, twoe Lutheran and Reformed Union churches, five
Reformed churches, five United Brethren churches, seven Christian churches, seven Trunkard
churches, seven Union churches, ten Methodist churches, sighieen Lutheran churches, seven
snidentified churches. and six black churches (Wayland, 19271 447-448). From this survey ot
is apparent that the Lutheran Church continued to have the most congregations whereas the
Methodist Church was paining in popularity. The Baptist and Presbyterian Churches did not
expand their memberships. The county’s Episcopal churches were buill shortly before ihe
publication of Lake’s atlas. Around 1872, the Episcopal Church in ML Jackson was built, and
in 1882 the one in Woodstock was erected (ibid.: 399-400). Two other denominations organized
congregations in the county following 1883; s Catholic Chusch was erected in Woudstock around
1%90, and 3 congregation of the Seventh Day Adventist Church was organized in Mew Market
around 1883 (Wayland: 444). A large camp mesting pround was located just south of Lantz Mill
it 1BRS {l.ake:.

The targest group of rural churches surveyed in the county date o the half century between the
end of the Civil War and the nation’s estry inte World War 1. Like their late antebellum
predecessors, these churches are generally of frame construction with nave-plan forms.
Stviisucally, these churches horrow architectural motifs such as lancol-arched windows, doors,
and belfry opesings from the Gothic Revival, which was promoted as an appropriale
eeclesigstical style throuph much of the nineteenih and early twentieth centuries, Church bailding
commitiees ansd their bailders sometimes experimented with different architectural forms and
motifs. Otterbein Chapel United Methodist Church {85-434), bailt around 1900, combines 2
tasically T-shaped plan with snusual round windows and basks of small rectangular windows.
The architectural forms of the nineteenth and sarly twentieth centuries continaed into the period
hetween the world wars, More recently, some congregations have opled 1o encase their historic
church buildings in brick.

World War 1 so World War 1 (1817-194%:

In their Geography Supplemeny of Shenandpah County, published in 1927, authors Moore and
Miller provided a survey of the religious population of Shenandoal Couaty. Their survey fistod
churches and memberships. The Lutherans bad the largest membership with 3,206 members,
followed by the Methodists with 2,027, the Disciples of Christ with 1,438, the Brethren known
as German Baptist or Dunkers with 1,207, and the Reformed Church with 1.086. The United
Hrethren in Christ bad 709 members followed by the Christhan Church with 310 and the
Preshyterians with 252 members, The three denomingtions with the Ipast members were the
Baptisis with 105, the Catholics with 63, and Episcopatians with 49 (Wayland, 1927: 448}, A
major event in the e of the Lutheran Church in Virginia occurred in 1925 when the churches
of the Tennessee Syaod and the Virginia Synod united info the Virginia Synod (Wust: 137}



Health Carce and Recreation Thome

Fartv Nationsl Peried {1790-182%)
Aptebeltum Period (1830- 1860y
Oivil War (18061-186%)

Cme ostcome of improved road and rail connections was the development of springs yesorts in
Shemandoah County. Since early settfement the county’s mineral springs were valued for thew
alleged curative powers.  The county’s largest and most famons resort, (Orkney Springs. was
frequented by the alflicted as early as the Revolutionary War pericd. EBarly accommodations
were simple: tents or temporary fog buts erected by adjacent landowners {Coben: 80y, Samuet
Kercheval, the Valley’s earliest chronicler, recollecied one Orkney Springs-goer of the 1820s
hauling iv framing members, weatherboards, and shingles for 2 simple coltage erected in the
space of & day and a half (Bercheval: 332). The pace of development quickened in the mid-
sineteenth century, facilitated by the South's expanding rail network. Wealthy planters and
urbanites from the southern tidewater flocked to the Virginia mountains during the summer a8
a relief from heat and vellow fever. Patrons were also drawn by the opporiunity to socislize
amid breathtaking mountain scenery, an attraction that may have heen MOre germane i the case
of the Shermndoah County resorts, which were trequented by visitors from the Middle atlantic
SLates.

tnitially. the leading springs resort in the county was Burner's White Sulphur Springs {also
known as Seven Fountains), located in Fort Valley, In 1850, Noah Burner bl 1 three-siory
frame hotel and ballroom, geest cottages, and bathing houses Clower: 27). The resort boasted
“Fight Springs of different waters . . . White, Blue, and Black Suipbur; also Chalyvbeste,
Limestone, Freestone, Shiestone, and Alum water,” and peried advertisements  sohcied
patronage from Baltimore, connected 1o the lower Shenandoah Valley by the Balimore & (hio
Ratlroad  (Mordecat: 13). Orkney Springs {85-39), incorporated in 1838, developed on the
opposite side of the county in the shadow of the Great North Mountain {Wayland, 19270 212}
Although the first substantial structre, the two-story Maryland House, was erecied in 1833, a
village existed at Orkney Springs prior to the 1850s (Loth: 425). Both the resort and is support
compmmity experienced their greatest growth after the Civil War,

Om a smaller scale of operations than the springs resorts were the taverns and bowses of public
entertainment sprinkied acrosy the Shenandouh County landscape. Among the more IDIPISSIVE
of these is Crabil Tavers {85973, an carly-nineteemh-century brick building. Many private
homes provided lodging for travelers and other guests.

Reconstruction and Growth (1866-1316)

Orkney Springs tock its place as ope of the premier watering places in the state after the Civil
War, In 1876, the springs proprictors erected the Vicginia House, a four-story colossus with g
135 %40 dining ball, & 100°x50° ballroom, a reading voom, a hithiard room, 175 bedrooms, and
an ornamental pedesirian bridge finking it to the verandas of the Maryland House. By the late
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14805 the resort abso hoasted lersey Row, a file of seven two-story BUest COHAgEs, an octaponal
pand stand: 2 ten pin alley; several spring howses, ive houses, and auniliary butldings; and a
quadrangle of guest bouses of varying shapes and sizes known as Vag Rurenville (Cohen: 80-8S;
1akel. The village of Orkney Springs prospered with the vesort. Miss AL M. Stribling operated
a hoarding house in the village for less affluent visitors, J. H. Smurr kepta saloon for those who
required stronger medicine than mineral water o relieve their afflictions, and several merchants
sold groceries and dry goods t© guests and local denizens alike (Lake: {Chataigne, 1884-1883,
1893},

I 190K, William K. Bryce of Philadelphia acquired a farm pear Orkney Springs and began the
development of the Bryce Resort (85-418). Bryce converted a pre-existing farmbouse into guest
facilities. built two lodges adiacent to it, and in the early 1910s began the constraction of the
detached Rustic-style cottages that eventually numbered twenty-two in all. The resort offered
dancing, bowling, croguet, tennis, horseback riding, and mountain chimbing, and assured guests
that the Iocation was free of malaria snd did not cater to consumptives. In the 19603 the resornt
sanagement opened ski slopes and began an ambitious development of private homesites snd
condominioms. In 1993 the resort was worth $120 million and generated 14% of county fax
revenues (Bryce: “Bryee’s Hillside Cottages™).

Rurner’s White Sulphur Springs, or Seven Fountains, declined after the Civil War, but boarding
houses took the place of the hotel and 4 ten pin alley remained in operation (Clower: 2%; Cohen:
25; Lakey, A third resort was developed in the 18708 by AL 1. Myers af the site of the defunct
Henvietts Furnace (Wayland: 151).  Shenandosh Alum Springs (85-44), as it was known,
featured two hotel buildings, @ vow of log goest cabins (possibly recycled fropworker housing),
angd the obligatory ten pin alley and colorfally-named mineral springs (Lake).

World War 1o World War 1 £1917-1945;3

Springs resonts throughom Virginia suffered decline during the first Balf of the twentioth conlury,
Jargely due to the development of more exotic tourist destinations and the acvessibility of those
destinations by automobile, Orkney Springs fared better than most resorts. in the 19605, the
American Symphony Orchesira League established a sumener institute at the resort, and in 1979
Orkney Springs was scquived by the Episcopal Diocese of Virginia, which has undertaken an
ambition renovation of the many surviving historie buildings (Cohen: 843

The year 1932 saw the commercial transformation of a cave near Quicksburg into Shenandoah
Caverns (85-166), served directly by the Southern Railroad. “An electric lighting system
sufficient 1o iHuminate a town of twoe thousand people” was installed to accommodate the
thousamds of tourists who visited every year during the 19205, and a three-story rock-faced
concrete-block hotel was constructed af the cavern entrance (Wayland, 19243, To further tompt
weekend spelunkers, the mamgement emlowed the cave’s natural formations with pames such
as Pamond Cascade, Grove of the Diruids, and Rainbow Lake (Moore and Miller: 13y
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Transporiation Theme

Farly Nationad Perind {1790-182%)

Al aspects of Shenandoah County's early cconomy depended on transportation.  The principal
tand route during the period was the Valley Road, also reforred to as the Great Wagon Road,
that extended from Philadelphia southwestward down the center of Shenandosh County and
uitimately into the Caroling Piedmont.  This route became a conduit for settlers moving inio and
through the area and for the wanspont of agricotivral products 1o tidewater markeis and finished
goods o the backcountry, Winchester, located to the north of Shenandoah County, became 4
point of intersection for roads leading east and west, as didd Staunton to the south of the county
{Kalbian: 150; Newlon and Pawlett: 193, The section of the great road leading southwestward
from the southern boundary of Shenandcah Connty was also known as the Indian Road. The
Shemandosh River constituted an important transportation route,  Batteaus—shatlow-drafi, keel-
hottomed boats—-plied the river from the cighteenth contury into the mid-nineteenth contury,
carrving bulk agricultural and industrial goods © market.

Anteheliom Period (1836G-1860)

Shepandoah County underwent g remendous expansion of its Wwansportation infrastructure during
the aniebellum period.  Roads and waterways were considerably improved, ephancing the
county's access 1o distant markets and accelerating integrativs with the sattional economy and
national colture.  The radlrosd made it first inroads into the county during the periud.

The Valley Boad became the subiect of renewed attention when a third Valley Turnpike
Company was chartered in 1834 with the goal of macadamizing the great artery from Winchesier
to Harrisonburg. One of the road’s engineers was Joseph Anderson, later head of the Tredegar
fron Works in Richmond and owner or lessor of the county's iron furnaces (Wayland, 1867: 2,
13-15; Newlon and Pawleit: 19203, With its extension via other turnpikes inte Southwest
Virginia and poinis west by mid-century, the hard-surface Valley Pike represented one of the
sation’s primary land routes.

The success of the Valley Pike generated o rumpike mania. lncreasingly, the old method of local
surveyors and laboring tithables gave way to a system of professionally managed, capitalized.
and sometimes state subsidized wrapike companies. The town of New Market appears t0 have
taken the lead in these developments, first with the incorporation of the Mewmarket and Butialo
Springs Turnptbe 1o 1839-1840, and then with the incorporation of the Newmarket and
Sperryville Turopike in 1847-1848. The latler voad was the only major route 0 Cross the
Massanutten Mountain, Boking the Valley and the Picdmont via Luray {Aten et all 14y The
18505 saw a fhurry of incorporations incloding the Mount Jackson and Howard's Lick Turnpike,
the Moont Jackson and Howardsville Turnpike, the Suasburg and Capon Turapike, amd the
Wondstock and Wardensville Tornpike {Willlams), These vegional turnpikes contribuied o the
economic development of the county by allevisting vne of the primary limiting factors: bad
roads.  Their impact on the celugal development of the county would be hard o quantify, bal
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it is reasonable (o assume that they tied both town and country wore closely 0 pational lde.

One important route that did not pain turnpike status was the Back Boad, a roufe that paralieled
the Valley Road along the western edge of the central valley (corresponding 1o rontes 41 and §23
todayy. It is possible that the absence of tolls on this route made it more attraciive © drovers
than the Valley Road. The Craig-Hepner Farm (35-4353) near Alonzaville was used a3 & campsite
for drovers and 2 watering place for livestock during the antebellum period; Hepner family
trasdition states that the owner of the farm during the period maintained asother farm twelve miles
to the south along the Back Road that also functioned as a campsite and watering place. A string
of small service cormmunities developed along the Back Rousd during the mincieenth century.
catering 1o the needs of travelers and puurished by their rade, Listed from south io north, these
communities are Forestville (85-405), Hudson Crossroads (85-410), Conicville (R5-4023,
Columbia Furnace (85-400). 56, Luke {not surveyed), Alonzaville (not surveyed), Sauwmsville
(§3-3033, Mt Olive (85-504), and Lebanon Church (85-118).

Turnpikes were vital to the development of the Valley, but as early as the 18305 thewr ymporiance
was overshadowed by the great fransportation innovation of the ninetoenth century: the raiboad.
At first, railroads passed near but not into Shepandoah County. The first was the Baltimore &
Obio. which bridged the Potomac to Harpers Perry in 1836, There it was met by the Winchesier
& Polomac. with its terminus in the Frederick County sest only & dozen miles from Shenandoah
(Hungerford: 1503, The first railroad actually to penctrate the county was the Manassas Gap,
the brainchild of Chief Justice John Marshall's entrepreneurial son, Edward Carrington Marshall.
The Manassas Gap branched off of the Orange & Alexandria Railroad at Manassas Junction and
passed westward through Mamassas Gap and Front Royal to Strasburg, with the pltimate goal
being Harrisonburg. Upon s completion to Strasburg in 1834, Marshall vemarked: "The won
horse of Manassa this day takes #ts first drink of limestone water” (Davis: 113}, By March 1859
the road had pushed as far as Mount Jackson, its wrmings untl after the Civil War (ibid.: 112~
1133,

Civil War {1861-1863)
Reconstruction and Orowth (1866-1918)

The Civil War wreaked havor on Shemandoah County’s trassportation astwork.  The Manassas
Gap railroad was repeatedly damaged by Confederate forces 1 provent its use by the Federal
army during the latier’s intermittent ocoupation of the Valley {Aten: 13; Johnston 551, 113,
219). Afier the war, the Manassas Gap aod the Orange & Adexandria railroads merged and
extended their Valley line to Harrisonburg by 1868 (Wine: 403, In 1872 the Orange, Alexandna
& Manassas merged with the Lynchburg & Danville w0 form the Washingion City, Virginia
Midland & Great Southern.  The WOVMAGS went into receivership in 1876 and was
recrganized by the Baltimore & Ohio as the Virginia Midland Railroad (Davis: 194). By 1885
the Baltimore & Obio had pushed the old Winchester & Potomac line southward to connect with
the Virginia Midland at Swasborg Junction. The Valley Branch of the Baltimore & Ohio, a3 the
OA&M line had become known, connected through © Staunton and beyond (Lake; Stover: 651
Later the majority of this Hine was acquired by the Southern Ksilroad, its present management,

34



although the stretch leading castward from Strasburg remained under the contrel of the Baltimore
& Chio until after 1931 (Moore and Miller: 31}, The railvoad activity of this period precipitated
considerable development in the Shenandoah County towns along the Valley Branch. An entirely
sew community, Guicksburg (originaly known as Forest Station), grew up along ihe ratlrpad,
and g number of smaller hamlets centered on depots.

As ncted shove in the discussion of postbellum industry, 8 short line known as the Shenandoal
ron & Cosl Railroad was constructed from Bdinburg o Liberty Purmace m 1881, ‘The
"pdigharg Trinky” hasled fron to the main line and also extended to ore basks on Mididle
Mountain, After the furnace closed in the carly twentieth century, the vailroad hauled timber for
2 while before finally cossing operations in 1917 (Cooper and Zimmerman).

Shenandoah County’s roads continued 1o serve as they always had for pedestrian, horse,
vehicular. and livestock affic. Whereas most Virginia turnpikes failed to survive the Civil War
and its attendant econcmic disruptions, the Valley Turnpike did, pperating profuably until its
takeosver by the state m 1918 (Newlon and Pawlett: 20). Tolthouses were maintained along the
pike, including a two-story frame structure that stands today on Meems Bottom at the foot of the
bhridge leading into Mount Jackson {83-131; Lake). Mearby is the Meems Bottom Covered
Biridge {85-103), a single-span, wooden, Burr truss (or arch) bridge constructed in 18931894,
AL 200 long, the covered bridge is the longest to survive in the siate, and accordingly # was
fisted in the National Register in 1975 (Loth: 424; Newlon and Pawlett: 27).

workd War 1o World War 1 (19171945

Shenandoah County fully entered the modern antomobile age during the period between the
world wars. The Southern and Raltimore & Ohdo lines remained important, but increasingly
country doctors, farmers, asd others relied on cars and trucks 1o perform ther work.
Consequently there emerged @ groater need for hard-surface roads. In 1930 the State Hiphway
Department counted 1,067.26 miles of county and district voads and 90.74 miles of state
highways. This fatter figure included a 35.5-mile stretch of the Valley T urnpike, acguired by
the state in 1918, The department widened and repaved the Valley Torapike as U. 8. Route 1
during the 19205 and 1930s, and throughout the period and later commenced the construction of
the ubiguitous wood, sieel, and concrete bridges that dot the county.  As during almost two
comuries of setilement history, freight moved through the county north and south along the
Valley Road/Route 11, although in 1930 it was being hauled by truckers rather than teamsiers
{Moare and Miller: 31-323.

Commerce Theme
Early National Period {1790-182%)

Civil War (18611868}
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During the eighteenth century, most commercial activity took place in Shepandoab County s
towns. Presumably, siores were located in rural areas as well. Stores amd other commercial
praperty types arg virtgally non-existent for this peniod of the county’s history.,  One notable
exception is Moore's Store (85-33), g one-story, two-unit, brick building, possibly dating to the
carly mincteenth century, that formerly contained a post office and store of pffice.

Reconstruction and Growih {1866-1810)

The majority of Shenandoab County's historic rural commercial buildings daie o the lawe
ninsteenth and early twenticth centuries. By 1871, the date of Andrew Boyd's Virginia Stre
Business Directory, approximately fifieen siores had been established outside of the county’s
larger towns. By 1893, this number had grown o fifty-two (Chataigne, 1883 1148-1131).
Maost of these country stores were located in villages and small towns and were usually operated
in conjunction with post offices. Typically, country stores shared a similar gabte-fronted form,
sometimes with a side shed that was used for balk storage. The upper level of two-story stores
was also used for storage, but occasionatly it served as lodging or meeting space as well.

A prime example of the commercial property type is the Ephraim Baker Store {R5%-473} in the
village of Mt. {ive. The original one-story section of the two-story frame store was probabrty
built in 1867 (the date of the store’s eariest surviving ledger), sod the upper story added soon
afterwards. Off the north side of the store is a wing for bulk storage: across the front of the
stere extends a reworked pne-story porch.  The beaded-bogrd-sheathed interior of the store’s
main sales space features long wooden counters and shelves lining the walls.  Another well
preserved late-nineteenth-century store that alse functioned as & post office is the Lackstampfer
House amd Fepp Post Office (83473,

World War § 1o World War 1 (1917-1845%)

Commercial development in the county’s rural areas slackened after Workd War 1, with fewer
country stores constructed in villages and small towns. The increasing popularity of the
astomobile generated several changes in the county’s rural commercial architecture.  First, gas
pumps and drive-through canopies began to appear on the front of some store boildings.  Also,
along major routes such as the Lee Highway, hard-surfaced in the 1920s, filling stations, molor
courts, and diners sprang up. A fine sxample of the flling station property type is a 19208 or
1930 station in Columbia Formace (85-400) that features maginative limestone masonry.
Similar stations were buill ap and down the Lee Highway in adjoining counties.  Other carly
service stasions identified by the survey include Rude’s Hill Grocery (83-147) and a store and
service station on RL 720 (85-150). Also associated with increased automobile use is Dorothy’s
ton (85-197), a white quartzite-faced building with stepped gable parapets constructed on 2 binff
etween the Lee Highway and the Shenandosh River in the 19205 or 1930
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Industry Theme

Farly Mational Pecod (1793-1829)

Shenandoah County hias been described as a "leading iron-producing county of the state” for the
pericd before the Civil War, a distinction it gained at an early date (Watson! 4303, ne of the
Shesandoah Valley's earliest furnace and forge complexes was established in the mid-cighteenth
century by Isaac Zane on buth sides of Codar Creek at Marlboro (the furnace itself was situated
on the Frederick County side of the creek). Apparently the first furnace physically Jocated
within Shenandoah County’s present boundaries was Columbia Furnace (85-4003, sitedd on Big
Stony Creck where 1 jssuss from the mountains six miles west of Woodstock, Columbia
Furnace was developed hy George Mayberry & Company shordy afier 15000 in IRO8 3t was
acquwired by John Arther & Company and afterwards was commonly known as Arthur’s Furnace.
Another early furnace was Liberty Furnace, established around 1821 several miles npstream from
Columbis Furnace (Wayland, 1927 237-238; Bruce: 4543, Pig iron was the principal product
of the early furnaces, and was either sold to Jocal blacksmiths or wransporied by bateaux or
wagon 1o Fredericksburg and other tidewater smarkets {Wayland, 1927: 241). The importance
of the iron industry and other manufacturing enterprises can be read in the population statstcs
of the 1820 federal census, O Shenandoah County residents engaged in agriculture, commerce,
and manufacturing, the proportion of the latter was 20.9% , whereas statewide the percentage of
individuals mvobved in mamufacturing was 10.4%.

Amebellum Period (1830-1860)
Civil War (1B61-1865)

Iron manufacturing became even more important in Sherandoal County during the antehelium
period. Columbia Furnace supporied & population of 200 workers and others by the 1830s
{Martin: 4323, The 18305 saw the addition of four more farmaces o the county: Paddy, located
on Cedar Creek near the Frederick County line; Caroline Furnace, located & the southern end
of Fort Valley; Fort Furnace, also known a3 Elizabeth Purnace, located gt the north end of Fort
Valley; and Van Buren Furnace (83-51). located at the headwaters of Cedar Creek (Bruce: 434;
Gilmer). The location of these furnaces in the heavily forested mountainous areas of the county
was intentional; the furnaces required charcual for fuel, and the production of charcoal consurmned
vast quantities of tinber. Other factors in the siting of furnaces were the availability of won ore,
timestone for flux, and water power 10 operate ihe buge furnace bellows and (when a forge was
associsted with the furnace) trip bammers.  As st Colpmbia Furnace, work camps and
sccasionally Bona fide communites sprang up around the furnaces.  Workers at Henrietta
Furmace (another, {ivil War-era furnace located near Orkmey Springs) may bave been honsed
in a row of 2 half-dozen or so log cabing, as was the practice in the iron manufacturing region
of aniebellum Pennsyivania {Lake).

The 1960 indusirial census comains detailed information on the scale and workings of the

connty’s iron furnaces, The census Hsts fonr manufacturers of pig on with one furnace “in
course of construction.” The four operational furnaces employed a total of fiffy-eight workers,
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and produced 2,481 tons of pig won representing 27.3% of the state total {(Capron 13y The
county’s most productive furnace, Columbia Purnace, consumed 3,304 tons of ore, 280,000
hushels of charcoal cogl, and 340 tons of lime to produce 1,368 tons of pig fron valued o
330,098, Columbia Furnace was water-powered, as was one other furnace, but the remaining
two were steam-powered.

A related industry was the forging of iron into mors finished forms. Two early forges were Pige
Forge, located on Smith Creek four miles north of Newmarket, and Umon Forgs, lacated at the
castern end of the village of Lantz Mills. In 1860 the indusirial vensus Hsts six foundries with
annual output in excess of 3300, Most of these foundries converted pig iron intw bar wom, but
one, the Valley Poundry of Solomon Moore & Company, manufactured “all kinds fof]
machinery.”  Like the furnaces, the early forges attracted settlement (Wayland, 1927: 241,
Blacksmith shops operated throughout the countryside, and 2 total of nine were listed for the
county’s towns in 1833 (Martin: 450-432).

With the loss of sorthern and European iron suppliers during the Civil War, the Confederacy
turned to Virginia’s ron industry to supply plate, ratlroad vails, and other essential articles. The
Tredegar ron Works in Richmond, one of the South’s leading manufacturers, feased Caroline,
Columbia, and Fort furnaces during the war (Bruce: 3713, Federal commuanders were not
anaware of the importance of the furnaces 1o the Southern war effort, and most i oot all of the
furnaces were destroyed or disabled during the war,

Cnher materials were mined in Shenandoah County during the antebellum peried.  Manganese
are was recovered from several locations along the upper waters of Cedar Creek beginning in
the [%30s, and i is claimed that these were among the carliest manganese mines m the nation
(Moore and Miller: 19). Small coal deposits were mined during the period, providing enough
fuel o supply local foundries and blacksmith shops (Rogers: 99, Moore and Miller: 22y A
small fead and silver mine was opened one mile southeast of Moore’s Store i 1839, and
reopened in 1869 and again in 1B93 (Wine: 181}

Crucial © the sgriculiural economy of the county were the large grist mills and four mills that
stood along streams throsghout the central valley.  The largest of these milly wore pabti-story
fog or heavy frame buildings with massive stone foundations. Mills were targeted by Federal
peneral Sheridan in his destructive campaign of 1864, but a number of rural antebellum mills
smanaged o survive. Among these are the Forestville Mill (83 ), the Stoner Mill {85-K33, the
Spengler Mill {85-173, the Swartz Mill (B5-80), and the Walion Mill { 85-26). At the Stickley
Farm (85-13) on Cedar Creek are the stone foundations of two mills dating o the sighicenth and
carly nineteenth centuries. Hoth mills feature segmental- and round-arched door and wheel-pit
openings and other finely crafted masonry features.

A il of 2 ditferem son is the Morgan-Rinker Woolen Mill (83-502), located on Mill Creek just
outside Mt Jackson, Through much of the eerly and mid-ninsteenth century, the Morgan-Rinker
mill was the only woolen mill in operstion in the county. The two-story heavy frame building
features a limestone basement story with a fireplace, crane, and remaants of 8 laler tmato
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canning operation, and an wiic with an unussal roof structure. Another antebelum industry of
importance to the county was the tanning of animal hides 1o make leather. The aforementioned
Walton Mill may alse have functioned as 3 tannery. At Zepp in the northers corer of the
county are the remains of a mid-nincteenth-centary tannery {83-46).

Muost Shenasndoah County iron frpaces were repaired or rebuilt afier the Civil War, Some, such
a5 Caroline Furpace. were never refurned 1o blast. Al least one new furnace was established
after the war: the Boyer or Mine Run furnace in Fort Valley (85-45). The Boyer furnace was
built in 1872 but closed within two years as a result of disrsptions in the national market (Bland).
The furnaces that survived the war also faced an uncertain future, as the larger and more efficient
Northern iron industry pained dominance. The posthellum history of the Columbia and Libenty
furnaces Hlustrates the lenuous charscter of the tocal industry. Columbia Purnace operated is
fits and starts sfter the war, In the mid-1880s it came under the controf of the Philadelphia-
pased Columbian and Liberty tron Company. which then went into receivership in 1886
Froduction at Columbia apparently ended in 1886, with the company focusing instead on Liberty,
1o which it constructed & parrow-gauge railroad in 1891 (Wayland, 1927: 237). Large casting
houses and other timber and brick structures had been built at Liberty by 1900, and tn 1907
Liberty produced twenty-five tons of hot blast charcoal tron per day. Liberty Furnace closed
shortly thereafter, a victim of aotiguated technology. finlie timber reserves, and outside
competiion {Shen. Co. Biven, Com.: 40; Watson: 431}

Contemporaneous with the posthellom furnaces were a number of forges and foundries, me of
these was the foundry of Nathasiel Armentrout, operated at Moores Store in the 1860s, 187(s,
anid 18805 before moving to Belgrade Post Office in the 18%0s {Wine: 38-3%; Lake; Chataigne,
18%4-1885, 1893). And. as before the war, blacksmith shops fourished, with as many a3 forty-
five advertising their services at the end of the century, and probably many more maintained on
a private basis for common farm repairs and horse shoeings (Chataigae, 1883y,

Limestons was quartied for construction purposes in the cighteenth century] many of the
surviving {definitively dated) cighteenth-comury houses in Shenandogh County are constracted
of the indigenous limestone. In the mid- and late nincteenth contury, farmers constructed hime
kilns for the conversion of stone inte Hime for agricultaral purposes (Wayland, 1927: 354}
Severs! of these small masonry Hime kilns have been identified in the Zepp vicinity, and one near
Wheatfield (85-450) has been surveyed (Shall: 185). Limestone quarrying was begun on 2 large
scale in the late nincieenth century. Between 1890 and 1910, as many a5 five companies openad
pit and shaft mines in the Strasburg Junction vicinity. Most of the limestone was greund and
ihen burned in cyvhindrical iron kilns to produce agricultural Bme.  Ome historian of the
Shenandoah County Himestons industry reports that as many as 230 men were employed by the
fime plants, with "others occupied in conpected businesses, furnishing wood, coal, coke, barrels,
staves, eto.” (Shull: 713 As office, storage bullding, and possible gate Bouse assoviated with
g Himestone guarry &t Srasburg Junction have heen identified by the survey (83-154).
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The mitling industry continued into the laie nincteenth century, with many of the mills that were
destroyed during the Civil War recomstracted in the postbellum period. One postbebium midh of
note is the Armentrout Mill in Moore’s Store (83-37). a beavy frame bodlding built on the stone
foundations of an earkier mill that hurned arcund 1870, Connected with the Armentrout Mill is
a long one-story frame shed that hmctioned ax a sawmill,  Another late- pineteenth-contury
sawmill is the Sheete Sgwmill (85- 1963, a ruinous two-story weatherboarded frame building that
migy have been powered by a wrbine. On another Sheetz property is small frame building that
functioned a5 g saw mall office (83-223)

Tanning remgined an baportant industry untl the end of the ninetzenth coptury. in 1868,
Thomas Cover established a large-scale tannery on Cedar Creek at the Shepandosh-Froderick
county line. Known as the Star Tannery, the facility wncluded tanning vats, 4 bark barn, and log
worker housing (Shull: 27-29). Smaller tanneries were operated on farms and i and neay a
sumber of Shenandoah County towns and villages such as Alonzaville, Conicville, Poresgvilic,
Toms Brook, and Zepp {{mech, 1893, One of the last of these small-scale tanneries was
the Zirkle Tanvard near Moont Clifton, which may have ceased operations by 1900 (Wayland,
19270 35343

Many farms have property sub-types associated with some small-scale indusirial activity,
Blacksmith shops were common; one on the Filizmyers Farm (85-48() has 4 stone forge and a
targe fip-down shutter used to Hght the interior and dissipate beat. The George Minnick Farm
13% 411} has 2 log outbuilding that served a5 Minnick’s chalr and coffin shop during the second
half of the ninetoenth century.  Another cofhin and geseral carpentry shop was constracted by
Joseph €. Lowas in 1922 {,83‘?«&34}. The Lonas shop 18 2 two-story frame building with 2
commercial gable-fronted form.

World War § o Workd War I 18171945,

Shemandoah County’s once prolific ron industry was defunct by the second decade of the
twenticth contury, but the mining and processing of other materialy continged. Beginning in
19203, the Hy-Grade Manganese Company developed an exiensive mangagese muing Operation
in the northern Gp of the county. By 1930 the company had excavated over 6,000 feet of wnmels
m Mineral Ridge {(Moore and Miii&r 19y, Limesione production remained an important
industry, especially in the arca around Strashurg, Toms Brook, and Forestvitle. Mear the latter.
a guarey was opened about 1925 that has remained in continuous operation 1o the present {Wine:
1823, The development of electric power and its extession o rural areas throughount the state
lead to the development of the Dove Farm Power Station (83-164), presently a powred concrets
rin,
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Puncrary Theme

Early Natiosal Perod (1790-1825)
The Shesandoah County survey focused maindy on architectural resources; consequently , minimal
information was pathered on the coanty’s historic cemeteries.  Alse, what jaformation that was
gathered is far from svstematic. Nevertheless, a fow generalizations may be made concerning
the county’s early funerary art and spatial planning. First, grave markers definitively dated to
the eightenth cemtury are relatively rare.  Probably most early markers were fieldstones or
woosden planks that were never inscribed or have had their inscriptions weathered away. Second.
most early cemeteries appear o be family plots, or plols used by several families living in a
refatively small area. Some of these family plots are walled, soch g the large cometery o8 e
Painter Farm nesr Humburg (oot surveyedy,  Barly church cemeteries are infrequent, mainly
because early chorches are infrequent.  As the number of churches increased with time, and as
churches became more stable, church cemederies also morsased.

Aptehelin jod (1R30- 18600
Civil War (15861-1865)

More dated grave markers survive in the rural areas of Shenandoah County from the late
antebellnm period than from preceding periods. Several factors may account for this! moreasing
population stability--less frequent out-migration; increasing population numbers; the relatively
younger age of later grave markers, hence a greater survival rate! and increasing personal wealth
acoompanied by a desive for greater gentility in funcrary practices, leading to the carving of
larger, more durable, and more elaborate inscribed markers. A notsble headsione from the
period is the Emily Bo{?iner marker in the cemptery gt Mount Pleasant Luatheran Church (not
surveved) in the northern corner of the county. The Bonwer headstone features a winged cherub,
a motif associated with Mew England gravestwones of the cightoenth century.  The headstone is
no longer dated owing to spalling of the soft sandstone out of which it is made. More typical
in form but late in execution 18 the headstone of L. R, Zimweraan, located in the churchyard
of Zion Lutheran Church near Columbia Purnace (85-440). The Zimmerman stone is dated 1842
and is carved in the so-called Georglan form with a complex curved top.  Headstones fashioned
out of white marble or oiher fine imporied and indigenous stone, snd carved with weeping
willows amd other popular sinclesnth-century motifs, began to appear in rural areas by the end
of the antebellom period. Two headstones in the Zirkle Cemetery near Forestville bear German
inscriptions (Wine: 523, A set of headstones in the cometery of Solomon’s Chuarch (85-113) bear
star motis in their tympanums that may be German i inspiration.

Drespite the trend towands greater permuanence, crude, less durable grave markers were still used.
A collection of {now sndated) wooden markers that are prehably typical of the period susvive
at the Wetzel Cemetery near Cohumbia Furnace (85-404). These markers have bulbous head-hike
tops {or tympanums) flanked by smaller epaulet-ike projections, and may be wmodeled va the
Georgian gravestones of the eighteenth and first half of the ninctecnth centuries, Fieldstone
markers gpparently continued i use.
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Seversl anonymous versacular stone cervers operated in the mountainous sections of the county
during the mid-nineteenth contury. A stone carver in Fort Valley carved smiall but eiegemt
sandstone markers with floral and star motifs during the 1850s and ewrly 18605 that appear m
the Clom Cemetery (85-4532) and the Mclnnef Cemetery (oot surveyed), On the apposite side
of the county in the Biller € emetery south of Orkney Springs (85-413), a less accomplished but
imaginative stone carver produced a headstone for Blijah Estep, who died in 1864 or 18563, The
Estep marker is fashioned out of a sandsione flagsione and features a delicate sawtooth border

arcund a crude inscription and g feather {or gmasmie tree of life motif) scratched 1nto one corner.

Two nnusual cast-iron grave markers susvive in the yards of St. James and 8. John's churches
at Hudson Crossroads. Une marker is identified as that of David H. Armentrout (1857-1838),
the son of Nathaniel and Lucinda Armenirowt. Nathaniel Armentrout operated & foundry at
Moores Store in the late 1860s and 1870s and possibly earlier. It seems likely that he had the
marker made for his infant son at bis own opworks.

Reconstruction and Growth (1266-1916)
World War 1o World War 11 (1817-1945%)

Family cemeteries continued in use through the early twentieth century in Shenandoah County,
hat thelr importance diminished compared to the increasing popularity of church cometerieos. By

1900, most rural churches were surrounded by even rows of marble and granite headstones and
ohelisks,  Few if any of the county’s rural ‘church pemeterics mamgmmtw advanced design
concepts such as the winding drives and walkways that were common in urban cemeteries of the
late ninctepmh contury, Most church cometeries are fenced. The cemetery of Columbia Purnace
Union Church (85-403) is surrounded by an immense polygonal mestone wall that may have
Been built with the church in 1854, or that may date w the period of the eartiest dated mterments
shortly after the Civil War,

The county’s inhabitants experimented with new materinls such as concrete for grave markers.
In the cemptery of Patmos Evangelical Lutheran Church near Woodsiock {85-460) is a pressed
metal marker fashioned for the Rev. William M. Kibler, who died in 1803,

Stone carvers signed thelr work more often during the peripd. A carver samed Jordan who
worked in marble and indigenous samistone produced markers for the Biller Cometery (85-413)
and the Funkhouser Cemetery (85-424) near Orkney Springs in the 18605 and 1870s. A carver
named Allin, operating out of Woodstock during the 18705 and 18805, created marble obelisks
and recumbent Jamb markers for the Columbia Purnace Union Church cemetery (85-4033, E.
Redfern also carved marble sarkers during the period,

A maker of woden prave markers has been idemified for the perind.  Coffin maker and
undertaker Joseph . Lonas, who plied hs trade in the Orkney Springs ares from the 189G
through the 1920s, made stmple grave markers by sawing the comners off of an 8"-wide 30" -tong
plank and carving the initials of the deceased on the front. {An example of a polnted wooden
marker shmilar 1o the ones Lonas made, sithough now lacking an inscription, survives in g small
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grave plor behind Bethany Chorch pear Cohunbia Farnace.) The Lonas wooden axarkers wore
gsually meant o serve only until the family of the deveased could save mney for 8 mone
permsanent memorial, but often they were never replaced {(Lonas imterview, see 83-4143.

Setticment and Ethnicity Theme

Fior the colonial and the Revolutienary War periods, county soumerations of tithables were the
only population statistics collected in Shenandoah County. The first relatively accurate data on
the county’s population was gathered in 1783 as part of a statowide epmneration, In that year,
Shenandoah County reported 7,908 white inhabitants (95 8% ) and 347 black inhabitanis (4.2%}.
The first national census in 1790 reported a population of 10,310 persons, including 512 slaves—-
representing 4.9% of the total-and 19 individuals classified as “free colored.” In 1790,
Shenandosh County was less populous than its agighbor to the north, Frederick County, which
had 2 population of 19,681, Also, the number of slaves in Shenandoah County was absohstely
and proportienally far Jess than in Frederick, where the slave population of 4,250 amounted 10
31.6% of the county total. In fact, Shenandoah County had fewer slaves than any county in the
present state with the exception of Washington County in far Southwest Virginia.

The population of the county rose steadily through the first decades of the nineteenth century,
reaching 19,750 in 1830, During the same period, the slave and free black populations rose at
2 faster rate than the over-all population. By 1830, the slave population numbered 2423, or
12.3% of the il population, and the mumber of free blacks had risen 10 45%. Although
migration into the county had subsided by the 1780s, the opening of Kentucky and Tennessee
1 semtlement after the Revolutionary War precipiated 3 massive movement of peoples through
the area (Mitchell: §7). The white population of the county remained predominately German n
ethmic origin. The German language and other aspects of German culture persisted and even
flourished in the county through the first third of the nineteenth century (Mitchell: 106y, Fhnio
cohesion was entanced by German-language newspapers such as the Volkberichier of Mew
‘Market (Wust: 1171

Antebelium Period (38301860

The formstion of Page and Warren counties from sections of Shenandoah County during the
14305 reduced the iotal population from 19,7530 in 1830 to 11,618 in 1840, according to the
federal comsus, Thereafier the county’s population grew steadily and moderately, reaching
13,496 in 1860, The stave population of the county also declined abruptly during the 18305, o
1.033 individuals in 1840, Some of this decline is attributable o the redoction i the counly
area, vet the 1840 slave population represented 2 smaller propurtion of the total population than
in 1830, a decline from 12.3% 10 B.9%. The dechine continued through the antebelum period;
in 1860, the stave population represented only 5.4% of the total population, almost &y fow &
proportion as in 1790, The reasons for the proportional rise in the Shenandeah County slave
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population during the early ninctoenth century have not been studied, nor s the antebelhum
decline. 1t may be conjectured, however, that the dechne is associated with the tightening of
Virginia’s slave codes following Nat Turnet’s 1831 slave rebellion, and with the evolution of
ihought concerning slavery in the county’s German churches. Contrary o the trend 18 the slave
population, Shesandoah County's free black community remained stable during the antebellum
period at 2.3% of the total population in both 1830 and 1864,

Civil War (1861-186%)

World War | o World War 1 (98171945

The principal demographic trend of the eighty-yoar period from the end of the Civil War w the
end of World War 1 was the growth in sumber and population of Shenandoah County’s principal
towns and outlying villages.

Table 2. Populations of Shenandeah County communites, 1R17 (M, 1917 946-8948).

Bowspans: 20 Hepners: 3 Quicksburg: 73

Capon Road: 40 Yerome: 100 Saint Davids Church: 20
Carmel: 20 Lante Mills: 30 Seven Fountatns: §0O
Colombia Fumace: 70 Lebanon Charch: 73 Shepandoah Alum Springs: 10
Conicville: 50 Liberty Furnace: 23 Srashurg: 762

Deerrick: 60 Macanie: 18 Strashurg Junction: 40
Fdinburg: 374 Maurertown: 130 Toms Brook: 200

Bdih: 23 Moores Store: 40 Wheatficld: 17

Fishers Hill: 28 Mount Jackson: 479 Woodsteck: 1,314
Porestvitte: 110 New Markst: 638 Zepp 100

etz 5 Orkney Springs: 23

Hawkinstown: 73 Pelton: 16

Architecture Theme

Early Nationsl Period {1790-1825)

The carliest dwellings in Shenandoah County were probably of log and stope constraction. 1og
and stone huilding were typical of the source vegions of the county’s German settlers and were
the common building materials of the formative Pennsylvania Culture Region. The county’s non-
German settlers probably adopted 1og and stone building from thewr German aeighbors, Prame
and brick domestic construction may also have been practiced in the county during the first hatf-
century of senifement, although no examples of eightecnth-contury frame or brick houses hgve
been positively identified.  Several instances of full-dovetadl log corper notching have been
identified, namely the Dellinger-Vetter House (83-487) and the original howse on the Craip-

Hepner Farm (85-433), but the dominant notching techniyue (at least in the pingtoenth contury}
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was v-notching.  V-uotching was uncommon e the Gerown source regions of the county’s
settlers, Some cultural historians have supgested that the techniyue was imtroduced © the Mid-
Atlantic by Scandinavian settlers and adopted by Gernans, Scotch-Irish, and others (Jordan and
Kaupps: 141-1513

Stylistically, Shenandoah County’s surviving architecture hegins with the Georglan style. Several
late-zighteenth/earty-nineteenth-contury houses such as Rellview Farm (&5~ ) and the Waggoner-
Foltz House (85-482) have second-stary fireplaces with stmple architrave mantels indicative of
the Georgian stvle. As of yet, sophisticated Georgian styling has not been encountered i the
county.

The majority of houses dating to the first third of the ninctoenth century for which carly inferiors
sprvive are detailed in the Federal style. Three cutstanding examples of Federal stvling arg ML
Alry (85-18), Spengler Hall (85-9), and M. Pleasant (83-71). ML Adry, a two-story double-pile
stone house dating to the 1790s and later, has an el and side wing that contain elaborately carved
Federal mantels of a vernacutar character. (The mantels in the principsl first-story rooms of the
house are carved from dmported black and gold marble and may represent an sntebellum
vemodeling.y  Spengler Hall, sitvated on a bluff above the Valley Road at the sonth end of
Strasburg, s a two-story. five-bay, Flemish-bond brick house with 3 double-pilc center-passage
plan. Throughout the house are delicately carved mamels and press surrounds featuring fan-like
otifs and covered urns. Mt Pleasant is @ two-story brick house located on a blaff above Cedar
Creek porth of Strasburg.  The house features quarter-round windows in the gables, fan-light
emirics, a venter-passage with an archway, arched niches flanking the fireplace inong parior, and
several imaginative mantels. Federal-style houses are typically less elaborate than the examples
ciied gbove. The two surviving mantels in the fiest story of the Funkhouser House on Ry, 263
{83-433) are more reflective of the porm, relying on veeding and multiple delicate moldings for
much of their visual appeal.

Ome early architectural detail that deserves treatment hear 15 8 distinctive door hinge pintel style
fsat has been noted at four sies in the midsection of the county. Based on contextual
information, the piniels date to the period around 1800, They were produced by  single talented
niacksmith or school of blacksmiths and featare twisting of the stem forming the support for the
pintel.  The pintels have been observed on doors in the Van-Barton House {85-401). the
Waggoner-Foliz House {85-482}, and the Guochenour-Foltx House (not surveyed), and reused on
4 farm building at site 85-437. A closer study of locally manufactared hardware such a3 swisted
pintels can, in combination with stylisto analysis, prove helpful in modeling the carly
architectural history of the county.

Antebelium Period (18381860}
Civil War (1861-1805%)

The late antebellam period witnessed the eclipse of the Federal style by the Greek Revival style
i Shepandosh County, part of & process that occurred stmultanecusly throughout the nation.
Probably the larpest and most elaborate Greek Revival bouse in the county is the Hupp House
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outside Strashurg (85-8), # huge portivoed brick mansion that Bunctioned as the 504t of one of
the county’s largest landholdings during the antebeflum period. More typical of the rural Greek
Revival dwellings of the poriod is the Rinker-Bowman House {85-4300, a two-story center-
passage-plan bouse of weatherboarded frame comstraction dating to about 1840, The house
features & two-Her pabled portico and fiveplaces with simple trabeated surronnds.

Adided to the roster of traditional construction technigues practived in the county during the
antebellum period is a form of building that entails stacking dimensional sawn lumber 10 form
she walls of the ouse, Three houses have been identified in the northern section of the county’s
central valley that employ this unusual and seemingly wasteful construction technigue; the Cook
House (85-3843, the Keller-Humphries Houose (83-3671, and the James W, Smoot House {B5-484;
not vet surveyedy, The Cook House, helieved 1o date o arcund 1840, stands adjscent to the site
of 7 mid~- and late-nineteenth-century sawmill (Gilmer; Lake).

Reconstruction and Growth (1866-1916}
World War 1o World War 11 (1817-19435;

Shepandoah County architecturs is notable for the dazzling array of painting technigues ermployed
i the decoration of its domestic interiors. Much of the finest painting dates 1o the second half
of the ninclcenth century, although sotble examples survive from bedore and after the period
as well, Technigues ranged from the ebiguitous grafning and marbling {the simulation of wood
aram and marble or other stone} ® less common stone blocking (a suhcategory of marbling),
smuking (the use of a sooty thame to make designs in fresh paint), stenciling (the use of & stencil
to cregie repetitive designs), scenic painting (the depiction of landscapes or other figural scenes),
and rrompe Dviel (the simulation of three-dimensional detaiting). Nearly ail houses have some
form of interior painting, whether it be simple whitewashing of exposed log walls or exiravagant
polychromatic displays keyed to architectural elements. Wall-papering survives primarily in lale-
nincteenth- and carly-twenticth-centary mteriors.

Several early three-room German houses vetain traces of original painting. The massive fueplace
tintel in the kuche of the E. Frye House (85-477) was painted a garish carmine red. The dutch
doors uf the Dellinger-Vetter House (85-487) are painted sember black and grees; a daich door
in the Waggoner-Foltz House (85-482) is patnted dark brown and green.  An early example of
stenciling survives in an upstairs hallway of Spengler Hall (83-9). The stenciling-2 10w of red
urns linked by swag-like motifs—is in keeping with the early-ningteenth-century Federal styling
¢f the house.

Perhaps the most spectassler display of decorative painting in the county i te be found in Yesper
Hall (R5-73), & Greek Revival brick bouse of the mid-nineteenth centary with parior walls and
ceiing painted in trompe {olel 1o simulate molded plasterwork.  Vesper Hall abso preserves
rempants of stone blocking in the stairway to the atic. A comtemporaneous house koown 38
Green Hope (B5-124) features similar srompe {'olef painting, and the Jonathan Harpise House
{8S-42%) of about 1870 featured blocking in the conler passage until a recent venovation. In
comtrast w the refinement of Vesper Hall and Groeen Hope are the interiors of more veraacular
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dwellings such as an sbandoned house near Lebanon Church (§5-463), which has a downstayrs
room with an entire partition grained in vivid brown and yellow, anid green and red stenciling
on the exposed cetling joists. Ancther dramatic example is the mid-nineteenth-contury James W,
Smoot House (85-484; not vet surveyedd, Green, brown, and cream paint was applied to the
house’s interior doors by @ painter who used his hand and fingers as his paint brush, creating
paisleys and other repetitive free-form figures, The Armentromt House { 85-34) m Moores Storg
has 2 Federal mantel and basshoards with smoked finishes said t have been produced with
wiow candles.

fiile is known abowt the artists who were responsible for the county’s painted interiors.
Evidence from other communities would indivate that much of the painting was the work of
itinerants, although the frequency of the painting in Shenandoah County may point to home-
grown talent {Phillips: 1563, Oune local artist for whom there is ample documentation is William
£ Rupp, who emigrated to the United States from Germany in 1854 and later bved in Loray and
possibly Mew Market. In 1872 Rupp painted a fresce of "Bliad Justice” iny the Shenandoab
County Courthouse, and be is believed t have executed the partor and hallways of Vesper Hall
{Bauserman, 96-98; Painter, Shenandoeh County and Jts Courthouse: x3. Rupp’s work probably
also survives at Green Hope and (unti recently) the Jonathan Harpine House. Contractor DG
“Vyreen” Clanghan, who built @ lavish Queen Anne farmbouse for himself near Hamburg in 1904
1902 (854413, is belioved 1o have executed the dark brown knotty graining on the doors of the
house.

Government/ Law/ Political Theme

Few resources associated with this theme were identified by the survey. The virtual absence of
such rescurces i Jargely due to the rural character of the project area. Post offices, which may
considered to belong under this theme, are discussed under the commerce theme due 1o the fact
that most were adjuncts of general merchandise stores during the nineteenth and early twentisth
COntnrs,

Socigl Theme

Fow resources associated with this theme were identified by the survey. The virtual abseace of
such resources 1S largely dog to the rural character of the project area.  General merchandise
stores and schoothonses probably provided meeting space to fraternal and other orgamizations m
most rural communities.

Technology and Engineering Theme

Property types sssociated with s theme--roads, bridges, railroads, etc.—are discussed under the
fransportation theme,



The New Dominion: 1946 Present

Shenandoah County at the end of the twentieth century rensains a predominately rural area, with
vestork and poultry production constituting the basis of the county’s agricotiure.  In fact,
Shenandosh County was the eighth largest turkey producing county in the nation in 1960
(Virginia Division of Industrial Development and Planning).  Froi srowing and shipping are
important agribusinesses, Most industry is located in the county’s larger towns, with only g few
farge planis located in rural greas.

The county's transportation network was transformed in the 196Us with the construction of
interstate %1, paralicling the route of the eighteenth-contury Valley Road.  Intersaic &1 has
increased the amount of astomobile and truck raffic passing through the county, resulting in an
ceonamic hoost to existing communities and the formation of new commercial nodes at highway
interchanges. Despite the gradual hard-surfacing of secondary roads, Shenandoah County has
smany gravel roads,

in 1960, the county had 7,208 housing units {Virginia Division of Industrial Development and
Plannings.  Since that time, additional units have been added, primarity in suburban
neighhorhoods established on the peripheries of the larger towns. Smaller subdivisions have been
made in rural areas, mainly along highway frontages. The one-story hrick-cased ranch house
was the housing form of choice during much of the second half of the century.
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Vil. RESEARCH DESIGN

The main objectives of the Shenandosh County Historic Landmarks durvey were 10 survey 350
fistoric resources and to evaluate the significance of those resources. To achieve these ends, the
consualtant engaged in ay initial information-gathering phase involving pholocopying pre-existing
survey files curated at the VIHR, and trauscribing site location information from VIR survey
maps to 2 set of USGS field maps. This initial phase also invelved discussions between the
consubiant, YIIHR staff, and members of the Shenandoah County Historical Society, inchuding
4 pre-survey meeting in Woodstock on January 6, 1993, The consultant then proceeded o
conduct 8 windshield reconmissance of the county in order to determing the number and location
of historic Tesonroes, These resources were map-coded on USGS field maps according to thetr
survey potential. Special symbols were used o denote whether a resource appeared 16 warrant
intensive or reconmuaissance survey, of whether (spon cursory investigation) the resource appeared
1o retain fabric over fifty vears in age that did not, however, appear to warrant survey under the
scope of work defined for the project.  The information geined during the windshield
reconnatssance acquainted the consultant with the type, density, and distribution of resources,
and enhanced planning for later phases of the survey. VDHR staff accompanied the consultant
during several days of reconnaissance 10 assist in making judgements about the level of survey
that would be apprupriate for a piven resource, Priority was given to pre-1860 resources and
1 representative examples of resources dating 1o the period 1860 to 1943, An attempl was made
10 select resources that illestrated a range of bullding types and histore functions, Dwe o the
wealth of resources in rural Shenandoah County, not all pre-1860 resources were surveyed.

Reconnaissance survey of what nitimately grew w become 329 resources commenced in January
and concluded in May., Wagner, Smead, Hudiow, and Pezzoni were provided with the map-
coded field maps to enable them to locate snd survey the sites marked for reconnaissance survey
during the windshield reconnaissance. The surveyors drove every passable public road that was
determined to have survey sites or that had ot boen driven during the windshield reconnaissance.
Reconmissance sies were surveyed to VDHR specifications; that is, the recording of the salient
exterior architectsral features for historic builtings and owbuildings, the pathering of historic
information on the sites when that information was provided by owners and/or other mfprmants,
the preparation of simple site and/or bullding plan skewches, and the taking of two or more black-
and-white photographs per site.

Concurrent with the reconnaissance survey, Kalbian and Pezzoni conducted intensive survey of
thirty-cight resources,  As determined with the input of YDHR siaff, priority was given 1o
cotlections of notable resources such as villages and usincorporated towns, the cartiest buildings
and farm complexes, and buildings koown or discoversd o have outstanding architectural
ualities such as unusual plans or fine crafismanship. The intensive survey was more in-depth
than the reconnaissance survey, involving the inspection of interiors, the preparation of site-plan
sketches and {ofien) principal building floor plan sketches, the taking of ten or more back-and-
while photographs per site, and the taking of color slides.  Information on individual sites
sarveyed af both the reconnaissance and intensive levels was entered o IPS. For rural
commanities, VISHE Preliminary Information Porms were prepared,
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Before, during, and after survey, rescarchers Pezzont and Reynolds gathered relevant historical
infarmation, The researchers relivd mostly on the copious secondary sources relating w0 the
county’s historic development. In addidon, the researchers gathered and analyzed sgricubture,
indusiry. and population statistics from the United States census, and they spade & Cursory
analysis of nineteenth-century county tax records. This information, combined with the analysis
of the findings of the sarvey itself, provided the basis fur the discussion of historic contexis and
property types, and also assisted in the preparation of Preliminary Information Forvs for rural
communiies,



Wik, SURVEY FINDINGS

The Shemandoah County Historic Landmarks Survey resulted in the docwmentation of 364
resuurces located disproportionately throughout the county and representing & range of historic
periods. As one might expect, the greatest concentration of respurces was in the central valley,
the targest and most intensively setiled physiographic section of the county. In the valley are
Jocated the largest farm complexes. the earliest surviving houses, the finest works of domestic
architecture, and the majority of the county’s rural communities.  Rescurce densities ity the
central valley are patterned.  Significant resources are grouped alony the Shenandoal River and
iributaries where the highest guality farmland was available, amd they are found i greater
sumber along the Valley Road and in the vicinity of the major wowns where commercial and
cultural opportunities existed.  Most of the many hundreds of historic resources thal were
identified bat not surveyed are located in the contral valley. The density of these resources
contributes to the historic character of the central valley landscape. Cenain areas exhibit an
architectural and historic tichmess, a high level of inteprity, and @ relative lack of modern
intrusions that may warrant comsideration for the National Register after additional survey 18
conducted. {See the recommendations section of s report for a wore dewiled discussion of
these greas.}

The rugpedness of the terrain in the mountainons eastern and westers sections of the county and
the penerally poorer quality of the soils deterred seitlement in those sections, resulting in smaller
farms, fewer carly bouses, and a refative lack of rural communities.  Although the sastern and
western sections are sparser than the central valley in a quantitative sense, those sections have
the potential io preserve resources associated with more sraditional mountain Hifeways that are
fess well represented in the valley. The fact that much of the county’s mountain land &5 located
in the George Washingion Mational Forest, which was excluded from the survey, made the Jack
of resources appear progler than is traly the case.

The reguirements and methodology of the sarvey have resulied in a temporal distribution of
surveved resources that probably diverges from the e distribution of gll historic resources.
For exsmple, the survey focused on resources that appeared antedate the Civil War, with Iess
attention paid to late-nincteenth- and early-twenticth-century resources.  These latier resonrces
srobably far outnumber antebelium resources, owing to the younger age and hence statistically
higher survival rate of posthellum resources and also to the fact that more reseurces were built
afer the Civil War.  Another factor affecting the observed distribution of resowrces is the
inherent difficulty of deting vernacalar resourses that are surveved at the reconnaissance level,
and even some vernaculsr resources thal are surveyed at the intensive level. The absence of
stylistic features, the persistence of styles in roral areas, the persistence of raditiona] construction
practices {for example, heavy timber framing of barns into the mid-twentieth century), the
recyeling of elder fabric in more recent construction, sad the Incorporation of older dwellings
inte newer ones or the tharough refurbishing of older dwellings—all these factors complicate the
dating of resources and can skew vbserved distribugions in unpredictable ways.

With these qualifying factors in mind, it is possible to make some tontative statements CORCOTRING
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the temporal distribution of historic resowrces in the rural areas of Shemandoah {County,
Bighteenth-century resources appear to be rare, although intonsive architectural and archival
documentation of powentially early rescurces muay vaise the number of examples. Riylistic
evidence sugpesis many more resources survive from the first quanter of the nineteenth century,
with 4 linesr increase through the second, third, and fourth decades of the century. The increase
in building activity after the Civil War--the result of the dramatic expansion 18 agricultural
production and the growth in the number of farms during the perind, coppled with a modest nise
in the county’s population-—is the cause of the observed abondance of posthelium resources. The
first half of the twenticth century may have witnessed 2 slowing of the rate of increase in
vesources {although the sbsolnte number of resoures continued t grow) as development shifted
from the agricnlturally-oriented countryside 1o the indusirial and service-oriented MEIOT IOWDS.
This nuy account for the apparent equality in the sumber of late-nineteenth-contury and party-
twentieth-century resources.

The survival rates of specific kinds of resources do not necessartly obey the general trends
outlined above. More houses of the county’s wealthier inhabitanis survive from earlier periods
than oo the smaller and less permanently constructed houses of less affluent imhabitams.
Relatively few barns remain from the astebetlum period--a direct consequence of Sheridan’s
barn-burning campaign in 1864--but many survive from the period of rebuilding that followed
the war. Public schools, built in large numbers during the late ninvteenth and early twenticth
cenuries. have g poor survival rate, the result of consolidation in the second quarier of the
twenticth century and the subsequent sbandonment of smatler school baildings or their copversion
mie dwillings.



1X., EVALUATION

Considering the wealth of historic resources in vural Shenandoab County, the resources that were
surveyed during this first relatively comprehensive survey effort rank among the muost sigmificant
historic sites in the county. Many of these resources probably meet the criterta for hsting in the
Mational Register of Historic Places and the Virginia Landmarks Register. However, given the
inherent Hmitations of the swvey, definite stmements of cligibility can only be made for
individual boildings and farms that have been nvestigated on the interior, and ihat clearly
represent & resonroe of opistanding historic or architectural merit.  For most of the thirfy-eight
resources documented at the intensive level, determinations of eligibility should wait until & fuller
sample of potentially eligible sites is achieved. The same bolds true for most of the 326
reconnaissance sites, with the added stipulation that g given resource be surveyed at the intensive
tevel and that additions! historic documentation be gathered.

pational Register eligibility is determined hy evaluating resources according o certgin federal
guidelines. The "National Register Criteria For Evaluation” are a8 follows:

Criterion A Properties that are associated with events that have made & significant
contribution o the broad patierns of our bistory,

Criterion B: Properties that are associated with the Rves of persons significant in
OuF Bast.

Criterion (U  Properties that embudy the distinctive charscteristics of & type, period,
ar method of construction or that represent a sigaificant and distinguishable
entity whose components nmy lack individusl distinction,

Criterion D30 Properties that have yielded, or may be likely to vield, information
important in prehistory or history,

in addition to these criteria, 8 resource generally must be fifty vears or older at the time of
evalustion, and it must possess integrity.  There we also 8 pumber of considerations {or
exceptions) to the sbove criteria that are discussed more fully in National Register Hiteratare. For
the purposes of this report, the evaluation of resources is based solely on criterion © (see
reconmendations section below). Bligibility criteris for the Virginia Landmarks Register do not
differ substantially from the Mational Register oriteria.

A number of registration requirements must be satisfied for & given property o be determined
ehigible for the National Repister, These requiremenis differ for various property types, but for
properties being considered for listing under criterion Co-architeciural sigmificance--the
requirements are relatively straight-forward.  An architecturslly eligible property may be an
outstanding local exsmple of & particular style, with sophbisticated or otherwise notable massing,
plan acrangement, and exterior and interior defailing and finishes. For example, a large brivk
house dating to 1820 with origingl pordces, a spacious double-pile center-passage plan, and
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varied and beantifally crafied Federal mantelpicces might be eligible. A property may be a
representative example of @ distinctive or unusual construction technique, form, of plan, or it
may preserve a distinctive or unusual architectural feature.  For example, a foll-dovetail fog
nouse of the late eighteenth century with @ three-room German plas, a puncheon floor, aml a
cellar spring might be eligible, as would an early-twenticth-century village store with a well
defined pable-front-with-side-shed form and rubble and concrete nfilling between wall studs.

Architectural integrity is of more concern for criterion C properties than for properties evaluated
under other criteria. A property with good architectoral integrity preserves origingl or RiStonic
form and plan clements, detailing, and finishes. Yo other words, it stll bas i#s original or hustoric
appearance.  The loss or concealment of original or historic features lessens & property’s
architectural integrity. The phvsical condition of 2 property also factors into g determination of
its imtegrity; a rulnous property. even though # may retain many original festures, may have lost
its architectural inteprity on account of the siructural or cosmetic damage sustained by those
features. The integrity requirement may be relaxed if & given resource is of cutstanding menit.
tn other words, the integrity threshold for an early, rare, or otherwise exceptional property may
fve lower than that for & later or more common property.  Alterstions to a property, i they are
over fifty vears in age and are of architecrural significance in their own right, do not necessarily
detract from the istegrity of a propenty.

The integrity of a property’s surroundings is also of concern. A house surrounded by it yard
and early outbuildings vetains integrity of setting, but & house with a major highway and
ansympathetic development surrounding it may be considered to have lost its integrity of setting.
Generally, the relocation of a property damages its integrity in that ¥ removes it from Hs lstoric
context. Even in this case, however, there are qualifving factors; for example, many smaller
dwellings and farm buildings are inherenty movable, and their relocation is not necessarily ow
of keeping with therr historic ussge.

As noted above, determinations of elipibility for most surveyed respurces should wait until g
fuller sample of potentially eligible resources is obtained, probably after ancther round of survey.
However, the outstanding architectural character of seversl intensive sites warrants thelr
consideration at the present tme, since it I8 already clear that they rank among the most
significant architectural works in the county. These sites are listed below:

1. Barh Farm (853-87)

Constructed sround 1839 by Jasper Barb, the Barh Farm is a formidable example in
Shemandosh County of the Greek Revival Style executed in brick.  The properly’s
significance is further enbanced by the presence of 2 Jog. double-pen hank barn- one of
only a few identified in the conaty. The house gt Barb Farm was supposedly constructed
in 1832 by Jasper Barb. The exterior of the brick house is Iald in S-course American
bond and features: 3 wooden cornice with brackets and pendants; wooden lintels with
plain corner blacks above the paired 4/4 windows; Jouvered wooden shutters: 2 1-bay
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flat-routed portice with a balusirade; a hipped roof] four interior brick chimneys,
decorative door swrround with brackets, corner blocks and a broken transom and
sidelights; and a rear enclosed porch. The house is syuare in shape and has a double-pite
comter-passage plan. It has 2 full basement that opens to the back of ihe house, The
interior woodwork features buili-in cabinets; grawn-painted 4-panet doors; ramped,
pedimented-dour surrounds; and fairly plain mantels, some with Tudor-style arched
openings. There are 2 contributing outbuildings: a brick and stone, 2-story guest quarters
that was probably originatly 3 summer kitchen and has been highly remodeled; and a log,
y-sotched. dosble-pen hank barn with central threshing floor. The bara is sow clad in
corrugated metal siding. 1t sits on a stone basement. A painted signature was found on
one of the logs in the pens * E.J. Barb/1878". In addition, wooden hinges were also
found in the barn.  There is one non-contributing stone 2-car garage on the property.

2. Mount Ay {85-18}

Mt. Adry is an interesting example of a hate 18th-century sione dwelling comstrucied i3]
the Georgian style which has wnderpone several Federal-style additions and alierations.
The interior srehitectural details in the main house are extremely varied and ilustrate 8
large wocabulary of the Federal style. The property is not just significant for #s
architectural merit, but also for its large collection of 19th and 20th century agricultural
buildings, and #s role in the Batde of Rude’s Hill, This property appears to meet severgl
of the National Register Criteria covering a peried of close to 130 years. The original
2-story, S-bay, hip-roofed section of the house bas a central hall leading into & farge room
with two rooms off of one side. 1t appears that the floor plan might have been rewaorked
during the late 19th century. The mantel in the principal room on this first floor 13 made
entirely of black rmarble and featuses fluted Corinthian columns and a fluted frieze, This
mantel was moved o s present location from one of the two rooms (o the left of the
entrance hafl. The other room  the left of the doorway has the identical mantel. The
two rooms are separated by folding multi-paneled doors. The entrance doorways in this
part of the house are made up of 6-panel doors with @ round-arched fransom winidow
ahave with & sunbursi tracery pattern.  The doors are framed by Doric pilasters and the
arch above the wansom is capped with a keysione. The door reveals are fhat-paneled.
The first addition 1o the house appears to be the east wing, which is cpe story and ope
bay deep, and consists of two rooms which share a ventral chimney. The wondwork in
these rwo rooms, particularly the room o the wesi, is highly decorative. Both rooms
feature impressive woodwork inchuding wainscots, chair rails, cornices, busili-it cabdncts,
and maniels, The mantel in the first room is more decorative than the one in the other
and is Pederal in Inspiration. Off of this wing is snother which houses the bbrary. Us
south and west sides are of stone constraction and #s north and east sides wre of brck
construction. There are two early-20th century additions off of the north end of the main
block of the house. These correnstly house the dining room, kitchen, and pantry. 3
possible that this addition incorporates earhier fabric as indicated by the fine Foderd
mantel in the dining room. Mt Alry is complex house that needs much further study and
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investigation to be fully undersiond. Only the first story was open o suspection at the
time of the sie visit.

3. Mount Pleasant (83723

Consiructed around 1812 by Lt Isasc Bowman, son of the pioncer George Bowman, Mt
Pleasant 15 a large and sophisticated brick dwelling. The interior of the house features
elegant woodwork including original mantels, cupboards, Hooring, doors, and locks. The
property also features an attached stone kitvhen wing, 2 brick smokehonse, and several
sarky-20ih-century farm busldings. Mt Pleasant’s refined architectoral integrity is funther
enhanced by Hs pristine rursl setting, 1t i5 located abowt 172 mile south of Isaac
Bowman's father’s bouse, Port Bowman, on a bluff overlooking Cedar Creek. The
2-story, S-bay, symmetrical house foatures many interesting architectral detatly, The
exterior of the building 18 laid in Flemish-bond on the front and back and S-course
American bond on the sides. The gable moof is clad in slate and has two interior end
brick chimmeys. The house is crowned by a wooden corice with modillions and dentils.
The double-hung windows are crowned by stone lintels with keystones.  Clroular amd
semi-circular attic windows are found in the gable ends. The front of the house features
g t-bay pedimented portico with Tascan columns.  The front door s a double 4-panel
door and has 2 semi-circular transom with wooden tracery sbove. To the east end of the
house i3 2 1-story, 3-bay, attached, sione summer kitchen with an interior end stone
chimaney.  This appears ¢ have been constructed af the same lime as the main house.
The entire interior of the house features fine Pederal-style details. The eatrance hall
interesting because the stairs face the back door, not the front as would be expected. The
house has a center-passage, double-pile plan, Midway down the lengih of the center
passage is 4 pancled archway with a keystone that is supporied by Hoted pHlasters. The
woodwork throughout the howse includes chairrails. buili-in cupboards, paneled
wainscots, paneled door and window reveals, mantels with reeding, berringbone patterns
and thited pilasters. The second-story NW room features twe fine arched niches with &
kevstone supported by fluted columns (similar to the archway in the main hall). The
majority of the S-panel doors are sall intact as are box locks and some locks with
hand-forged escuicheons. The property includes five contributing buildings inclading:
a brick meathouse {19th century), 2 barn constructed using the mortise and tenon
technigue {ca. 1900); a small G-room tenant bouse {ca. 1930 & chicken coop: and various
other 20th-century frame farm cutbuildings. The property also includes & noncontributing
brick garage that was recently constructed,

4. Spengler Hall {85-9)
Spengler Hall is g fine example of an early th-centory brick dwelling copstracted in the

Federal siyle. Itz interior Federal-style detafls are highly sophisticated and mclude
ungsual stenciting. The front portice with s sguat baseless Doric colunsns was probably
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added later in the pineteenth century. The two-story, five-bay brick house is laid in
Flemish hond oo the front and S-course American bond on the sides and back. 1t foatures
a central door with a fankight with wooden tracery above on each floor. Above the doors
ihere aro rounded brick arches. The windows are nine-over-ning-sash, double-husngs on
the first floor and six-over-six double hungs on the second flopr. The windows have fine
hrick jack arches above them. The windows all have tonvered wooden shuners and the
fouse has two interior end brick chimmeys. The house has a rear brick ell that housed the
kitchen and servam’s quarters above. It is Jaid in S-course American bongd and bas a
central brick chimney. There are two contributing outbuildings: a brick t-story, 2-bay
stave guarters faid o S-vonrse American bond with an exterior end brick chimney and a
pable roof clad in wooden shingles; and a 1-story, 1-bay brick meathouse with an mterior
end hrick flue and 2 gable roof clad in wooden shingles.

5. Valhalia (85-96)

vallalls was supposedly constructed in the late 1Bth century. The woodwork in the
nouse, particularly the fancy mantel in the parlor, is of the Federal style and may suppont
such an early date. However, the property could have just as easily been constructed
the arly 19th century. It is unusual because the front, which faces river, has no enirance
except on the basement level. The house i associated with the Biedlor and Hockman
families. The parlor is the most exceptional ropm in the house. R features huilt-in
cabinets with flatpaneled doors, reeded Doric colamns as irim; an archway with a
keystone; and an urn-like motf with & pincapple. The mantel has reeded pilasters;
hatehing in the banding; s ceniral floral motif and pincapples in the frieze. This is one
of the most elaborate mantels the surveyor has seen thus far in the survey. The other
mantels in the house also feature reoding. and at least two have a bowed mantel shelf,
The attic of the house was investigated and it appears that the front of the house was in
fact constrocted first and the rear ell added later. Hooks were also found in the attic that
could have been used for hanging mest. The entrance must bave iherefore either been
from the west side or one of the east skl windows was changed from g door, | found
no evidence supporting this second theory upon examination of the brickwork, The
hasement of the house is interesting and is made up of two rooms. There are two batten
daars with 3 barred wooden veni windows on each side. The house has had several
additions and alterations mcluding closing in the side porches (19405 or 19505); g side
t-story wing on & conpcrete bock foundation; and new wingdows. Quibuildings nclede
a fipe brick summer kitchen with an imerior end brick chimmey, diamond-patiorn vems,
and a walk-out, split-level bascment. 1 has 2 moderm concrele ploack side wing., Mot
myuch is left of the old barn except for 2 small frame superstruciure psing parts of the old
stone foundstion. A modern metal barn has been built ext to it Across the road ave
the remains of the springhouse which was destroyed when the road was rerouted.

6. Yesper Hall (8573
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Construcied ground 1863 for Elijab Pifer, Vesper Hall 15 a fine example of & mid-19th
century brick dwelling with some early Victorian srohitectural details. The exterior and
interior of the house are surprisingly otact. The front parlor features fine trompe Poell
fresco painting thet was probably executed by the painter William Rupp. Ropp painted
n the area afier the Civil War, His work inclsded churches like Mt Hebron in Madison
County, the Shenandoah County courthouse In Woudstock, and several private residences
including ones in Luray. The property has further significance because of the earlier log
tenant houose located west of the main house. This building may be an example of an
early German-plan bouse.  Vesper Hall fself is a 2-story, 3-bay (symmetrical) brick
huilding laid 1n Flemish bond on the front and S-course American bond on the sides and
rear. ¥t has two interior brick chimneys and sits on g raised stone basement. It has &
hipped standing seam metal roof snd the remnants of 2 widow's waltk. The windows are
6it-sash double-hungs with an elaborate window cap with 2 shell and foliated scroll
motit. The front windows have lowversd wonden shutters. The bouse is fronted by 3
three-bay front porch with a hipped roof, square supports with sawn brackets and wrn-like
batusters. The house is crowned by a wonden cornice with fine brackets that match those
found on the cormice of the porch.  The house also has a rear, 2-5tory wing with an
iterior end brick chimoey. Currently this part of the house is reated a8 3 separate
apartment and access was denied. The fromt deorway of the house features a broken
transorn and sidelights. The main block of the bouse is in the shape of a square with 2
doutde-pile center-passage plan. The imerior of the house is highly unigue and features
fresco painting that was probably done by William Rupp during the last third of the 19th
century. Many of the walls have been painted over but the front east parior retains its
freseo paintings. Rupp’s wompe Poeell technigoe 33 highly refined and in this room
features pancled walls, gn acanthus cornice, and a circular arch in the ceiling with 2a
cemtral medallion. The colors are shades of gray, tan and gold, The other surviving
paimting 15 found in the stairwell in the sttic where the walls were block painted 1o look
fike cot stone using gray and white paiat with red for the mortar. Probably other reoms
in the howse once festured decorative painting.  The woodwork in Vesper Hall appears
1o be original, There are mamels in every room that are fairly plain with paneled friezes
and columns.  Some have 3 Tudor-style arch. There is some evidence that some had
originally been grainpainted, The woodwork is primarily fluted with plain corner blocks,
Many of the pancled doors have been prain painted. The staircase is slightly spirsled and
has turned balusters. The rear of the howse has & 2-story wing with enclosed sude porches.
There gre two noncondribating outhuildings: a concrete block garage, and & frame shed.

Another resource group surveyed ar the intensive level during the initial phase is the fourteen
crossroads communities and villages of Calvary (£5-4063, Columbia Furnace (85400}, Conicvilie
{85-402), Forestville {85-403), Hudson Croassroads (85-41(0), Lebanon Church (83-118), Moores
Store (85-37), Mount Clifton {85-409}, Mount Olive (83-304), Urands (85-303), Quicksburp (85%-
407, Saumsville (85-303), Wheatficld (85-467), and Williamsville (854083  (VDHR
Prelisinary Information Forms for these compuunities appoar as an appendix ¥o this report.}
Thiy sample represents about half of the comuunities ear-marked for intensive survey, and
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determymations of cligibility should wait sntil all potentially eligible communities have received
equal atiention, Likewise, the fow dwellings identified 1o dale that preserve German architecraral
characteristics represent anly a portion of ihe total number believed 1o survive in the county. aml
determinations of eligibility for these especially impostant resources should wait until more have
been examined.



X.  BRECOMMENDATIONS
The Shenassdoah County Historie Landmuarks Survey Is the first comprehensive documentation
of a large number and broad range of historic vesources in the rural areas of Shenandoah County.
However, the 367 surveved resources represent only a fraction of the total number of resourees
over fifty vears in age. Additional documentation is needed. The recommendations that follow
may serve as a framework for future investigations.

Further survey work should be carried out at both the reconnaissance and intensive fevels, as was
the case in the initial survey. but probably with greater emphasis on intensive documentation.
One consequence of the richness of the county's historic and architoctural legacy is a refatively
jarpe number of resources that may be eligible for the National Register of Historic Places and
therefore warrani intensive-level survey. The windshield survey of the county conducted in early
1993 identified approximately seventy-five individual properties and rural commmities that
appeared to warrant intensive survey, of which thirty-cight were surveyed. In addition,
reconnaissance survey has tuned up many more resources thal require more in-depth
documentation, amd future reconnaissance survey will turn op even more.

The focus of additional survey work could be directed towards specific kinds of resources or
respurces in specific areas, now that a broad sample has been achieved. For example, the initial
survey concentrated on butidings—-houses. barns, villages, eic.—to the exclusion of sies of
historic and artistic significance such gs cemeteries. The few cometeries that were surveyed
revealed an usexpected richness of funerary art headstones with German inscriptions and
vermacnlar carving, unusual grave marker types such as wooden and cast-iron markers, angd
architectural features such as cemetery walls. Additional survey work could have as an objective
% more thorough examisation of funerary resourcss.

Another resource type of great interest to the scholarly comumnity s Shenandoah County's large
collection of eightcenth- and early-ningteenth-century houses with Lierman spatial clements and
construction features. ‘These houses reflect the persistence of German culiure in the Shenandoal
Valley and its gradual melding with the domisant Anglo-American colture of the state, The
county may preserve the largest sample of German houses in the siate, a resource group of
statewide significance. The initial survey identified and recorded vnly 2 handful of these houses
at the imtensive level, Others--known or suspected--should receive special treatment in any future
survey project. Documentation may include the preparation of scale drawings for the houses,
as well as research into the case history of each house in an attempt 1o determine construction
dates and the ethnicity and sociceconomic staws of the origizal owners.  Une oulcome of 2
survey and research focus on the county’s German houses might he g Muliiple Property
Documentation Form that wosld form the basis for Mational Register designation.

Survey should also focus on specific areas that were either excluded o under-represented in the
initial survey or that appear fo bave potential as National Register historic disgricts,  The
incorporated community of Toms Brook was excluded from the initial survey owing 1o the
decision to examine only the mnincorporsted areas of the coumy.  The county’s other
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incorporated communities have been the subject of individual survey snd Nabonal Begister
projects in the past, but Toms Brook has not. Survey of representative sies in Toms Brook is
warranted, 85 i & determination of what area or areas of e community may be eligible for the
Mational Register.

The initial survey work revealed areas that appear 1 be eligible as rural National Register
historic districts.  The area extending from Cohsmbia Furnace to Mount Olive features many
historic villages and intact farm complexes set in an agricultural landscape that has been less
aliered by modern development than other historic areas in the county. The Jerome Yalley in
the county’s western mountains may be another area with Nationad Repister potential.  An args
of recognized historic and prehistoric archacclogical potential as well as architectural sigmificance
conlers on Meems Bottom south of Mount Jackson. This area features Native American village
sites, the site of a Civil War engagement and prisoner of war holding pen, and buildings and
structares such as Meem’s Covered Bridge (already listed in the National Register), the exwnsive
M. Alry Farm, the impressive ruins of the Halianate mansion of Steathmoore, the possibly
German-plan Rude House, a toll house associated with the Valley Turnpike, and dther resources.
Undoubtedly more potential rursl historic districts will come to light with further survey work,

Additional survey should be accompanied by additional research. This report provides a basic
discussion of several of the prominent themes in the county’s history, although the conclusions
of the report are necessarily tentative pwing to the preliminary sature of the survey. As a larper
sample of resources is surveyed, and as more specific areas of research are suggested, future
penerations of this veport will contain a more thorough account of the architectural development
of the vounty. Another pressing research need is the integration of the findings of survey
projects outside of state-sponsored survey with the data base generated by the current roumd of
sprvey.  The survey work of the Shenandoah County Historicsl Society--specifically the
photographic docomentation of the county’s oldest resources carried out by historian Fred Pamter
in the 19505, 1960s, and 1970s—needs to be integrated with the present work, as doos the mass
of documentation generated by the Works Progress Administration during the 19305 and early
1240,

Oither, Joss architecturally-oriented sources need 1o he examined, one example being the ¥ irginia
Board of Public Works papers at the Virginia State Library, These papers sometimes contain
detailed field notes and sketch maps of buildings and villages located along early-nineteenth-
contury turapike and canal rogtes.  Another potentially helpful source Iy county schood recorids,
in vescarching Conicville as part of the initisl survey project, a Conicville Elementary Hchool
social studies unit dating to the 1930s was uncoversd that contains valuable information
{including oral sccounts) on the history of the community (Lutz). A search ¢f school records
may tarn up similar projects for other commauniiies.

Future work, after addiional survey and research has been complaed, may nchde an assessment
of Shenandoah County’s archaeological potential accompanied by limited investigation of sedected
sites. The historic landmarks survey has dealt with the county”s most recent history, extending
back a mere two centuries. In actuality, human activity in the connty extends back 12,000 years

61



ko the end of the last loe Age. An archaeological assessmen would shed more fight on this bude
understood but important period of the cosnly’s history, and would identify the types and
distribution of bedow-ground rescurces sssociated with that history.

Archseology can also increase our understanding of the COURLY’™s MOTE TECEN history and i8 5o
doing supplement analysis based on grchival sources and architectural resources. For example,
the county’s nineteenth-contury fron indusiry was 8 major componct of the local economy, and
it figured prominently in the industrial history of the state and the Confederacy. The parameters
of the county’s furnace sites, SUpport Commumities, and resource locales (ore banks. charonal
pits, etc.y are at present poorly undersioed, as is the social structore and daily life of the furnace
wark forces,  Archaeology can help in documenting the physical infrastructure of the county’s
iron industry, and # can bring to light the material culture of the men and women whase Hves
were ferntwined with the mdusiry.

Historic sites usually have an archaeclogical component, below-ground remains associated with
the construction and use of above-ground struciures.  Archaeological investigation can help
support the historic significance of a given property by revesling the full spectrum of the
property’s material remains.  However, m the confext of foture historic survey work in
Shenandoah County, archasology should be used judiciously to determine the vesearch potential
and integrity of selectad sites. Extensive testing and excavation would probably strain the budget
of any survey praject. Another rationale for 8 cantioss approach to archacology is the fact that
intrusive archacological investigation actually destroys some data m the process of salvaging
iformation.  Archseological theory and practive sre constantly mproving; in the future,
archacologists will be able to refrieve mere data from a site than at present. With this i mind,
archaseological testing and excavation are best justified when a site i3 in imminent denger of
destruction from development or natural processes.

The findings of the survey can be wsed in a number of ways 0 foster greater public and
governmental swareness of and appreciation for the county’s irreplacesble historic houses, farms,
communities, and lsadscapes. Survey projects in other communities have led to the gregtion of
work units and audivfvisual units on focal histery and architecture for use with school-aged
children. These units might be upgraded versions of the scripted shde program that was
praduced ax part of the wvey project. The business community should be made aware of the
rehabilitation tax credit that is available for Matiomal Register properties and districts, the
enhanced tourism potontial of areas that ave perceived to be historic, and the enhanced
marketability of Historic real estate. The survey should be used w inform planning decisions as
a compouent of the county’s comprehensive plan.  Historic resoures comribuie w the quality
of Hife in 2 comuunity, and it is in the public isterest fo safeguard Shenandogh County’s
heritage.
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Bow Harkst
Heow Harket
Hew Harket
¥ew Harket
¥ew Harkel
Hay Harket
Hew Harkat
Bew Bavkel
Ry Markst
fisw Harkel
Hew Harkel
¥ew Harket
Bey Harkel
Hew Harket
Hew ¥arket
Bew Harked
Kew Maykel

fiow Harket



$A%-3188-
0E5~GLE2~
0250163~
O85-(1184~
§85~(165~
BE5~LhE-
GeS~Gi8 7~
{(85~G165
DEhi 169
{(85~01 70~
(85171~
$oE~D1T7 23
(R8~01 73~
{85013 4~
BEE-03175
(85~01 75~
{85-0177~
0850178
0B5~0179~
RO 8~

§a{i &t~

GYS-0134~
$85~01 85~
8501 86
SRR g
085~(158~
335~-318%
OR5-180
(85-01%~
3pE-01%2-
JEs-L9%-
(8501

House {Reute 616}
2irkle, Honrow House
Vipps, Mosss Fars
eve Farg

Zirkle ¥are
Shemandeal Caverns
Bouse {Rouls 720}
Ronce, ddan Fara
Bonce, Jongs Fare
Pance, Hones Farm
Yary {Koute 42}
House {Foute 727}
®ine Bouse

Garber, Samuel House

¥iat Bock (hurch of the Breidven

zivkie, Rebvora Souse
fare {Route 739}
Juick House

School {Boute 816)
Zirkle Barn

¥ine, Renismin Bouse
Sranner Farm

5t Lukes Chuyoh
Emapp, A. Fara
Jones, Evan Rowse
Gets, Jobm Farm
Gaty, Wosen Farw
Rurliy, 4. House
#illey, 4. W. Fars
Fulty, ¥, Pars
Hagston, 8. F. Pouse
sk evel Methwdist Church
Bockman, €, Bouse
Painter, J. ¥. Bouse

How Hariet
How Harked
Hew Mavket
Hew Harkel
Rew Barkst
tiew Harket
Hew Harket
How Markst
How Harket
Hew Market
Yoy Market
How Harkel
Raw Harket
¥ew ¥arket
Hsw Harket
How Harkst
¥ew Harket
Bew Barksb
Hew Harkat
Hew Harket
Tispervilie
Tisberville
Tigerville
Timberviiie
Timperville
Timberviile
Timbervilie
Tigbervilis
wdinburg
Rdinhurg
fiadtsi sy
Binburg
Bdinburg
Edinhurg



DS 0LS5
{85=(196~
O8a-0197-
§35~-01 48
385~31 9%
0B5-(201~
D8H-0202~
(B5~02015-
{85204~
HR5-G205~

$E5-030E~

D510
085~ 1~
USRSV
GEG-0213~
P85-(E14-
(85521 S
{BS~G21 6~
g8e- {1217~
O-0218
85~ 5
§gh-J220
G8%-Ga21~
(85-G322~
(98~0233~
{B5-(24~
D8R~0225-
BE5-0226
B~ a2~

R5-2 28
(85285~

Esiler, Dan’l Houge
fhestr, das. ¥. Pare and Sswmill
Dorothy's log

Route 572 Suspension Bridee
Bowman Bouse

Keal Bouse

Brugback Souse
Belgravia

Frabel, 3. Farg
fountz, E. ¥. ¥arm
{les, B. Farm

Pence, Paryy Fare

#t. vies Court
Penge, Lewis Parm
Stonsburney Farg
Grandstal, 6. 4. Farm
¥elier, Dan’l Yarw
Clainedinst House
Tgiis, Raphael Farm
Heuland, lemusl FEousa
leng~¥ilking Bouss
Cofflett, John Bouss
Shenamdosl Vineyards
Sotse {Route A8}
foadus Grovery
Baller, Jobs Fadm
Wesley Chapsl Methodist Episcopsl Church
Sheets Parm and ¥ill
Bouse {Route 698}
Humston, 8, ¢. Bouse
Bowman, Dan’l House

Karrow Passage Commumity Chuwch
Barzow Passage Commmity Oanter

Sheatz, David Pars
Basmond, . Pars

74

Rdinburg
idinbury
Bdinbury
Edinbury
Fdinturg
Sinburyg
Bdinburyg
Fdinburg
Fdinkary
Rdinburg
Bdinburg
Zdinburg
#inburg
Refinbury
wiinburg
gdinburg
Fdinburg
Adinburg

© Rdinburg

Rdinburg
Hdinburg
Bdinbury
Fdinburg
Zdlinburg
Edinburg
Rdinbery
kdinburg
Edinkurg
Edinkurg
Bdinburg
B inbury
Edinburg

Riinburg
Fhinturg



OEL-GL U
H85-0231
088023
JR5-E33~
BE&-234
(8B-G25~
{85~(1306~
GRA-G281-008
(85024 2~00
D8E-024 3000
HE5~0244-000

BRG~B245-008}
HR5-0246~000

03502470
(88-0248-000

(85-0245~000

(85-3250-(30
3851000
(RS-0 2000
(RS~R83~000
3850254000
BEE~Q2ES-000
{(B5-(256~000
85257000
QES-0255-008
DRE~QIES-Q0D
O85~-325 {000
G85~0251 008
JBE-(E62-(8D
D85~-1263-000
(85-U264-1K00
{85-0265-(40
HRE-D2RE-000

Tisinger, 4. D, Pare
Lonag, J, Farm

House (Reuts 42}
Parrick Bovse

Hiore

House {Route 717}
Tedd’s Tavers

Sandy Book Farm
Falrview Chwch of God
frndorff House, RE. 648

Riverbend Fare
tivkle Farm

House (HE. 11}

Yalley Diney
Pud and Yanks

Four ¥ile House
fdolph Yars

Budolph Bouse
found Bild

Beusa (Bt 1

Bighway Tabernaclie

Hoszan Fars

Fisher House

Quarry Fuildings

#uilding (kL. 838)

Housa {Rb. 638)

Wayerly Farm

5t. Stephens atheran Charch
Facey House

Howse {RE. £33 mear ¥L, 5}
Feathers-Reff Souse
Rittenbousr Pare

Boyer Farg

fevareione Faxw

Bouse (RE. 7PY)

oy Ridge Farg

L2

Bdinburg
Conjceitle
Contevilia
Senicville
Conioville
Comioviile
Edinburg
Strashurg
Boodstork
Strashurg

Toms Brook

Topn Brogk
Tous Brook

Tops Brook
Toms Broek
foms Breok

Tors Brook
Tams Brook
Toms Brook
To3s Brosk
Foms Brook
Tous Brack
Toss Bropk
Hountaln Falls
gountalis Falls
Hountain Falla
Bouptain Falls
#ouptain Falls
Strasburg
Tous Brogk
Togs Prodk
Tons Broek

To8s Brook



ORA-2R 700
HEE~(E68-000
ORE-G26%-000

(B5~0270-000
0850271000
BE5-H2T2-000
BB5-0173-000
URA-0274=D0L
085-0275~000
BE-0276-000
BES-GRTT-000
(B5=(275-000
085-0279-000
085~028-000
085-0381~009
U002 00
B5-0283-000
15-0264-000
OEE~1286-000

085286000

GBE~UIB Y00

HRS-D288-006
(85-0285~000
BEG-D2H-000
B§5-0291-000
085~0292-000
ORA=1293-000
Q50283000
085-055-00
DRS~D29E-000
850297000
BE5-DZ9R-000
BRE-D2H9-000
(B5-0300-000

o

Houne {RE. 601}
Bethel Church {RE. #4833

Soptt Farm
Stickley Farm

Syeanore Fare

Posey Eollew Farm
Drabill Farn

Fhedes Farnm

House (RE. 79%)
Coffpan~-Ryman Farm
Stump-Foster Pars
kaller, flenn Fara
Stensr Houne
Shiley-Fravele Farm
Houge (KL, 763}
Hurner House

Bowsan Pare

Fetlsy House

Lester Farg

House (XL, 1Ll mwar K. 66)
Bouse {BL. 62%;

Pine Grove Suhosd
gouse {kt, &34}

Rusl Bouse
Rush-Bausersan Fara
iltavista Farm
Fishhurne Fare
House (R, il near RY. 664}
Horrizen Houss
Stonewall Bill Site
Harion Art: Rars-Riverholw
brmheller House
Kibler-Shiffiet Farw
gouse {Kf. &1}
Scapul (R, 681}

Strashurg
Foms Brook
a5 Brook

Toss Brovk
Strashuryg

Toms Rrook
Toms Brook
Tous Brook
Boodstock

Toms Brook
Tops Brook
fileyviile
fileyville
Boodatork

Rilavritle
Rilsyyille
Yous Brook
Toas Bropk
Riddistown
#iddietwm
Hiddistoun
¥iddietoun
Toms Brook
Yoms Brook
Togs Brook
‘foas Brovk
Poms Brook
Toms Brook
Tops Brook
Poms Brook
Tous Brosk
Yous Brook
Fos Brook
Toas Bropk



O8R5~ 0301 - D0

OE5-0302-000
DB5-330 1510
(RS- 04 000
(EB-0305~000
BE%-D30e-000
BES-D307 000
(85-{1308-008
SE-0309~500
6250310000
§85-033 1 ~660
085-031 2000
(85~0313-000
GR5-131 400
(R8~(31 5000
§85-~033 6080
§§5-031 7000
{185-0318~000
08%-{31 5000
O&-030-000
IR EARR LY
BER-B32L-000
HR8-(3 33000
DBE~032400
BES-D3ZG00
(85025008
(B5=(327-000

{81328~
GES-G32%-000
QR5~0330-(8)
B8A=3333-000
GRE-GIE-D00
(850333030

Fink Farm o
Log oy Frame Bouse, BL. 86l

owe Bouse
Copp Fars
Houses (K. 808}
Lewis Fare
Fare {Rb. 798}
Ssun Pars
Shaver-Wright Fara
ittle Countyy Tabernacls
Zion Christian e
Weliennahan-Calvert Fare
Mili-Fen Fare
Stacey Parm
Clem Fare
Hashman Farp
Hapmon House
Hocksan Fara
Lynn kopes Fars
foller Farg
342}
Bouse (R, 623 pear RY. 846}
#t, febron United Hethodint Church
House {RY, 546}
Houne {RE. 651}
Hottie-¥aller Fars

pr g

Bouss {BE.

Richard Fare

Kaple Shade Fars
hitbington Fare

Springdsle Fars

Houss {Rb. £54}

Bouse {RY. 652 near Rb, 800}
Saum Faxm {KE. 653}

Urange Gale Far

Saup-Fesr Far

T

Togs Brook

Fozs Brook
Fous Brogk
Toss Brook
Togs Brook
Yops Krook
Fops Brook
Tous Brook
Tose Brovk
Fous Brook
Tops Brook
Togs Brock
Tows Brook
Toms Brook
Toms Brook
Toas Prook
Togs Brook
$oms Brook
Togs Brosk
Tous Brook
Tows Brook
Toms Brook
Toms Brook
oms Brook
Toms Brook
toms Brosk
Pogs Brook

Toms Brook
Foms Breok
Toms Brook
Boodstonk
Toms Brosk
Weodeiock



HBE~BI -G
851335000
OR5-0338-D00

DEE-0337-000

DES-0338-000
(B5-023 300
$85-0340~-(00
885-0341 000
DE5~(342-008
(ES-I43-000
(85~(344~000
0850345000
085-0345-K
850347000
OEA-I34 800
(85-0343-000
DEE~(350(K0
IB5~0a51~000
{85-(352-00
O85-0353~000
QE5-QI54-14K;

(RS 356-000
O8EIET-50
0850358000
RG99~
DE5-D360-000
4850361000
D85-(362-000
B95-036 3000
0B5-0364-000
O8G-G3EB00
085-0386-000
DR5-0367-400

Swarty Fare
Fouse (Kb, 852 nesr RE. &30}

Gravy Fare

Little Hordh Fare
Shanks Fars

Try ACres

Caday Cresk Dhristisn Chwuch
Crndorff Bouse

Sehasl (R, IR

Layaan Springs Para
Stopeburner Fare
Rudy-Bovard Fars

Sager Parm

Fumidsauner Fars, KL, 823
Yeaver House

¥, Airy School

Rayaolds Farm

House {BL. 875}

Bouge (kY. 78 near RL. IS

B, Rion Bvangelicsl Lukheran Church

House {RL. 78% st R, 7%
5t. David’s Church

Fary (RY. 769}

Bouge {HL. 778}

Sroger Farsg

House {RL. 78% st RY. 768}

Y

House {RL. 678}
Bouge {BL. 638}
Haggard House
Building {RE, 788;

Bouss (RE. 788}

Bk Davidzon Farm

Hount Rope Presbyteriss Church
¥arg {Rt. 628}

¥atler-Bumphyies Fars

Hoodstock
Woodstook
Yoodstock

I

%oodatock

goodstock
Haodstork
Hoodstork
%oadstoeck
Hoodatork
Tous Brock
woodstack
Upodstock
fpedstack
woodstock
yoodstack
#oodstonk
Hamburg
kiisyville
Rilmyville
Rileyville
Rileyvwille
Kileyville
kiisyvilie
Rilayviile
Rileyville
Kileyeille
Kileyvills
Rilayviile
Rileyviile
Biteyville
Bileyvilis
Hiddiatouwn
¥iddietouwn
gidalatoun



O85-0388~000
D85~(369-0D
BRR-(3 70000
(85-0321 0830
D037 201K
(R5-0373~000
§85-03%4~(00
HE5~0375-000
OR5-0376-00
JRA-53T 7500
GR5-(37&~D00
{J85-0379-(530
Be5=-D1360-000

(BB-(2R 1000

(95~023 200
0850383000
685-0354-000
850385000
OER-388-000
(185~ (3B 70
(85~(388-000
(95~028 0}

HB5~0353~00
H85~(400~
O858-0401~
$R3-(402~
Behe-f483-
IO 1 o
{85-0405~
B8040
(35-04l1-
{B5-3408~
H85-0400~

Singhass-Lindagood Fary
#ilihoussr Farm

govian Pars (Kb, 85 near ¥b. 628]
Hehionald Houss

Painter Pars

Canpball House

Capon Bridge Freight Depel-Vanse's Marked
Laural Bil1 Christiam Church
Bowee {Kt. 58}

#ockgan Farz

Bouse {RL. 832}

Farg {KL. €33}

Bouse (¥, 633}

Burner, Jonp House
Burney Houme-River’d Imn

Houge (KL, 665}
Hawkins Fars

Cook Bouse
Gili-Rodehaver Bouse
Lonesone Pine Farm
Bridee (Rt. 621}
Lineweavsy Fars

Cedar Cropk ?alie; Ceptral Communily
Center~Cedar Criek Yallsy Cemtral &hool

Bouse {KL. 600
Columbia Purnace
Yan-Barton Fars
Copiovilla
Columbia Furnace Unlen Church and Cemedery
Wetzel Cemstery
Forastville
Calvary
tnickaiurg
¥illiamsvills
Hount Clifton

Biddlebosy
#iddietoen
#iddietomn
Kiddistown
Hiddietomn
¥iddietoun
Biddistown
Mountain Falls
Hountain Falls
Hountain Falls
#ountain Falls
gountain Palls
Mountain Fallz
¥nudstock

Tows Brock
Hoadatock
wopdstock
Hoodstork
¥ountain Falls
gountaip Falls
Hountain Yails

Rardensville

¥ardensville
Conieville
¥olf Gap
Couicville
Heodeiodk
Conicville
Boy Harkst
Edinburg
Bew Markel
Bew Market

Conjcville



0850410~
DBS~0411
B5~0412~
G85-0412-
5414~
85-0410
B85-0418~

(85~-341 7~

(18511419~

{85420~

0850421
9850433
{8514 43~
§85-i1424~
0850438~
R8H~3426~
(880427~
{85-(1428~
BBE-0429
DEE-B430
(850431~
05R-0432~
0850433~
50434~
O88-4 35
$85-0426~
8%-0437
DEG-4 38
(850435~
£85~(1440~
0850441
50442~
085443

Budson Lressroads
Bimisk, Seorge Fare
Clark, 5. B, Bouse
Billar Cemetery
Lonas, doseph ¢ Fars
Bryce Resort

Barhs Schonl

Parp Farm {Bt. 720}
arb House {BL. 720}

Bepner Farn

Horning Star Beangelical Luthersn (harch and

Cowstary

Ryman, John Fars

Pare {EL. 612}

Farm {RY. 823 ab St. Luke}
Funkhousey Cepstery

Folty, Issac J. House

Bard Yare {Rv. 717}

gouse {RL. 641}

Funkbonser, 5. Farm

Harpine, Jonathen Pars
Rinker-Bowman Farw

Towsan, Mosss Fare
Bowerman-Pellinger Bouse
Funkhouser Bouge {R. 263}
Gtterbein Chapel United Wethodiat Chirch
Hambarg Schwol

Bellingsr Pars (Kb, 710}

Pary {Rt. %07}

Bowsan, Issial Farm

Camphelite Church

3ion Luthersn Church and Cemelery
flckard Fare

Towsan Fars and Hamburg Post Office
Beilinger-Rose vy

g

Conicvilis
Copdoville
Boudatonk
Orkney Springs
frkeey Springs
Urkney Sprisgs
Urkney 3prings
Orkney Springs
Drknsy Springs
Grkney Springs
Orkney Springs

{bney Springs
Orkney Springs
Boudstock
Orkney Springs
Orkmey Springs
Orkaey Springs
Conicvilie
Conicville
Copioville
Copleville
Coniovills
Coninville
Comicviile
Topiovilia
Conicvilie
Cosicvills
Canioville
fanicville
Conicville
Contovilie
Bdinburg
comicville

Conieviile



DEE-(4 44~
(55-0445~
$RA~14 48~
(85~ 0447
DE5~D448
(5-0450-00)
{B5-0453~
G¥5-0452~
DEH~(453~
(850454
(1850455~
055450~
OY5-0457~
(35458
R b

{81460~

(B5~(1461~

085-0482-000

GR5~0483~00
(85-0464~000
DEL-DEES-I00
035~0486-
U8R-487~
(850488~
(85-(469-000
BEE-(471
(350872~
PEH-04 T3
Q850474
$8B~(4 75~
DES-4 T
(85~04T7~
0850482~

Bowman, Gordon Houme
Fadisy Para

Columbia Foxge

snagr, G. H. Stove and Wheatfield Pest Offise

Hockman Bmse {RL. 5%
Haphis-Cook Farm
Lebanon Lutheran Church
{len Cemelsry

Bouse {RE. 2403

Habron, Jobn Houss
Craig-fepnsr Fare
Coffelt Farm

¥, fion butheran Church and Jemetery

House {RL. 605}
Pars (Kb, 881}

patwos Fvangelical Lutheran Church and

£ppetsry
Bouse (KL, 7%}

Bealer, o House
Paker’s &oves

Howery Bouse

Windel farm

Fara {RL. 55}

Lige Kiln {BE. 714
saetfield

pingley, David House
Ross-Chrizean Pare
Smopt, Jzmes §. Fuvs
Gechenty House {RY, 843}
faker, Rphwaln Storve
Coffmen, dliger Bowse
Coftman, Charles Yare
Columbia Furnace Stables
Frve, £, Bouss
Yapensr-Polls Yare

§1

fepioviile
Conicvilis
Contovilie
Riddletoun
#iddistown
Roodstock
Hiddietoun
Rilavville
Rileyville
Rileyville
#oodstack
Hoodstork
Yovdstork
Hoodatock
Fopdstock

Hoodstook

Bondstock

¥ountals Falls

#iddletonm
Hiddiatown
Hountain Falls
Riddletomn
#iddietewn
Hiddletoun
Rileywille
Hoodstock
¥oodatock
Foms Brook
gaodsbork
Hoodztork
Conioville
Coninviile

Conicville



D85E-0485

(850488~
(550502000
DRG0
B5~08{4-

(85505~

St, Pyul’s tuthevan ek, Jurces {Uriginal
Ruiiding}

Yunder Farg
Horgan-Rinker Woolen BiLL
Ssumsville

Hount Olive

(randa

82

frkaey REiRgS

Pigberville
So Harket
Foms Brook
Toms Brook
Hiddistown



Appendix B

(85~3281 000
385~0473~
GRE-GRET-000
OBH-(426~
G85~417=
085~0418
{85~ 16~
GEB-02 10

0EG-045 -

LES-GE03~

3850000~

DEh-a6R -0
(RS~G41 3~
{(85-(36 2100
DES-ZEI-000
RS04~
085-{128 2000
O8hw441-
(85~0] B9~
35~k
085-0444~
LE3-438~
DRE~3434
DRA-J263-008
(85182~
(B5-(387 -0
GS~O0T8~000
{8502~
G85-0415
DBS-0384-00
GRS 5-R

Alphabetical Inventory List

Hags of Proverty/District/Resource
Mltavista Farm

Baker, Bphralm Stove
Bark Pars

Barh Farm (kb 717}
Barb ¥arm (Rt. 720}
Barh Bovse (BU. 720
Barbs Scheol
Barrvick Youss

Belsr, John Houss
Rakaris Acres

Belgravia

gellvisy ¥are
stickiey, favid Farm

Bethel Church (8L, 648}

Biller Cemetery

Roshm-Coffelt Farm

Bosgen Fars
Rowersan-Deliinger Housa
Bodwan FarE

Bownan Pare and Nasburg Post Offic
Rowman Houge

Sowman, Daniel Houge

Bowsan, Gordon House

Bowman, Isaish Pare

Bowman, Hoses Farg

Boyer Fary

Branney Fary

Bridgs {Rt. &1

Brittinghar Pluace-Hammond Parg
Brushack Housa

Bryoe Resort

Puck Davidson Farm

milding {RL. 638}

Fogs Brook
Toms Brock
Tens Brosk
Grkney Springs
Orkmey Springs
Orkney Springs
Orkney Springs
Centoville
¥ountaln Falls

Edinburg
¥iddletown

Togs Brook
Urkney Springs
#oustais Falls
Toms Brook
Conicville
kileyrille
Conieville
Edinburg
Reinbaary
{onicvilie
Conicvilis
Conioville
Toms Brook
Fiaberville
¥ountain Falls
¥ountain Falls
Bdinburg
Orkney Springs
Rilayvilie

Poms Brak



(88~025 -6}

0851281008
DEE-D38 IO
0B5~0028~ 008
{85-{3406~
GE5-0428~
QRS~QYT3-(
O85-037 4500
ORS-0E25-000
5389100
085~GE1d~
85~022
(ES-041 2~
(85452~
(5-531 =000
DRS00~
{(85-(1456~
BEE~RZLE-
ST o
AN
DEE-D275-000
Q85-0446
85-0400-
ORR- 0478
0850403~
£85~01 36
085402
QE5-0137~
385354000
8530000
(85-0268-G
PB~GEI12-(80
O85-0455~

Bullding {RL. 758}
Burner Bouse

Byrper, dolin House
Burney House~Biverid Imn

Burnchive Uap

Calyary

Campheiite Church

Cagpbeil Bouss

Capon Bridge Fraight Dhepot-Vance's Market
Cedar Crask Christian Charch

Oatdar Creek Yalley Central Comsunity
Center~Cedar Oreek Vallsy Osniral SChool

Clainedingt Bouse
Clanahan Fare

{lark, 8. b, House
Clew Cematery

Cley Farm

Clog, B. Farm

Coffall Fara
ooffistt, Jobn Bouse
Coffman, Algwr Bowse
Coffman, Charles Farm
oofisan-Ryman Fars
Colugbia Forge
Columbia Purnace
Colusbia Purpace Biatles
Colushiz Furnace tnion Church and Cemsiary
Oong Farm

Lopisville

Connor Houge

Cobk Bouse

Copy Fare

feerstons Fare
Cyabiil Farm
Craig-Rapner Fare

84

kilgyville
Rileyville
wandatock

Fors Brock
Hdinburg
Conicvitle
Buddistown
Middletoun
¥oodstork
¥ardensvilie

Edinburg
Coninviile
¥oodstock
Rileyvilla
Pogs Brock
wdinburg
Haodstork
Binburg
Hondetock
Hoodstock
Boudstock
Conioville
Cericville
Conicviile
#oedstock
Hey Harket
Lonicville
Bow Harkel
goodstock
Tous Brook
Tous Brook
Tums Brook
Woandstack



Jgh-34 36
(85-0443~
3850197
(85-0164~
0850257000
085~03348-000
085~0445~
08R-0243-00
085-0171~
RE-T7
8 R~34 85000
(85-042e~
3853423~
HR8-386~000
(85375000
055459
DES-H4 3T
{B5=-(355~008
085-0308-000
085~0361~( 8
050301000

$85=3252-000
(5253300

(a8~04 25~
(B5-0405~
DEE-D247-000
ORS~B266-008
OB5-0204~
O8R-hE-000
QG472
3850214~
4850190~

Bellinger Fars {BL. 700
Dellingsr-Ross Fars
Dorethy’s Ing

Dove Farn

Prugheller Bouss

By hoves

Fadley Pars

faivvisw Chuch of Sod
Fary {Boute 323

Parz {Route 720}

Parg {Bt. 5%

¥ayy {HL. €12}

Parg (X%, 623 at 5%, Lukg}
R, 428

Yarg {RL. 833}

Yare {k%. 881}

Farm {RL. 707}

farm {BL. 769}

Parn {Bf. 79%)
Faathars~¥elf House

Farg {
{

Pink Fars
Tag or Frame House, RL, 861

?ishburne Fars
Fisher House

Flat Rook Church of the Brefiven

Plening House

Folts, Iemac J. House
Forsstvills

Four Mils House

Fox Ridge Farg
Frakel, 5. farg
Pry’e Port

Prye, £, House

Rylte, Kaphwel Farz
Falty, ¥. Parg

Contovilie
Conicville
Binburg

How Harket
Toms Brook
¥oodstook
Topioviile
%oodstock

Hew Harket

¥ew Market
Hountain Falls
Urkmey Springs
¥oodsiork
Riddlstoun
gountain Palls
¥oodstock
Conigviile
Bileyeille
Tors Brock
Weuntain Falla
Pams Krovk

Tons Brogk
Poms Brosk
How Harkes
Hex Harket
Drknsy Sprimgs
ey Harkst
Tops Hrook
Tops Brook
#iddistown
tonieville
Bdintury
faisdurg



(85-{1346-008
O85-04 24~
HRE~03 18-
0853433
0850081 -0
3853428~
8RB 74

(85156~

BBE-DI09-G0
DEGG4T
08501345~
0853139~
085~071 1~
085~0336~000
O80T (D00
GRB-GR7- 10
B3%-0454
J8heif2ie
(880405~

(853104130

(RSAEARGHEL
DEE-D3R-0K
(RS~ 7~
(1850419~
O8S-G25E 000
085~-031 -0
GBS0 7700
D8R3 TO-00
035~Q448~

Funkhawser Fare, B, 622
Funkhipuser Cemetery
Punkhouger Farg
Funkhouser HBouss {BL. 2363}
Funkhouser, 4. §. Farm
Punikhousey, 5. Farp
Garhey, Samuel Bouse
tetsy, John Parw

Gats, Homes Farm
Giii-Bodehsver House
GLligk Bouse

Sechenour Bouse
pochenony Bouse {RE. 823)
Gooi Bouse

Good Houze

grandstaf, €, J. Fup
Gray Para

Green Rouniaip Farm
Lregsy Pars

Habren, John Bouse
Zaller, Jobn Pars
Bamburg School

Bamaon House

Bampond, £, Pary
Harpine, Josathan Parm
Hachman Fary

Havkine Fars

Belsley Farg

Hepunay Farm

Righesy Tabermucls
Bockman Fars

Horksan Yaru

Rockman Farw (B, 55 nosy RL. 428)

Sovkman Souce (KL, 8%

#ondstack
orkney Springs
¥ountain fFalls
Conlovilis
¥igdietoun
Conieville
Hay Market
Tisbarvilie
Tigbsrvilie
#opdstock

fiew Market
¥aodstonk
Koodatock

Hew Harket
Kow Market
Beinbury
Goudstack
Hiddietown
Rilepeiile
Rileyviile
Bdinburg
{onicvilie
Teps Brook
Binburg
Conicvilis
Yoms Brock
Hoodstonk
Bdinburg
Criney Springs
Tors Brook
Togs Brook
gountain Falls
giddietown
Hiddielown



085-01%%
FEH-ES3-000
ORA~H11 7300
R5~(319-(00
BES-3 25000
{85-0232~
085-(1161~
085021 %
(85~ 24~
OR5-0225~

0850149~

{85141~

385-0285-000
085~0353~00}
H85-24 5300
O85-0250~000
G85~01T6-(X0
DES-13490000
(85~0287~0H)
O8H-(1458~

OR5-0288-004
BR5~-0360~400
B§5~1321 00
(185~1206~000
(85-(375-000
DRE-D38G-000
(85~0356~008)
GRA-G320-00
O85-0323-500
3E5E-Q324-00D
BB5-13 3000
(85-0335~000

Hocksan, U, Houss

Hockman, Jennie Fare

Bockgan, Jdohn Fars

Bollsy ¥are

Bottle-¥eller Farg

Bouse {Routs 42}
House {Routs 618}

Bowse {Roube 682}

Rouse {Foute 698}

Houge {Reute 717}

Houge {Roule 720

;
House {Roule 780}
}

House {Route 727!

House {Re
Bouse {RL.
Bowsy (L.
Souse {RL.
douse {R%,
House {BL.
House (RE.
Bouse (K.
fouse {Rt.
House {RE.
House {RL.
Bouge (B,
House (KL,
Houss (L.
House {BE,
fouse {RL.
House {R%,
{

Bouse {BL.
Bouse {EL.
House (R,

Route 7373

11 nsar Bb. 86
11 near Bb. 664}
RS
1

£23 near Rb. 55
£2% nowy BL. 648}
§59)
632}

£33}

846}
6533
57 near BE. 6043
€52 pear L. 839}
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Rdinbure

Fors Brock
Rountain Falls
Togs Brook
Tows Brock
fomicvilie
Bsw Harksl
Edinhurg
Edinkarg
Cepisville
Yew ¥arket
fow Harkel
Hew Market

¥ew Markel
Riddistoun
Toms Brook
Tows Brogk
Tops Brook
Bountain Yallg
Wardensville
Strasburg
goodstock
Hiddletown
#ountals Falls
Fops Brook
¥iddietown
wountain Falls
Hountain Falls
Tors Brotk
Taps Browk
Toms Broek
Toas Brosk
Yous Brook
goodstack



DEE-D329-000 Eouse (BL. 654} gs Brovk
(B5~0255-00) Beuse {RL. 861} Pous Braok
(851382008 House {RE. 665} Toms Brook
085-0350- 000 Bouse (L. 875} Hamburg
885-M55-000 House (Kb, €78} Flleyvilie
G85-G360300 House (RE. £78) Rileyville
G85-048T~ Rouse (B, £7%) Yoodstonk
385427 House {RL. 631} Copinviile
O8A-3E3-000 gouxe {RL, 788} kileyville
$8E-(IR0-430 Bavse (&Y. 763} goudstonk
DEE-35E-00 Bousa {Kt. 769 at Rb. 768} Rileyville
GRS~GAR3~000 House {RL. 7% 3b BL. 77} Kileyvills
(85-(A8 1008 Bause {RT. 76% near RY, 76} Kileyville
DER-02ER-00 Bouse {BL. 774} Taps Brock
ORS~ORE6-000 Bouge {RL, 775 Rilewvilis
(EH-(274-008 Fouse {RE. 798} Tous Brook
O55-0453 Houne (Bt. 830 Rilsyville
025~033 38~ Rouge 0,5 1% Bey Harkst
G85-0304-000 Houses (kL. 601} Tous Brook
050410~ Hudson Drossroads Tonicvilie
G85-0191~ Busston, B. F. House Edinburg
JBH-NL 25 Sumston, ¥. ©. Houge Rdinbury
DER315E~ Hupp Pare fiow Karket
G¥B~UT =000 Bupp House & Bistillsry Strasburg
Hupp House & Bistillery
(1850144~ Jonas Ryse Rouss Hew Markst
PE%-0IA Jones, Evan House Tigharville
PRE=D283-000 Kailer House fous Brook
(1851212~ Bsiley, Dan’l Pars #dinkurg
HEH-0395 ¥eller, Dan’l Houge Edinburg
DRSO3 I~H8} Eriler, Glemn farm Tous Rropk
085-036 700 Zeller-Hunphrise Fary Riddietown
DRE-T29R-0C Kiblor-Shiffiet Pare Tors Beook
O85-0158- fipps Farm Yew Market
§35-0157~ Kipps, Jebn ¥, Farg fiew Barkel
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DEE-BIEA
(A5~0184~
(85-(20%
085~0188-
{B5-03 7500
§80-334 3000
085~03 18~
R~ 0145~
O85-0284~500
25~ MIE-(5
{85406~
G8B-{I3RE-100
SEE-OEG- KR
(85-0337~000

§85-398-000
S01 46~
BES-0E3 1
§85-03414~
HR3-(386~000
RE~(E1E~
85302000
O85-0318~000
$E3-C381 100
3850450000
GER03LT~000

{85288~
G85-(140~
Q50310000
BER-3371-000
GE5-GRGE~
(85~0312-(80
B8E-J18%
GR5-(365-000

Ripps, Hosen Farm
Enapp, &, Fars
foonts, B F. Fars

¥urlin, 4. House

Laurel Bill hristian Church

Lavean Springs Farm
Lebanon Chupek

febanon Lutheran (hurch
Lester Parz

Towis Tarn

Lime Kiln (Rb. 7i4)
Linewsavey Fara

Little Ooupiry Yabrrnacie

Little Nerth karm
Shmks Fare

Little River Rars
fcust Vale

Lonas, J, Fars

Lonas, Joseph £, Farm
Lunesone Ping Farm
Long-Wilkine Souse
Lowe Bouse

iynm Acyes Farm
Haggard Bouse
Haphiis-Cook Farm

Maple Shade Fars
#attington Parm

Marion Arty Farm-Riverhcls
¥arys

Bo(lemnzban-Calvert Farg
HoBonald House

Mecus House

Hill-Fen Farw

#iller, 4. ¥. Pmxz
¥illhoussy Farm

By

Bow Barket
Tiaberviile
Toinhurs
Tiaberviile
¥euntain falls
#oadstock
Hiddiatoum
¥iddletoun
foms Brook
Tows Brook
¥idtietoun
Hountain Falls
Tors Brook
Koodetock

Tomrs Brook
Bew Bavhad
Conirvilis
Orkney Springs
Hountain Falls
¥dinburg

Tous Breck
Tans Brook
Rileyvilis
Hondstack
Toms Brovk

Tous Brook
¥ow Harket
oms Brook
Hiddistown
¥ow Markel
Tons Brosk
Rdinburg

¥iddletoun



Jgh-415
{85037~
(85-1502-(000

B85-34 20

OR5~0244~ 0]
055409~
0850368000
135~0804~
$85-8360-000
085-08G 3000
DE5-0ULE~ (10
8A-3248-000
GRS-GARE-H0L
H85~0153w
DRS=-P072-000

G it
(BS~0282-000
{(85-{1160~
H85-G45T~
2B5~0EE7-

0850201~
QBE~01 48~
TPt
GR5-0198~
(85-(B4 -0
85-0505~
GRA-PI3 2000
{(85-0340-050
{(85-0243-000
DR5-434~
(B5-G3T2-000
BE5-0154-

#imnick, Ssorge Fark
Hoorss Store
¥organ-Riker ¥oolen Hill

Horning Star Bvsngelical Dutheran Church and
Cometaty

¥oryison Bouse
¥ount C1ifton
Rount Hope Preshbyterias Chmrch
Hount Olive

Bountz Housy

Hovery House

B, Alvy

8. Alry Scheol

¥, Hebron United Rethodist (hach
gt Jackson Cemetery

#t, Plpgsant
Hount Plaasant

BE. View Jourt
He. Ziop Evangelical luthersn Church
v, hion Lutheran Church

e

Bt Zion Lushsran Chuoch and Cemslery
Havrow Fessage Compunity Chuxeh
Fassage Community Cenber e
Bual Bowse
Heff House
fiewiand, lsmuel House
Dak level Hethodist Church
014 Lindamood Plave
Grands
Urange Gals Fars
frndorfs House
Orndorff House {RE. 448}
srterbain (hapel United Hethedist Church
¥alnter Farg

Painter, 4. M. Bsee

S0

Coniovilla
Tighervilis
Ry Harhst

Grimey Springs

Tops Brook
Caploville
#iddleiown
Togs Brook
Hiddiatow
¥iddietown
Rew Harkst
dnodatock

TomS Brock
How ¥arkst
#iddistows

Bdinburyg
filevvills
Hew Markel
Hoodgtock
Bdinbury

Fdinkurg
Hew Market
Bdinburg
Zdinburg
Wountain Fall
Aletoun
Tome Brook
Woodetock
trasburg
Conieville
Hiddistown
gdinturg



S~ ORG0

{851 68
$85-Gioh~
MBE-209-
PRE-{1 T
CES-G20T~
QEB~02RT=(00
URE-DAEE~
(8E~037 100
{165~{1155~
JEE-2RA-(00
(8503178~
GBS~ {1407~
HE5-GREG-0K

D883 45000
QES-00TE~00

ORA-027 300
HEE~(3 26000
3853441

(85~ (126 24HK
DE5-0244 -0

DEEADEES-I
GRS~ 58~
(850147~
DEE-O24R-000
HRE~0E4R-(8)

BU5-0344-008
§85-01269-006
U85-529-50t
0850431 -

Patros Pvamgelical luthervan fhurch and

Comelery

Fonoe, Adag Fars
Punce, Jomax farg
Fonve, lewis Farm
Ponce, Hosss Fary
Pepce, Perry Fary
Rine Grove Schoeol
pingley, bavid Bwuss
vosey Hollow Farg
Prive Fars
gusrry Ruilding
uick House
Juinksburg

Hacey House
Readus Srocery
Reynolds Fare

Khodes Parg
Hountain River Fars

Rhodss Fars
Richard Farm
Blukayd Farn
Rinksr-Bovnan Farm
Rittephouer Fars

Fiverbend Fary
Girkis Farm

Ross-Chrisean Fav

Boutw 572 Suspension Beidge
Rude’s Bill Grooey

Pudelph Fare

Rudolph House
Bound Bill

Budy-Boward Fars
Fual House
Rush-Baugermar Fars
Biwan, dobn Emm

21

Boodntosk

few Barket
Hew Market
Rdinburg
Bey Barket
Edinhury
Hiddlsboun
Hiddietowm
Strasburg
Bew Markst
Tams Brook
Few Harket
Bew Market
¥ountain Falls
kdinburg
Woodstionk

Foms Brook

Tors Brack
Taps Brook
Rebinburg
Conievilie
Styasturg
Toms Brook

Rilavville
Bdinburg

Hew Harkel
Tors Hrock
Tons Brosk

Hoodsteck
Toms Brook
Toms Brock
Orkney Springs



(950245005
D8E-001E-00¢
005~0241-00%
DEE307-000
0850331000
AR5~0333000
0850504
6450175~
B85~ Q300000
9855341000

t r) 2& Q”Q\\U

(85-4306~000
3853420
A5~0238~
(RS~(11 %%~
3851 6am
§E5-0153
(851218~
(850279300
HEESIR AL EY
085~0133~00%
U85-U471
O85-B123-000
350447~
#8513 13~
GEH-GUR-000

O88-(332-000
GE3-GI54-100
53183~
85~1485~

O85~0288~000
$85-G313-000
85-D01 3000

Zager ParR

Sandv Book Imkard Settlsment
Randy Hook Fary

Soun Farm

Ssum Farg {RE. 682}

Saun~-Peer Farz

Saumsville

Schosl {Rouls 418}

Shool (BL. 683}

Scheel (85, 713}

seott Parn
Stickisy Far

Shaver-#right Fare
Sheats Farm and Hill
Shests, David Faxm
Shestn, Jamas W. Fars and Sswmiil
Shenandoal Caverns
Shenandoah Kiver Bridge
Shenandonh Vineyards
Shiley~Fravele Farp
Singhass-Lindamecd Fars
Saith Cruek Fary

Smoot, Jamen B, Yarz
Snapp House

#opdetonk
Styasbury
Strushurg
Fous Brovk
Hoodatosk
“oadstock
Tors Brook
Hew Markel
Togs Brook
#oodstovk
Tors Brook

Tons Krosk
2dinburg
Rdinburg
Rdinburg
Hew Market
#ew Harkel
Eeinkurg
Rilavville
Riddistown
Heyw Barket
Koodstonk
Tors Brook

Spare, G. #. Store apgd whestfisld Pest Gffice Riddistowm

Solopon’e Luthersn Church

Spengier Hall
éé'at?g Rili

Springdaly Fara
st. Bwvid’s Church
8%, Lukes Church

3t. Paul’s Lutheran Chrch, Jervme {Criginal
Building}

&%, Stephens lutheran Church
Stamey Farm

Suicklwy Farm
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few Harkaet

Strashurg

Pogs Hrook
Rileyvilie

Yigherville

Urkmey Sprinsgs

Honmtain Falls

Togs Brook
#iddistoun



GR8G231

DB 224
0850150
85-0142~
RG34
Q85076000
DEE-GI3A-100
85020000
(551156~
[85-D230
DES~02 4~
85-0151~
USRE-000

DE024E-T00

G85-0401~
(E5-0073~000

(85~0482~
D857
(RS~ 347000
Ay
DEG-0404~
Q850482
850408~
U853 64000
G851 73~
{85~3185~

(85~0488~

(85-0310~000

DEB-D440~

Bantel Stickisy Farm
Stoneburner Farm
Stonstyner Farg
Stoper Bouse
Ztonewall ML &its
Siore

Store {Route 740}
Styayer Farm
Strickisy, E. Houme
Stugp-Foster Farg
Sty Fars
Syoawore Fare
Fhistiewood
Tisinger, 4. B, Farm
Fodd’s favern

Foll House

Yathallz Fars
Bisdier Bouge

Yalisy Biner
Bud ahd Yanks

Yan-Barfon Fary

vesper Hail
21?%211 ¥ifsr House

Wagnoner~-Follz Fara
Yaverly Fary
$pmver fHouse

%eslay Chapel Methodist Zpiscopal Chuxch

Wetzel Cemetery
wheatfield
williamevilia

windel Fars

¥ine House

Wine, Bewlamin House
Sunder Farm

sion Chriatisn Church

1ivn Latheran Church and Cemsdery

E3inburg

togs Brook
Bileyviile
Tons Brook
Cosicyille
Hew Harked
Hew Harhel
Bay Harket
Tors Brook
Hoodstonk

Tops Brosk
fiew Rarket
Rdinburg

¥dintary

By Harkst
Toss Brook

Yoss Brook

#olf Gap
#igdistown

Couiovilis

Hountain Falls

Hoodsiook

Bdinburg

Conicviile
giddietam
Yoy Markst
widdistown
Hew HBarkot
Fiaberviile
Figbaryilie
Tons Brosk

conicviile



(850180~
(85~01 54~
25~03165
HEG-RGE~

(E5~Q1 76

Zirkle Barn
Zirkis Farm
tirkis Yarm
Zirkle, Moncee Bouss
2ivkls, Rebecou House

G4

oy Harkel
¥ew Marked
Hew Harkel
Hew Markst
¥ew Market



Appendix €2 Text of Preliminagry Information Forms for Fourteen Rural Communiiies.
{Catvary HI3, Shenandoab Co.
%, GENEBHRAL DESCRIPTION

Catvary is a small viflage located on 2 billside above Marrow Passage Creek, about 2-1/2 miles
west of downtown Woodstock,  In form the village is essentially linear, with dwellings, stores,
and farms sitwated along present Highway 42 for the space of neardy 3 half mile. A small arm
or pocket of development consisting of Mount Calvary Church and cometery and two houses 13
focated just south of this axis on Route 603, The principal historic buildings in the village are
two charches. a store, a broom factery, and about a dozen log, frame, and hrick houses sdating
from the first quarter of the nineteenth century to the mid-twentieth century. Mineteenth- and
rwentieth-ventury farm buildings are associated with many of the houses.

frrabably the eartiest dwelling in the village i3 the house on the Rickard Farm (83-441}. a two-
story brick | bouse dating to the first quarter of the nincteenth century. The Rickard house has
a raised basement, & gable roof with 2 houndstooth cornice, 6/6 sash windows with jack-arched
heads. and g two-story formerly detached brick kitchen now joined 10 the house by twentieth-
century frame infill, The hall-parlor-plan interior features Federal-style mantels (one with reeded
pilasters) flanked by presses, an enclosed winder stair, and six-panel doors with feather-itke
cratning in the panels. Bebind the howse is a bank barn consrucied about 1870 of mortise-and-
tenon straipht-sawn fimbers. In addition 1o the Rickard house are two gther brick 1 houses, one
probably dating o the second guarter of the sineteentl century, the other to the third. There are
swe suecoed 1 houses in the village that are probably constructed of rubble masonry. The
remaining half dozen or 50 houses appear t be frame { althongh some msy incorporate log cores)
and generally feature weatherboard or vinyl siding and various forms of sawn ornament. Two
af the houses are one-story Crafisman bungalows that probably date to the second guarter of the
rwenticth centary.

The two churches are one-story frame mave-plan buildings. Antioch Church of the Brethren has
heen modernized on the exterior, but Mount Calvary Untted Church of Christ retains stained
glass windows gnd an eniry tower with an open belfry., Next o Mount Calvary Church 15 8
smail cometery with marble and granite markers dating from the late nineteenth century © the
present. The Rickand Store and Calvary Post Office is 8 one-story frame building dating to about
1880 with 2 gable-frontesd form, sawn ornament in the front gable, and vinyl siding. The Kibler
Broom Factory and Shoe Shop is a two-story brick building dating to about 1880 with corbeling
at the tops of the side elevations and large four-pane display windows flanking the front gable-
end entry. Located on the west side of Narrow Passage Creek are the foundations of the Kibler
Cabinet Shop and an associated dwelling.



Calvary BD, Shenandoab Co.
£, HISTORY

The village of Calvary appears to have coalesced around Mount Calvary Cherch at some point
wefore the Civil War, On the 1864 Gilmer Map of the Lower Shenandogh Valley if appears as
a string of houses along the main road leading southwestward from Woodstock, near the 181
mill of Mathias Sheetz {also known as the Koontz Mill) on Narrow Passage Creek. By 1883 a
nost office had been established for the village; in 1893 the post office was kept in the general
store of lohn Rickard. Businesses of the 1BR0s and 18%s included the blacksmith shop of
Samuel Hisey, L. F. Kibler's hroom factory and shoe shop, the James A. Kibler cabinet shop,
S 7. Miller's coach and wagon shop, the A, Boemis sawmill (located a quarter mile to the south
on Narrow Passape Creek), and L. Sheets, miltwright. In addition to running the village general
store, John Rickard operated g grist mill and possibly a sawmill,

Draft Statement of Significance:

Calvary is potentially eligible for the National Register of Historic Places under oriterion € i
¢he ares of architecture, for the architecrural refinement of several of #s buildings, notably the
Rickard House and the Kibler Broom Factory and Shoe Shop, and for the extensive vse of brick
and rubble masonry in domestic construction, rare in 2 county where log and frame CORSEUCHOn
are more typical of houses in the smaller villages.

Bources:

Chataigne, J. H. Charaigne s Virginia Gazeieer ... 1884-°5, Richmond, ¥Ya.:
I, H. Chataigne, 1884,
Chataigne. I H. Chataigne’s Virginia Guzetieer ... $893. Richmond. Va.:
1. H. Chataigne, 1893,
Gitmer, Jeremy Francls, Lower Shenandoah Valley, I {1864},
Lake, . 1. & Co. Hammond s Edition of the Ailas of Shenandoah & Page Coungies, Virginia.
Syasherg, Va.: GF Hammond Publishing, 1991 (reprint of 1885 atlas).
Wavland, Jolm. 4 History of Shenandoah Cowny, Virginia. Swasburg, Va.
Shenandoah Pablishing House, 1927,
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Conicville HD, Shenandoah Co.
5. GENERAL DESCRIPTION

"Conieville, formerly *Cabin Hill, enjoys a matchiess panorama of the Valley from s elevated
position,” wrote John Wayland in 1837, Located 6-1/2 miles west of Edinburg, tus iinear
village follows the crest of a steep ridge above Swover Creck, long present Highway 42, The
predominate building type in the village are the late-ninciesnth-century, two-story frame § houses
that {ine both sides of the main strest. One of the earlier dwellings is the William Lutz House,

a two-story circalar-sawn frame howse possibly dating to the 18505 with beaded boand partitions
on the inlerior.  Atypical for the village is the rambling 1-1/2-stary frame Coffman-Pippin
Honse, with its wraparound porch and stained glass panes over the front windows. Perbaps as
many & a half-dozen stores and work shops survive in the village, including the blacksmith shop
of Luther Funkhouser. The Ryman Store and Conioville Post Office, located at the imtersection
of Highway 42 and Route 684, is a two-story gable-fronted frame building of about 1900 bkt
gnte an earlier house. The Jesse MoQuay Store is a two-story shed-reofed building of about
1900 with a sawn balustrade on the front porch. At the south end of the village is the 1911
Conicville High Schoot (85-106), 2 two-story weatherboarded frame building with a hip roof,

& belfry. and, on the isterior, a two-story eatry hall with a double Hight of stairs rising to the
second story.  Across from the school are the house and office of Dr. J. R, Fleicher, probably
dating to the 1880s. At the opposite {north) end of the village is the 1887 Christ Reformed
Church, 2 frame building with an entry/bell tower, peaked stained glass windows, and an
extensive cemetery.

97



Coniovitle BD, Shenandoah Co.
&. HISTORY
Conieville (the name was changed from Cabin Hill in 1892) first appears in local records in the
18505, By 1864, as depicted on the Gilmer map of the Lower Shenandoah Valley, the village
had acquired its linear form with a cross axis formed by present routes 694 and 703, It &
possible the community was also known as Georgetown during the antebellum period. In 1868
the village is saiid to have contained only three bouses: by I1BE5 the number hagd increased to
about ten. Conicville’s first merchant appears to bave been Conrad Long. 2 Peansylvamian who
moved to the community just prior to the Civil War and had opened 2 general store by 1871
Rusinesses of the 1880s and 1890s inchuded the general stores of H. H. Coffman & Brother and
Dr. Andrew J. McQuay (the laiter included 4 ten-pin alley); Adney B. Miller’s blacksmith shop;
the foundry of Walter Foltz; the coach and wagon shop of Isaac D Good, §. R. Fletcher’s
doctor’s office; and W. T. Moonly's law office. H. H. Coffinan advertised 1n 1883 as 3 "Dealer
in Dy Goods, Groceries ... and all goods usually kept in a first-class country store.” The first
church in the village was the United Brethren Church, built in 1879 and demolished in the
twentieth century after the congregation dwindled. In 1887, Dr. Andrew . Mc(uay subsidized
the constructivn of the Christ Reformed Church, which survives., According W one account
(Lutz). the name of the village was changed to Conicville “at the time when several of the houses
had undergone a transformation and the place was becoming modern in appearance. * Contoville
was reported o have a population of fifty in 1917,

Divaft Statement of Significance:

Comoville is polentially eligible for the Nativnal Register of Historie Places under criterion A
in the area of commerce 25 & local service and trade center in southwestern Shenandoah County.
Several stores, offices, and shops survive to illustrate the former significance of the village o
the commerce of the surrosnding countryside.
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Bovd, Andrew. Virginia Stae Business Direciory. 1871-72, Richmond, Va
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Strashurg, Va.: GP Hammond Publishing, 1991 {reprint of 1883 atdas).
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Forestville HD, Shenandoah Co.
%. GEMERAL DESCRIPTION

The village of Forestville is located on Holmans Ureek five miles southwest of Mount Jackson.
in plan the village is cross-shaped, with buildings radiating outward from & central crossroads
formed by the intersection of Highway 42 and routes 614 and 767, The viflage foatures a rich
coltection of different building types, with houses, store/post offices, a mill with a anill race and
miller’s house, a school, and & church. The large weatherboarded Forestville Mill (85-122) at
the east end of the village dates to the second quarter of the nineteenth century or earhier. The
mill Tetains a large overshot wheel, 3 wooden flume at the end of a mill race that meanders
through the entire village, and 8 two-story weatherboarded frame miller’s house that probably
dates to the second half of the nineteonth century and formerly had a much earlier log seciion.
The earliest houses in the village are of weatherboarded log and frame construction and date 10
the Jate antebellum period. Later houses include the A, C. Biller House of about 18140, 3 large
frame house with Viclorian gable ornament and crestings. Two smali, gable-fronted, frame post
offices survive in the town; both date to the late nineteentlh century, and one has board-and-batten
siding. The one hovse of worship in the village is 8t. Mark’s Evangelical Lutheran Church, 2
weatherboarded pave-plan frame building dating to 1873 that features sawn brackeis in the gables
and under cornice returns, decorstive front windows. and a fnely carved comerstons.
Cverlooking the town from 2 hill on the east side is the Forestville High School, an mposing
weatherbourded frame building dating to the early twentioth century with a belfry and bgmks of
larpe /6 sash windows,



Forestville HD, Sheaandoab Co.

§. HISTORY

Forestville was apparently platied in the late 1830s, for in 1538 fscob Bower, the owner of
Bower Mill {Forestville Mill), and Andrew Zirkle H sold a sotal of six s, One of the original
lot purchasers, Henry H. Hess, built the community’s first house and store which he chrisiened
"Hesse-Cassel.” By 1869 the population of the village bhad risen 1 approximately 200
individuals ansd there were two stores, two physicians, 8 "free church and school,” and the il
The twa stores were likely run by J. F. and J. W, Zirkle. Businesses of the {REGs and 1894
included the stores of J. W, Zirkle & Brother, H. A. Jordan, Charles Shutiers, and W. 1. Gmwix;
William P. Moore’s shoe shop; M. F. Tusing’s tannery; the John Whitmire & Sons saddle and
harness shop: undertaker 1. W. Burkett; and €. M. Andrick’s grist mill. In addition to these
husinesses were two blacksmith shops. A pre-1885 town hall stoad on Route 767 helow the
Rorestville High Scheol into the twentieth condury. In the early twentieth ceniury were the stores
of Lutz and Phillips and the Whitmive Cheese Factory.  Forestville was reported @ have a
population of 110 in 19171 in the 19205 the village boasted three stores.

Drafi Statement of Significance:

Faresivile is & classic example of a nineteenth century service and trade center that developed
around @ pre-existing mill. The village is eligible for the National Register sader several orileria
and aress of significance. Under criterion A, the existence of indusirial resources such as the
well-preserved Forestville Mill (VDHR Sue # §5-122; listed in the National Register in 1982)
render it eligible under industry, and the Forestville High School and the two pineicenth-contury
post offices make the district eligible under education and government, Under ¢riterion C, the
village is sigaificant for the architecture of its houses, church, mill, and other buildings.
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Hudson Crossroads HD, Shenandoah Co.
5. GENBRAL DESCRIPTION

The small village of Hudson Crossroads is located at the intersection of Highway 42 and Rowe
T3} in the southwestern section of Shenandoah County, about six miles northwest of Mount
Jackson at the headwaters of Crovked Rum. The oldest building associated with the community
is the Thomas Hudson House, & two-story stone dwelling believed to date to the late 1750s, with
crude jack arches over door am! window opemngs, 4/6 sash first-story windows, and a basement
spring. The Hudson House stands 1 the northeast of the community center, the crossroads iselt,
where two churches, a store, 3 school, 8 repair garage, and 2 house are located.  The churches--
St. Iames Lutheran and St. Johns United Church of Christ-are frame nave-plan buildings that
prohably antedate the Civil War, 5t James has stained glass windows, 2 beliry, and gravestonss
clustered apainst its south side that include & mid-pinetzenth-centary cast-iron marker. St Johns
has a from entry/bell tower flanked by entries with two-panel doors, and an SXIZNSIVE CRMBIETY
chat includes an iron marker for David H. Armentrout {1837-1858), possibly cast at one of
western Shepandoah County’s farmaces. The Hudson Crossroads Store 38 a two-story gable-
fronted frame building with weatherboard siding,  one-story front porch, and 3 ong-story shed-
raofed side wing. The Hudson Crossroads School i a one-story "state plan” frame building with
weatherbuard siding, s hip roof with belfry, banks of large 12/12 sash windows, and an outdoor
GEM water pumyp. The other two primary buildings in the community are Polk’s {rarage, 3 ong-
story corrugated-metal-sided frame building that probably dates to the sevomi guarter of the
rwentieth century, and a two-story frame house surrounded by a sieel rail fence with white and
green concrete posts supporting red concrete balls,
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Hudson Crossvoads HD, Shesandoak Co.
6. HISTORY

The history of Hudson Crossroads begins with the history of the settioment of the Hudson family
at the location. Thomas Hudson is said o have begun construction of the two-stary stone house
shat bears his name in the lale 17905, By the Civil War, St. James Latheran {Church and a
Cerman Reform church, predecessor of St. Johns United Chuorch of Christ, had been established
at the crossroads. The two churches were joised by Public Scheol No. 13 by 1883, which was
incated on the north side of St James Church. A commercial component was added relatively
tate in the community’s history with the establishment of the Hudson Crossrosds Store arcund
1900, Farly in the iwentisth century the public school moved o a new building located on the
east corner of the crossroads, and the present complement of historic buildings was completed
with the construction of Polk’s Garage and s two-story frame residence on the east branch of
Route 720 by the mid-twentieth century.

Diaft Statement of Significance:

Hudson Crossroads is one of Shenandoah County’s smalier historic communmities. The vitlage
is eligible for the National Register under criterion A o the areas of commerce and edacation
for the survival of the well-preserved country store and schoothouse that played an important role
in the Bfe of the community and surrounding countrysude.

Sources:

Raker, Donma. “Built for survival jthe Thomas Hudson Housel.” Shenandoah Herald. (1 n.d
Gilmer, Jeremy Francis. Lower Shenandoah Valley, I (1864},
take, [, 1. & Co. Hammond's Edition of the Arlgs of Shenandoch & Page Counties, Virginia.
Strashury, Va.. GP Hammond Publishing, 1991 (reprint of 1885 atlas}.
Wayland, John. A Hisory of Shenamdoah Cowny, Virgini, Strasburg, Va.:
Shenandoah Publishing House, 1927,
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Moovres Store HD, Shenandoah Co.

5. GENERAL DESCRIPTION

Moores Store i a small village located at the interseciion of romes 614 and 738 near the
Rockingham County line, 6-1/2 miles northwest of New Market., Flowing through the village
is Holmans Creek, on which is situated the Armentrout Mill {85331 at the center of the village.
The mill is @ two-story stome and frame building constructed in the 1870s, although & may
mcorporate fabric from an earlier mill on the site. Behind the grist mill is 3 one-story frame
sewsnill; both mills were served by a mill race that follows Rout 738 a5 it leaves the village on
the west side.  Most of the surviving buildings date to the same period as the mill or carhier,
The oldest may be the Showalter House | a two-stery weatherboarded dwelling with a v-notched
Ing section and a large stone chimney  Across from the Showalter House is a one-story brick
store and post office (85-11) that may date 10 the second guarter of the nineteenth century, or
that may be a remodeled building of earlier date. The building has gable-end chimmeys, fwo
rooms {each with & front door and 8/6 sash window), and Greek Revival mantels on the interior,

The store amd post office is associsted with 3 house that formerly Stood next door, replaced in
1870 by the two-story buff-colored brick Wander House (85-4B8). The Wunder House has many
interesting interior festures such as late Greck Revival mantels {one with iraces of gilided
deporation), grained two-panel doors, and florid Victorian wallpaper, as well as outhwildings
mchading & brick meat house aoad/or e house, a frame chicken house with brick nogping, and
4 sphit-level bank barn with mortise-and-tenon hewn members.  Another notable bouse and
cuthuilding complex is the Armentront House (85-34), probably the antebellum bome of the
community’s late-ninsteenth-century miller. The Armentrout House interior features baseboards,
stair risers, and a irsasitionat Pederal/Greek Revival mantel with curicus squiggled black-on-
white smoking, and near the house are the remains of 2 stene and brick bake pven and a two-
story circular-sawn-frame summer kitchen/wash bouse with 3 massive stone chimney and a shuice
for pouring washwater out of the building. Other buildings in Mocores Store include a one-story
frame sdertaker’s shop and the two-story Benjarun B. Wierman House.
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Moores Store HD, Shenspdosh Co.

&, HISTORY

Like many of Shenandoah County's villages, Moores Siore appears o have developed around
the nuclens of a grist mill, The first mill is believed to have heen built by Joseph Moore,
probably before 1800, and was knows as Hockman's Mill doring the Civil War, The mill (and
an adiacent foundry) burned in 1870 and was rebuill by Nathaniel Armentrout. A& post office
was established in 1829 and was kept by merchant Charles 5. Wunder and later lus associate
Benjamin B. Wierman almost continuously wntll 1917, Wunider & Wierman were the only
mercantile firm listed for the village in state business directories of 1871, 1884, and 1893, Other
husinesses of the late nineteenth century included Nathaniel Armentrout’s grist mill, saw mull,
and foundry (the only foundry in operation in the county in 1884y, H. R, Funk's blacksmith
shop. one or two doctor’s effices, and an undenigker’s shop. Moures Store was reported to have
a population of forty in 1917,

Draft Statement of Significance:

Moores Store is a classic example of a nineteenth century service and trade center that developed
around a pre-exisiing mill, The village is eligible for the Mational Register under several criteria
and areas of sipnificance. Under crierion A, the existence of the early brick store and post
affice snd the 1870s Armentroui Mill renders the village significant in the wress of commerce
and industry. Under Criterion ¢, the village is eligible for the significance of its architeciure,
with sccomplished brick amd stone masonry and vernaculer and popular interior decorative
finishes being among the notable architectural characterisiics.

Sources:

Boyee, Marilyn Kiein. Interview, Moores Store, Va., March 6, 1993,

Boyd, Andrew. Virginia State Business Divectory, 1871-72, Bichmond, Va:
Andrew Bovd & Company, 1871,
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Cimickshurg HD, Shesandoah Co.
5. GEMERAL DESCRIPTION

{uckshurg s a large village located in southern Shenandoah County roughly mid-way between
Mouont Jackson and New Market, The village is sttusted st the convergence of rontes 767, 616,
amid the late-1860s line of the Orange, Alexandria & Manassas Railroad (later the Valley Branch
of the Baltimore and Ohlo, presently the Southern Railbroad). Two-story frame houses are the
typical dwelling form in the village, sithough the two-story 18705 Robert Clark House is of
smccoed rublvle comtruction.  Decorative ireatments are generally lmited to sawn ornament on
porches and in gables. During the first half of the twentieth century, several one- and one-and-a-
hall-story frame Crafisman-style bungalows were built in the village.

The village has several stores, the earliest being the 1870¢ two-story frame §. B. Clem Store,
which has modest Greek Revival detailing. The largest commercial building is the Quicksburg
Lrocery, a two-story frame builiding dating to around 1900 with large display windows and a
hracketed Cormce. Across the sireet from the Guicksburg Grocery is the 1909 Quicksburg Mill,
@ fweestory frame merchant mill with decorative ridge-wp cupola vents, and beaded tongue-and-
groove freight doors sheltered under camilevered porches. The Quicksburg United Methodist
Church, which dates o around 1880, is & nave-plan frame building with a decorative belfry.
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Ouicksburg HD, Shenandosh Co.

6. HISTORY

Cuiickshorg owes s existence o a branch lime of the Crange, Alexandria & Manassas Ratlroad
built through Shenandoah County in the fate 1860s. A post office known as "Forest Station”™ was
established at the location in 1872; by 1877 the name bad been changed w© Quickshurgh {Jater
Cuicksbrg) in honer of an early village promoter, William A. Quick. By the mud- 1880 the
village contained the stores of 1. B. Clem, T. J. Adams, and Clark & Company, the saloon of
william Clem, the stave dealership of H. W. Baker, a blacksmith shop. a school, and the
Cwicksburg Usnited Methodist Church. For a brief period around 1890 the Quicksburgh Times
was published in the village.

The original village developed largely to the north side of the ratiroad crossing of present Route
957 In 1890 a landowner named David Neff laid off guarter- and half-acre lots just south of
the village around the pre-existing church, initiating an expansion in that direction. By 1813,
when the depet was moved closer 1o this new development, the town had gained a butter factory
(18963, a canmery (1902), and the Cuicksburg Mill (1909), Quicksburg was reporied t¢ have
2 population of seventy-five in 1917, At prosent, two stores remain in operation, but industrial
activities have ceased.

Draft Satement of Sigaifivance:

Unlike most pineteenth century Shenandoah County villages, which grew up around a mill, store,
or church, Cuicksburg developed along g ralruad.  The plan of the village i3 inflected towards
the taibroad. and the principal surviving now-domestic beildings cluster along s length.
Quicksburg is eligible for the National Register uader criterion A in the areas of commerce and
industry for its collection of late-nincteenth-ventury stores and is fine 1909 roller il
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bt Clifton HD, Shenandoab Co.
§. GENERAL DESCRIPTION

Mount Chifton is @ small village located in southern Shenandoah County approsimately four miles
west of the center of Mount Jackson, The village is situated on fop of 3 bluff on the nonth side
of Mill Creek, a location that probably inspired the community’s name. The frame dwellings,
stores, and church that comprise the village cluster along present-day Highway 263 and several
wregular streets that braoch off of the main road. Probably the oldest butlding in the village 1s
the Moses Hamman House, a two-story weatherboarded frame (7) dwelling with large gable-end
stone and brick chimneys and ormate frieze and front porch detailing of abowt 1870, The nther
dozen or so hogses 1w the village genersily date to the lste nincteenth and early twentieth
centuries and are two stories in height with gable mofs. At least three commercial buildings
stand in the village, all of which are contomporaries of the housing stock. These wclude a two-
siery westherboarded frame store with 2 traditional gable-front form; 3 small frame store or
office 1 the west side of the larger siore; and, in front and o the east side of the Moses
Hamman House, the Gee Per Store, g one-stary shed-rovfed frame building. Mount Chifton
United Methodist Church, the probable successor to the Free Church of the 1REQs, i5 & novelty-
sided frame building with a nave form, an open belfry, and a star-shaped window over the front
entry. Hugging the road side gbove Mill Creck near the center of the village is the early-
wenticth-century Plasger Garage, 8 small unpainted frame building.
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wi. Clifton HD, Shenandoahk Co.
&, HISTORY

Mount Clifion probably predates the Civil War. An 1864 map of Shepandoah County shows 2
Chfion Mill located on the north side of Mill Cresk at what would now be the west end of the
village. Across the Howard Lick Turnpike {present-day Highway 263} from the mill was the
residence of o "Hamman, " probably Moses Hamman, the owner of the Clifton Wil in the 18805
and 1890s. By 1871, two mercantile firms-—-J. D. Barb and Oshourn & Bausiman-—bad
established themselves in the village; by 1893 the number appears 0 have grown 1o three, The
1895 Hammond Atlas shows a total of twenty buildings in the village, including the Chifton Mill,
a blacksmith shop, two stores {one contsining the post office), a "Free Chinrch],” a public
sehoot, and a toll house. Mount Clifton businesses during the first half of the twenticth century
included the Gee Per Store, operated by the Hamman family; the Clifton Mill or IS SUCCessor,
run by Farl Turner; Barl Turner’s sawmill on the norih side of the village; and the Plauger
Crarage.

f3ratt Statement of Significance:

rount Clifion is typical of the small service and trade centers that sprang up in rural Shensndoah
County during the mneteenth and early twentieth centuries. What is unusual gbout the towa s
s dramatic siting on a rocky bluff overlooking Mill Creek. Mount Clifion is gligitde for the
National Register under criterion A in the area of commerce for s collection of varied histone
commercial butldings.

Souroes:

Bovd, Andrew. Virginia State Business Directory, 1871-72. Richmond, Va:
Andrew Boyd & Company, 1871,
Bowers, Marion. Interview, Mount Clifton, March 7, 1993,
Chatsigne, 1. H. Charaigne’s Virginia Gazeneer ... 1884-5. Richmond, Ya.:
1. H. Chataigne, 1884,
Chataigne, 3. H. Chatigne s Virginia Gazsttesr ... 1893 Richmond, Va.:
I. H. Chataigne, 1853,
Lake, Ib. J. & Co. Hammond s Edition of the Atlas of Shenandoah & Page Countiex, Virginia,
Strasburg. Va.: GP Hammond Publishing, 1991 (reprint of 1885 atlasy.
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Orandz HD, Shensndoah Co.
5%, GENERAL DESCRIPTION

Oranda is 2 small village located in northern Shenandoah County approximately three mthkes north
of Strasburg, The village is located in the midst of the county’s largest concemration of historic
time plants. Rt 629 forms the main axis of the village, with several Bouses also lovsted on
coads that intersect with RE 635, Most houses are two-stories in height, and are of frame
construction. At lesst three houses are constructed of mortar and Hmestone rubble, readily
availahle from nearby Hmestone quarnies. Two of these rubble-and-mortar houses are stuccoed;
the third, located at the northwest corner of rontes 628 and 632, is unsheathed. The principyl
commercial bailding in the village, the two-stary weatherboarded M. M. Crrndorff Store of gbout
10K}, has rubble and mortar infill between the studs of s frame walls. Other potable buildings
include the 1930 Oranda School, 2 one-story frame buihling with a hip reof, betfry, and mset
porch; and the Walnut Spring Christian Church, & curious brick building that ncorporates or
replaces u nineteemh-century building,
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Oranda HIY, Shemandozh Co.

6. HISTORY

The village of Oranda began to take shape in the late nineteenth century.  The Hammond Atlas
of 1885 shows a clustor of houses, Walnut School, and Walnut Spring Christian Church at the
tocation, just north of the Stckley Hme guarry snd kiln on the B&O Raibroad. The name
"Oranda” is satid to have been invented by an early community leader, Marion M. Ordorf, who
combined his last name with his wife's name, Annie.  The Oranda Post Office was establisbed
by 1R93. In the cerly twentieth centwry, most of Oranda’s inhabitants worked al the several
timestone quarries and kilns located in the general vicinity, and specifically at M. M. Omdorffs
Bmne plant, established in 1897, Oradortf also operated the principal store in the community and
in bis later years he kept & shoe shop located in the side vard of his residence at the center of the
village.

Frraft Statement of Significance:

Oranda developed in the late nineteenth and early twentioth centuries adjacent 10 the county’s
largest concentration of lime planis, The village functioned as a support community for the
plants, and as such is cligible for the National Register under criterion A in the area of industry.
The village is also eligible under criterion C for the unusual methed of stone constraction
emploved in several of its dwellings and its principal historic store.

Sources:

Boyd, Andrew. Virginie Stare Business Directory, 1871-72. Richmond. Va
Andrew Boyd & Company, 1871
Chatgigne, 1. H. Chataigne s Virginia Gazeterr ... 1884-75. Richmond, Va:
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Chataigne, §. H. Charaigne s Virginia Gozerteer ... 1893, Richmond, Va.:
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Homesimger, Randolph. Imterview, Oranda, Va., April 14, 1943
Lake, 0 3. & Co. Hammond's Edision of the Atlns of Shenondoah & Page Counties. Virginia.
Syrasburg, Ya.: GP Hameoond Publishing, 1991 (reprint of 1883 atlas).
Shull, Marie. Horvefeathers, H. Lebanon Church, Vaoo ca. 1990
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Saumsville HD, Sheaandosh Co.

5. GENERAL DESCRIPTION

Saunsvilie is g small village located in north-central Shenandoah County approximately 3.% miles
north of Woodstock. The village features a cluster of frame bouses, mostly two stories in height
with adjviming outbnildings and barns, a small gable-fronted frame store, and the Ssumsville
Christian Church, an gluminum-sided nave-form frame building of about 1900 with 2 large
adiacent cemetery. At the northern end of the village is the Spiker Farm, featuring a two-story
five-bay brick house of about 1840 and a large collection of outbuildings including @ wash house
and a v-noiched log barn (probably single crib} incorporated into & larger barn,
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Zaummsvitle HD, Shenandoal Co.

&. HISTORY

Sapmeville antedates the Civil War.  An 1864 map of the county shows the village ( fabeled
“Spamville”} in its present northeast-southwest finear confignration with hovses lining present- day
Route 652. From the early 18705 through the early 1890s, J. Rhodes & Ce. operated 2 general
merchandise store in the community, and in 1883, N. Milion Rhodes sold agricultural
implements from his shop, the only such business Jocated putside of the county’s larger towns
in that vear. The 1885 Lakes Atlas shows several stores, 2 wagos shop ( probably that of 1. W,
Saum & Co.), and the office of James Spiker located in the village.

SORICes:

Bowid, Andrew, Virginia Stare Business Direciory, 1871-72. Richmond, Va.
Andrew Boyd & Company, 1871,
Chawsigne, §. H. Chataigne’s Virginin Gazerteer ... 1884-'5. Richmond, Va.:
1. H. Chataigne, 1884,
Chataigne, 1. H. Chataigne s Virginia Gasetteer ... 1893 Richmond, ¥a.:
I, H. Chataigne, 1853,
Gitmser, Jeremy Francis, Lower Shenandoah Valley, 1 { {864},
Lake. I, 1. & Co. Hummond s Edition of the Atlas of Shenamioah & Page Counties, Virginia.
Strasburg. Va.: GP Hammond Publishing, 1991 (reprint of 1883 atlas).



t.ehanon Church HD, Shenandoah Co.
%, GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The village of Lebanon Church is bxsted in the northern part of Shenandosh Cousty along
present-day Route 35, Most of the principally two-story frame dwellings in the village are
tocaied on the north side of Route 55 and along & continuation of the main axis formed by Route
628, Ome of the more interesiing residences is the Hockman House, an aluminum-sided late-
nincieentl-century dwelling with an elahorste parfor mantel with a painted scene in place of the
fireplace. Mear the south end of the village is the Arthur Snarr Broom Shop, 2 sirple one-story
frame building with maodern board-and-batien siding.  Asother cotfage-industrial butiding that
may survive in the village is the coffin shop of Sitas Feely, The huilding formerty festured g
hex sign on the front door. At the north end of the village are the Hockman Nore, a one-story
frame building with conventional gable-fronted form: the Lebanon Church School, a one-story
frame building dating to the early twentieth century with a belfry and large banks of classroom
windows: and Lebanon Lutheran Charch, a reworked mid-nineteenth-century frame puilding with
fancet stained glass windows, a modern side wing, and, inside, an arcaded chancel-like area.



tehanon Church BD, Shenandoah Co.

fr. HISTORY

t.ebanon Church developed afier the Civil War aroussd Lebanon Lutheras Church, which was
orgamized in the 1840s. An 1873 map indicates that the village had attained its pssentially Hinear
form by that peried. with most dwellings grouped slong the nonhwest side of prosent Re. 335,
I. W. Bowman operated a general store in the village during the late nineteenth century. The
1883 Lake’s Atas shows the Bowman Store and Post Office, two blacksmith shops, 3 wagon
shop (possibly that of C. B, Little), a5 well a5 a school and the church. The Arthur Snary Broom
Shop and the Hockman Store were added to the community’s complement of busipesses arcund
1904,

Natienal Register Status?

The community of Lebanon Chorch was first surveyed o the 1970s. In 1979, a dratt Mational
Register form was prepared for the community, More recently, s consultant studying a proposed
Corridor H route is reported f have rocommended that the community is eligible for the
National Repister. The VA Department of Historic Resources has no record of 2 determination
of eligibility for the community.
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J. K. Chataigne, 1884,

Chataigne, 1. H. Chataigne s Virginia Gazetteer ... 1893, Richmond, Va.:
1. H. Chatipne, 1883,

Hoge, Elizabeth, Review & Compliance, YDHR. Telephone interview, Richmond, Va.,
June 4, 1993,

Lake, D. 1. & Co. Homenond 5 Fdition of the 43las of Shenandoah & Page Counties, Virginia,
Strasburg, Va.: OGP Hammond Peblishing, 1991 {reprint of 1885 atlas).

Kern, John R., D, "Lebanon Church District. ™ National Register of Historic Places Inventory-
-Nomingtion Form, 1979,

Offivial Atlas of the Civil War, New York, MY, Thomas Yoseloff. 1938.

Shull, Marie. Horsefeathers, 1. Lebanon Church, Va. o 1987,
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{olumbiz Furnace HED, Shenandoah Co.

%. GEHERAL DESCRIPTION

Columbia Furnace is a large village located on present-day Highway 42 approximately 6.5 miles
west of downtown Woodsteck. The village straddles Big Stony Creek where it issues from a gap
in the mountains that define the western border of Shenandoah County. The section of the
village on the west side of the cresk includes the site of the Columbia Furpace iself, which
survives shove ground as @ series of low stone walls and embankments.  Divectly o the north
of the furnace site on the north side of Highway 42 stands the Columbia Furnace Stables (85-
4763, a long one-story limestone building that is probably contemporary with the fursace. The
stables has deep eaves overbangs on us sowth (fromt) and morth sides, Waces of exterior
whitewashing, and stone jack arches over windows and stable doors, o front stands a 19208 or
1930s Limestone service station that plays on the architectural character of the stables. Uther
baildings in the vicinity of the furnace and stables include a large two-story frame building dating
to about 1900 or earlier that may have served as a store amd hotel/boarding house! 8 two-810ry
frame dwelling that is believed to have served a3 a saloon and post office, with an ormate one-
siery Victorian porch; and a 19308 or early 1940s (WPAY) Colonial Revival-inspired brick or
prick-encased schoal now subdivided 1nto apartments.

On the east side of Big Stony Creek is a residential guarter associated with the furnace.
Approximately 2 dozen houses dating from the early ninsicenth century to the early twentieth
century line the east side of Route 748, The southernmost house I8 2 two-story, five-hay, five-
course American-bond brick hovse dating fo the Brst third of the nineteenth century. with 2
single-pile center-passage plan and possible Federal interior detailing, Extending tfrom the rear
of the house is 2 one-story Flemish-bond brick ell that may have served as an office.  The
refinement of this house and Hs pussible doal function as an office suggests it may have served
a% the residence of the furnace irommaster. Other houses in this residential quarter mclude 2
dimimutive stuccoed log (7) dwelling (possibdy the house of a laborer at the furnace), anda 1-1/2-
story frame (%) house said o have been built in 1830 and later owned by the Kingres family.
O a bl top fo the east overlooking the village is Columbia Furnace Usion Church (85-403),
an 1854 frame building with 2 large stone-walled cometery adjacent.



{Columbis Fornace HD, Shensndosh Co.

$. HISTORY

Colurnbia Parnace was probably established during the first decade of the nineteenth century,
althongh some accounts suggest origing in the late cighteenth century, John Wayland, i his
history of the county, states that the furnace was developed by George Mayberry & Co. and was
sold to John Arthur & Co. in 1808 (hence the alternative historic ngme, Arthur’s Furmace), The
furnace was well situated gt the foot of the county’s western mountains, which abounded in ore
and timber, and on the banks of Big Stony Creek, which supplied power for the furnace bellows
and other activities, In the 1830s, Columbia Furnace supported a population of 200 workers and
others, entitling it to a post office and suggesting the present village was in existence. Acconding
to the 1860 census, Columbia was the county’s most productive furpace, consuming 3.304 wns
of are. 380,000 bushels of charcoal ceal, and 340 tons of Hime to produce 1,363 tons of pig iron
valued at 530,008,

An 1864 map of the county shows Columbia Furnace, an adjacent hotel, and a row of houses
and g church tocated on the east side of Big Stony Creck. The 1885 Lake’s Atkas portrays a
diversified commusity with & store and post office, mills, a blacksmith shop, a doctor’s office,
a school, sad hoth private and company-owned hoosing. The company during the Janer part of
the ninetesnth century was the Philadelphia-based Columbian and Liberty Iron Company, which
operated a store and mill ot the location. Production at Columbia Fumace apparently cnded m
1886, but the village continued to function as a focal service and iade center. Columbia Furnace
was reported to have a population of seventy 1 1917,

Diraft Statement of Significance:

The village of Columbia Fornace is a rarity in Virginia—-a community that developed around a
nineteenih-century iron furnace and survives loday with most of its historic range of building
types intact. In addition to the ruins of the furnace, the village retains 2 fosworic hotel, stables,
and housing associated with the Bunace workforce as well g5 the furace management and
professionals who served the furnace in a support capacity. Columbia Furnace is eligible for the
Mational Register umider criterion A in the area of industry, a5 & rare example of 2 relatively
complete ninsteepth-ventury Iron furnace community.
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Cotumbis Fornace D, Shenandoah Co.
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it Olive HD, Shenandoah Co.
5. GENFERAL DESCRIPTION

Mi. (Hive is a small village located on present-day Ri. 623 approximately five miles west of
downtown Strasburg. The village has a linear plan aligned glong Rt. 623 and extensding from
the junction of routes 623 and 631 northeastward to the junction of voutes $23 and 646, The
village features approximately ten houses—-principally two-story frame dwellings--a charch amd
cemetery, and two commercial buildings. The chorch is Mt Olive Methodist Church, a vinyl
sided nave-plan frame building of the second half of the nincteenth century with an enfyy tower
on the porth pable end. Behind the church on Re, 631 35 a cometery with late-nineteenth- and
pwenticth-century marble and granite markers, and & Hmestong wall fronting on the road. Atthe
aorth end of the village is the Bphraim Baker Store (85-473), a two-story frame building begon
ahout 1857 with a decorative frieze and unusual construction features. To the sorth side of the
stere is & one-story frame building with a false fromt that probably served for the sale of bulk
iems: o the south side is the Bphraim Baker House, a two-story, five-bay, weatherboarded
frame house with an elaborate Victorian front porch. At the southern end of the village is g two-
story weatherboarded Gothic Revival frame house with unusual multi-pabled turreted window
bays and a steep central gable,
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M. Olive HD, Shenandosh Co.

&, HISTORY

at. Olive was already a well established village by the time of the Civil War. A map of the
county made during the war shows it in more or less its presest linear form. The 1885 Lake's
Atdlas shows a dense row of houses and other buildings lining both sides of present-day RL. 623
Among the businesses noted in the atlas are the Ephraim Baker Store and Post Office, another
store, a blacksmith shop, a shoe shop, a carpet shop, and the broom shop of B, E. Edmondson,
who advertised, "My prices are low, my stock complete. Country produce taken.” Business
directories of the period reveal that the village had three "country stores” in 1871, a large
sumber of stores for a community of Mt Olive’s size, and a tanmer, David Maphis.

{3raft Staement of Sipnificance:

Mi. Olive is typical of the small service and trade centers that sprang wp in rural Shenandoah
County during the nineteenth centry. The village is eligible for the National Regisier under
criterion A for the existence of the Ephraim Baker Store, 2 well-preserved late-nineteenth-century
country store, and under criterion C for the distinctive architecture of #s dwellings.

SOUFCes:

Bovd, Andrew. Virginia State Business Directory, 1871-72, Richmond. Va
Andrew Bovd & Company, 1871,
Chataigne, J. H. Chataigne’s Virginig Gazesteer ... 188475, Richmond, Va.
1. H. Chataigne, 1884
Chataigne, . H. Chateigne 's Vivginia Gazetteer ... 18823, Richmond, Va.:
I H. Chatatgse, 1893,
Gilmer, Jeremy Francis. Lower Shenandoah Valley. H {1864).
Lake, 10 . & Co. Hammond’s Edition of the Atlas of Shenadeah & Page Cowmies, Virginia,
Strashurg, YVa.: GP Hammond Poblishing, 1991 (reprint of 1883 atlas).
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Willigmeville HD, Shenandoak Co.
5. GENERAL DESCRIPTION

Willinmsville is 2 small village located on Re. 730 about three mils sonthwest of Mt. Jackson
in the wmidst of Shenandoah County’s principal apple growing section. The village has a diffuse
form, with houses located along the curves of Rt. 730 and an off-shoot lane. The housing stock
is relatively conventional, with two-story, frame, gabled dwellings of the late nineteenth contury
predomingting.  One exception is te egstemnmost house in the village, a two-story frame "shed
nouse,” or house with shed moof.
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Willismsville HI3, Shenandosh Co,
&. HISTORY

Little is recorded shout Williamsville in secondary sources. The community appears--unnamed--
on the 1885 Lake’s Atlas s a collection of about a dozen rosidences without stores or other
functional types. One of the bouses in the village was owned by George S. Meem in 1885,
whose large Meems Botiom farm was located & lintle over a mile to the cast; the village may he
associated with the operation of Meems’s farm.  The village s also located near the present
Souithern Railroad line, built through the area in the Jate 1860s; the village may also have »
raifrond connection.  In the early twenticih century, the 1 400-acre Turkey Knob orchard was
established adiacent to the village. The orchard was one of only two Irrigated apple orchards
past of the Mississippi River at the tme.

Sources:

Lake, D, 5. & Co. Hommond's Ediion of the Atlas of Shenandnah & Page Couniies, Virginia.
Strashurg, Va.. OGP Hammond Publishing, 19891 (reprimt of 1883 atlas}.

moore, James T, and Miller, Marguerite. Shenandoch County Geogruphy Supplement.
Woodstork, Va.: Shenandosh County Schoed Board, 1931



Wheatficld HD, Shenandoah Co.
5. GEMERAL DESCRIPTION

Wheatfield is z small village located on Highway 55 approximately six miles north of Strasburg,
in the mountainous sorthern tip of Shenandoah County. The village consists of @ chuster of 1-
1/2- and two-story Bouses and two stores dating ® the late nineteenth century and the early
swentieth century. Prominent in the community i3 the G. H. Sparr House (83-1 19}, a two-story
Cueen Anne-inspired frame dwelling with & wraparcund Crafisman porch. Behind the house 15
a simple fwo-story frame building that was used as g barher shop by 2 Soarr family member.
Ta the north side of the house is the (3. H. Snarr Store and Post Gffice (85-447), a much-gltered
two-story frame building with & conventional gable-front form, an extensive side “stock room”
or storage area, and 2/2-sash windows with peaked lintels suggesting a jate-nincteenth-contury
date for the hailding. Behind the Snarr Store is another store boilding thet probably dates to the
third guarter of the nineteenth century. This one-story frame store has rubble nogging betwesn
the wall studs, and 2 gable-front roof supported by buited and nailed log sapling rafiers. The
fane passing between the two stores is the former main road through the village.
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Wheathield HD, Shenandosh Oo.
. HISTORY

Wheatfield is ome of Shenandosh County’s more Tecent rural trade and service centers.  The
compmmity coalesced after the Civil War during & period of sgricultural expansion. presumably
as 2 consequence of mare intensive cultivation of the rugged northern dp of the county.  An
1873 map shows the village as consisting of the store and residence of George H. Snarr and Hle
else. The Wheatfield Post Office was commissioned by 1884 and was kept in the store of
Ceorge H. Snary, and the 1885 Lake’s Atlas shows considerably more development than in 1873
Snarr also operated 2 grist mill, and be crected the communiiy’s Jargest dwelling {commaonly
known as the Harry Snarr Howsed, G. W, Keller slso kept a store in the village during the iate
sineteenth century, and A, F. Godlove operated a blacksmith shop. Wheatfield was reported to
have ¢ population of seventeen in 1917,

Sources:

Chataigne, 1. H. Chataigne’s Virginia Gazenteer ... 1884-°5. Richmond, Va.
J. H. Chataigne, 1884,

Chataipne. 3. H. Chasaigne s Virginia Gazeneer ... 1893, Richmond, Va.
1 H. Chataigne, 1883,

Hill Directory Company, Ine. Virginia Business Directory and Gazewteer, 1817, Richmond, ¥Va.:
Hill Divectory Company, Inc,, 1917,

Lake, I, §. & Co. Hammaond s Edition of the Atlus of Shenandoch & Page Counties, Virginia.
Strasburg. ¥a.: GP Hammond Publishing, 1991 (reprint of 1883 atlag).

Kern, Jobn ., Dr. “Harry Snarr House.” Nationa! Register of Historic Places Inventory-
~Nomisation Form, 1979,

Official Atdas of the Civil Wor. Mew York, MY Thomas Yoseloff, 1938,
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Appendiz D Selected Shenandoah County Consus Data

Population Total

1790 - 10,310
1800 - 13,823
1R10 - 13,646
1820 - 18,926
1830 - 19,730
1840 - 11,618
1830 - 13,768
1860 - 13.895

..............................

1870 - 14,936
1880 - 18,204
1890 - 19671
1900 - 20,253
1910 - 20,942
1920 - 20 80K
1930 - 20,658
1940 - 20,898

Population by Race and Stams: 1790-1870

year

1790
1800
{R10
1820
1830
18483
1830
1860
1870

Total

10,5310
13,823
13,640
18,926
19,750
11,618
13,768
13,896
14,936

White Free Col'd

9,979
12,947
12.461
16,708
16,860
13,320
12,565
12,827
14,360

ie

&5
147
317
438
S
292
3i6
676

1930 - 21,168
060 - 21,825
1970 - 22,852
1980 - 37 5350

Slave

312

a4
1,038
1.901
2.423
1,033

811
753

* Page County was formed from Shenandeah County in 1831 and part of Shesandoah County
was taken o form Warren County in 1835,

{Source. Jenmings, 9-10)

Sumnary of Shesandoah County Popudation and Buildings from State Boumerations:

1783 whites: 7,908
blacks:
whites: 6,460
dwellings: 930
other buildings: 1,186

1785
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Shenandoah County Population, 1790
Free white males of 16 vears gnd ppwand: 2,409
Free white males of under 16 years: 2,779
Free white females: 4,791
Al other free persons; 19
Rlaves: 512
Total, 10,5310

Virpinis counties with fower slaves than Shenandoah in 1790
Greenbrier {including Kemaws), Hampshire, Hardy, Harrison, {hio, Monoagalia,
Pendicion. Randolph, Russell, Washington,

Drata from the 1800 Census

1800 1800 1800 1800
Shen. Co. Siras. Wood, N, Mki.
Froe White Males
Under 10 2,261 64 128 56

it - 16 1.032 26 52 i1
16 - 26 G4 24 34 29
26 - 45 GE2 36 78 33
Over 45 752 32 24 &

Free White Femnales
Under 10 2,166 68 1§13} 59

- 16 834 18 35 i3
16 - 26 4% 23 41 21
26 - 45 145 36 64 32
Ohver 43 34 2 32 4

Al other Free
Persons exoept

indians not taxed 84 - }
Slaves 738 i3 1% 19
Total 12,547 362 &34 2RK

Dt from the 1820 Census

No. of Shenandosh County inhabitants engaged in agricubture: 3,160
No. of Shenandoab County inhabitants engaged in commerce: 35
Mo, of Shenandoah County iohabitants engaged in manvfacturing: 831
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Data from the 1850 Census

Shenandoal County Pz;pui:ﬁi{m:

White, male: 6,203 Free Col'd, male: 144 Stave, male: 482
White, femasle: 6,362 Free Cob'd, fomale: 148 Slave, fomale: 429
White, total: 12,363 Free Col’d, towh 292 Slave, total: 911

Onhier information:
Forgign born: 180
Dwellings: 2,143
Families: 2,163

Shensndogh County Population:

White, male: 6,394 Free Col’d, male: 157 Slave, male: 376
White. female: 5,433 Free Col'd, female: 1589 Siave, female: 377
White, total: 12,827 Free Cob'd, total: 316 Slave, toigl: 753

population of Communities (or, more correctly, areas surrounding those COBHBURIICS )
for 1860, recorded in 1870 Census Report {oote: discrepencies in data)

White Black

ount Jackson 444 120
Strashburg 534 G
Powell’s Fort 1.026 5
Mew Market 692 55
Edinburg 437 87
Woodstock RO0 P48
Cabip Hill 337 H
Columbia Fornace 554 3
Cross Rouds 346 i3
Forestville 347 12
Hamburg 395 4
Lantz Mill 4493 18
Liberty Furnace 439 ~
Moore's Store 36 Z
kount Clifton 477
roont Glive 277 2
{rkney Springs 316 4
Toms Brook 587 i1
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Appendix E: Shenandoah County Historic Landmarks Survey Slide Presontation

SHENANDOAH COUNTY HISTORIC LANDMARKS SURVEY

SLIDE PRESENTATION
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und
The Virpinia Deparsment of Historic Kesources

Maral §. Kalbian
Preservation Consultant
Boyce, VA 22620

1. Daniel Pezzoni
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Rosnoke, YA 24019
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INTRODUCTION

This scripted stide presentation is one of several producis to come oul of a survey of the rural
arcas of Shenandoah County, Virginia. The Shenandosh County Histortc Landmarks Survey was
funded by the County of Shenandoah and the Virginia Department of Historic Resoprces with
support from the Shenandoah County Historical Society. The survey was conducted by principal
investigators Maral S, Kalbian, a preservation consuliant hased in Boyce, Yirginia, snd J. Daniel
Perzoni, a preservation conseltant with the firm of Preservation Technologies, Inc., based m
Roanoke, Virginia. The presentation wes written and produced by J. Daniel Pezzoni with
comributions by Maral 8. Kalbian,

The presentation focuses on the types of buildings that make up the county’s rural farms and
villages. It also addresses wpics such as architectural siyle, building magterials, and decorative
interior finishes. The presentstion does not attermpe 1 portray every historic site in the county.
Instead, it seeks to illostrate general trends in the historic and architectural development of the
county through the use of a relatively small set of examples. The presentation is intended for
an adult audience. although the script is written 5o as to be understandable to children. Technical
terms (such as style names and materials) are usually defined in the text. At the end of the script
is a Hst of acknowledgments and suggestions for thuse seeking additional information.

SCRIPTY

i A typical Shemandosh County scene at the mrn of the century: @ house and barn and
surrcunding fields nestied in & bend of the Shenandoah River. Shenandosh County’s
landscape is a rich tapestry of historic farms such a5 this one.

2. in 1993, thres-hundred and fifty of the county’s farms and small towns were surveyed
during the conrse of the Shenandosh County Historic Landmarks Survey. The project
was sponsored by the county government, the Shensndogh County Historical Society, and
the Virginia Department of Historic Resources. Bevause farms are the basic uait of the
rural fandscape, this slide show begins with an examination of the coumty’s farms,

3. The county’s cartiest farms were established by German and British settlers who began
moving inte the area in the mid-1700s. Representative of the bouses huilt by carly
German farmers is the Dellinger-Veiter House, located near Conicville,

4. The Dellinger-Vetter House is constracted of logs joined with a kind of corner notching
known as full-dovetst] noching.

3. The house has Dutch doors with upper amd lower sections that can he opened
independently .

6. The doars are umg on besutifully crafled sirgp hinges.
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Typical of early German dwellings like the Dellinger-Vetier House is 2 large chimney
fncated at the center of the hoase.

Rising next to the chimney is a boxed stair with iriangular steps known a3 winders.

Many of the connty’s historic houses are built of sawn Jumber rather than logs, intially,
frame construction was more difficult and expensive than log, but with improvements in
sawmill technology in the ninctesnth century, frame building gradually replaced log
comstruction.  Frame dwellings could have complex forms, like this house . . .

Or they could be guite simple. Frame and Jog houses usually have weatherboard siding,
if it hasn't been replaced with modern aluminum or vinyl siding.

Masonry construction was more durable than log and frame, but it was alse more
expensive. The Jobn Beeler Howse, dramatically sited on the slope of Little Morth
®Mountain, was built of sandstone in 1833,

The Beeler House has a feature that is commen o many early houses: a spring lovated
in the cellar. Spring water kept the cellar a consiant cool temperature thal was tdeal for
storing perishable foud.

Oiher houses with stone cellars have shits for ventilation.

in the village of Oranda, established near a Hmestone quarry, cast-off rubble was mixsd
with mortar to oreate an inexpensive form of masonry construction.

Brick construction was preferred by Shenandoah County's wealthiest farmers during the
nineteenth century.  The clay used to make bricks was often dug, mokled, and fired ot
the conpstruction shie.

{ime of the county’s historic brick houses is Spangler Hall, built on a knoll averlocking
Strasburg in the early ninetcenth century.

Spengler Hall has fireplace mantels carved in the delicate Federal style. The urn 1o the
center panel was 2 popular Federal-style motif,

iros alse figure in a section of painted stencilling that survives in the stairway at
Spengler Hall,

Shepandoah County’s okler homes feature many different types of decorative interior
regtments.  This wreath-like stencilling vuns along the wp of the swir hall in the
Fitizmyers farmbouse near Mount Jackson.

One common decorstive technigue was graining, ihe painted simulation of satural wood
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grain. The carly-nincteenth-contury Rickard House in the village of Calvary has six-panel
doors with sophisticated graining infended to simulate expensive veneer.

Less convincing bub no less dramatic is this grained partition in an zbamdoned farmbouse
near Lebanon Church. Mote the stencilling on the ceiling joiis,

Marbling was another imitative technigue. These marbled stair risers are in the Mountz
House, also near Lebanon Church.

Vesper Hall, omside Strasburg, has attic walle painted to simulate blocks of ashlar
MASGITY.

The walls and ceiling in the main parior at Vesper Hall are painted in 2 echnigue called
srompe {'oeil, meant 1o ool the eye into seeing three-timensional plaster- or stonework.

The county’s wealthiest homebuilders did not have o settle for imitations. The mantels
in Mount Airy, a large stone bouse constructed in the 17%0s, are carved from imported
black marbie.

Scemic painting is not as common a3 graining and wmarbling in the county. One rare
example #ppears in a parlor of the ale-nineteenth-comtury Hockman House in Lebanon
Church. Instead of a fireplace, the mantel features a tandscape scene.

Homeowners also had 2 taste for wallpaper. This view s a staireay in the Wander
House, built abow 1870 in Moores Sore.

The typical Shenandoah Coonty farmbouse was surrounded by an extensive complex of
domestic and agriculiural outbuildings. The house stands at the center of this view of the
sMinnick Farm nesr Mount Clifton. Un the left are a cellar and tenant house; on the right
is & wash house.

Also locsted on the Minnick Farm iz this log carpenter shop.

Many farms have wells or cisterns fitted with pumps manufactured by the Gem Company.
“Pump” is a misnomer for the apparatus. which Hfted water in small buckets mounted on
a continuons chain,

Barns are what mamsrally come to mind when we think of farm buildings. The Mount
Airy Farm anear Mount Jackson has an ouistanding collection of barns. This Gothic

Revival barn dates o the late minetesnth century.

Other barns, sios, workshops, tractor sheds, and miscellancous botldings were bkt at
Mount Alry during the twentieth century.
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The immense size of one of the later barns Is conveved by this view of a hay wow.

The same barn contains & water-powered mill where animal feed was ground. The metad
eylinder comtains the two millstones,

Alse on the farm is a scale house for weighing loaded wagons, complete with the scales.

Some of the county’s early barns are log. The Winde! Barn outside Lebanon Church has
two lop units separated by an open threshing floor.  The door in this view is hung on
wooeden hinges and is constructed with hand-wrought nails. Many early barns were
destraved during the Civil War,

One of only two early brick barns idemtified in the county is the Hockman Barn, located
in a hend of the Shenandoah River near Masrertown. The Hockman Barn is g bank barn;
it is bl into a bank to permit easy access © the upper and lower levels.

The walls of the Hockman Barn are perforated with slits that ventilated the hay and kept
1t fresh.

Corn was stored on the cob in fog corn oribs or, as in this example, slatted frame onbs,

Scatiered throughout the county are odd circular structures that served for the reariag of
chicks, The form of these brooder houses, as they are known, i said io eliminate
corners where the chicks might pile up and suffocate,

Shenandoah County farmers began to raise mrkeys on a commercial scale just before
World War 11 This turkey house was built near Shavertows in 1940, Today, twrkey
prixfuction is a major agribusiness in the connty.

Throughout history, most people in Shenandoal County lived on farms, but for shopping,
schooling, church-going, and other activiges people uswally went 1o one of the county’s
many rural commpunities.  Crossroads hamiets, villages, and small towns plaved an
imporiant role i the functioning of the historic landscape. Hudson Crossroads is 2
classic example of a community at the smaller end of the spectrum.  The two churches,
couniry store, andd schoolhouse reprosent the hamilet in its entirety.

Many of the county’s villages grew up around mills. In the center of tus view of
Moores Store is the mill thet gave the village it start,  The brick building on the et
served s 2 store and post office.

another mill village is Forestville, which like Moores Stere has its origins i the
amebelium period. Prominent in this view is 5t Mark’s Lutheras Church, built in 1873,
{hurches Lke St Mark’s were vital be the sovial life of & compumity.



45.

46.
47,

8.

49,

54,

Forestville developed mext o the Zirkle Mill, established in the 17008 Notice the
wooden flame that channels water 1o the mill wheel. just visible at the lower left-band
corner of the buildmg.

In front of the mill is the miller’s bouse.

This large frame residence belonged to 4 doctor.

On 5 hill overlooking the village 15 the Forestville Schood, now a community center,
Mast of the county’s Bistoric schools are smaller than this one.

Thiz building served a3 the Forestville post office . ..
As did thiy hailding at another dute.

fron furnaces, like mills, sometimes formed the nucleus of 2 small community.  Van
Buren Furnace. buili in the 18305, stood at the center of 3 communily of the same game,

This 1885 map shows another forpace community, Liberty Furnace.

Althoogh the firpace at Colambia Furnace no longer stands, the support community
vemains., Across a creek from the furnace site is 8 neighborhood where fumace
cmployees, merchants, professionals, and their families once Bved.

This view shows fhree houses from the conumunity’s heyday before the Civil War. The
brick house in the distance . . .

May bave been the home of the furnace owner,

Anpther catalyst for community formation was the railroad. After the Civil War, when
ihe railroad was extended southward from Mount Jackson wwards Harrisenburyg, a village
sprang up at Porest Station.  This view shows that village, renamed Quicksburg in the
1870,

Located aext to the raifroad tracks is the Quicksburg Mill, established in 1909 .

And its contemporary, the Quicksbarg Grocery. The large display windows the grocery
were stacked with merchandise and helped entice customers into the store.

The Shensndosh County Historic Lamdmarks Survey documented over three hundred
farms and communities. For abandoned buildings, the survey was a last 1ook at aspects
of the county’s history that will soon be gone. For buildings that are sttt tived in and
cared for, the survey will aid property vwners and local governments in their efforts to
preserve the county’s distingtive architectural beritage.
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The Shenandoab County survey was funded by Shenandoah County and the Virginis Department
of Historic Resources. Shenandosh Counly Administrator John D Cutlip assisted as thw county
contact, and David Bdwards sdministered the sarvey at the stme.  Guidance was provided
throughout the course of the survey by the Shenandosh County Historical Society. The Soviety
aleried the consultant to important resources and suggested knowledgeable informants among 1t8
own ranks and in the community at large. The Suciety also arranged for the use of 2 phone and
pifice space in the old connty courthouse in Woodsteck.,  Mumerops property owners opesed
their homes snd farms to the consultant and provided valuable site-specific information.  Loval
and state-wide orpanizations that will provide historic information and preservation assistance 10
Shemandoah County citizens inclade the following!

County of Shenandoah
PO Box 452
Woodstock, VA 22664 {703} 459-219%8

Shenandosh County Historical Society
cés Shenandosh County Library
Stomey Cregk Boulevard
Edinburg, VA 22824 (703) 984-8200

Shengndoah County Library
Swoney Creek Blvd,
Fadinburg, YA 22824 (703) 984-82(%)

Mew Market Battlefield Historical Park
23506 Collins D
Mew Market, VA 23844 (703) 740-3101

Wondstock Museum
137 %, Court 8.
Waosdstook, VA 226564 (703 439-3318

Virginia Department of Historie Resources
221 Governor 5L
Richmond, VA 23218 (804) 786-3143 FaX: {R(4) 225-4261

Preservation Allignce of Yirgioia
PO Box 1407
Staunton, YA 24401 (703 BE6-4362 FAX: (703) BBG64543

The factual information in this presentation is derived from the Shengndoah County Historic
Landmarks Survey Report.  The repori contwins g bibliography of imponant primary and
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secondary sources for Shenandeah County history. The sources for images and baildings not
identified in the slide presemtation sovipt are as follows:

i.

34,
443

41,

Shenandoah River view, about 1900, Stickley Family Collection. Photo courtesy of
Michaet and Yeerle Foreman,

Detiinger House and Funeral Parlor, Rt. 710, Hamburg vicimty,
Columbia Forge and Fitzwater Parm, Rt 675, Columbia Furnace vicinty.
Hupp House and Distillery, Ri. 11, Strasbburg.

House, corper of Ri. 629 and Ry 622, Oranda.

Spiker Farm, corper of Re. 600 and Rt 632, Saumsville,

Dravid Stickley Farm, Ri. 11, Strashurg vicinity.

Farm, Ri. 600 at 1-81, Mavrertown vicinity.

Farm, Rt, 626, Getz Corner vicinity.

Sraith Creek Farm, Ri. 620, Shavertown vicinily,

take, D. . & Co. Hammond’s Edition of the Atus of Shenandoah and Page Coungies,
Virginia {1885).

Barb Farm, Rt. 601, Fishers Hill vicinity, Painting shows house and outbuilding and was
probably paioted in the late nineteenth century. Courtesy of owner,
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Fig. 3. Barh Farm (85-87). . View of bouse and ban.
{Phots: Marsl 5. Kalbian, 1993)

Fig. 4. Barb Farm {(85-871 Log orib on barn imerior,
{Photo: Maral §, Kalbian, 1993



Fig. 5. ML Adry (B5-18) House, front {west) slevation.
{Photy: Maral X Balbian, 199

Fig, 6. Mt Alry (8518, Hoose, first-story o room mantel,
{Photp: Maral §. Kalbian, 185
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Fag. 7. M Ay {853 18). N awm%ma,mm Cxote Bevival barn,
{Phote: Marsl 8. Kalbian, 1993

Fig B B Adry (85-18). Twenticth-cemtury barn comples.
(Photo, Maral 8. Kalbign, 1993
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Fig. %, Mt Plegsamt (85372, House, south elevation,
{Photo: Maral 8. Balbian, 1990

Fig. 10 ML Ploasant (85723, Howe, second-stiory window and cornice
detgl, (Photo: Maral 8, Kalbian, 1993
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Fig. 13, Speagler Hall (B5-9%, House, somh (Fonn slevation,
{Phate: Marsd 5. Kalbian, B9

Frg. 14, Bpengler Hall (839, House, firt-story southeast room mantel,
(Photo: Maral 5. Kalbdan, 1995
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Fig. 13 Spenglor Hall {859, House, sienciling in stair to aitic.
{Photo Bdaral 5. Kalbian, 199%

Fig. 16, Spengler Hall (85-9) Outbuildings o northeast of house.
{Photo: Maral 8. Kalbian, 1993
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Fig, 17, Valballs (83-96), YView of howe and meathouse.
{Phato! Maral . Kalbian, P93

Fig. 18, Valhalle (85-98) House, first-story room with mente] amd
presses. (Photo! Maral 3. Balldan, 1983
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Fig. 1% Yalhalls {8596 House, first-story room mantel detatl,
{Photo: Margl 5. Kalblan, 199%)

Fig, 21 Yalhalls (85-98). Meathouse.
{Phote: Maral 5. Kalbian, 199%)
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Fag. 21, Vesper Hall (8373} House, frond {east) elevation,
{Photo: Maral 5. Kalbiun, 198%

L

Fig. 22. Yesper Hall (85-73%, Hoase, window detil.
{Phote: Maral . Kalbian, 1993
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Fig., 33 Yesper Hall {8573, House, frat-story southeast rous
fevmmpe § el payating. {Photo: Maral 5. Ralbdan, 1993

Fig, 24, Yesper Hall (8573 House, Brststory southesst yoom
fresmpe {neld painting. (Photo: Marad 5. Kalbian, 1993}
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Fig. 25, Calvary (85-400). Kibler Broom Factory in forepreund; Mt
Caivary Church in distance, {(Photo: 1. Dastel Personi, 1989%)

Frg, 26, Colunbia Farmaoe (354000, Residenial area; view Iooking
southeastwand along BU 673, (Photo: 1. Daniel Pezeond, 1993
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Fag, 27, Copoville (85402 View oking northeastwand alony
Ri. 42. (Photo: §. Dantel Pervow, 199%)

Fig. IR Forestville (B5-408). Yiew of village from
Forestville Xchool, (Photo: §. Danied Pereomd, 13
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Fig, 39, Hudson Crosseoads (854103, 50 James Church, 51 Joboy
Charch, and public school. (Phots 1. Daniel Pezzoni, 1993

Fig. 3¢ Lebunon Church (85-118). View luoking wouthwestwand
stong B 628, (Photo Muarael 8. Kalban, 1983
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Fig. 33, 840 Ddive (83304 House (probwabdy Ephraim Baker Housgd
{Fhoto: §. Damel Peezoni, 1993)

Fig. 34, Oranda (83-30531, View looking sorthwestward slong
By 629, (Phote: Maral 8. Balbian, 1943
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Fig. 35, Omicksborg (85407}, View of willage from ratlrosd.
{Photo: §. Danigd Pezzond, 1993

Fig. 36, Saomeville (85303 View of houses and puthbutidings on
aorth side of Bl #3532, (Photoy: Maral 8. Kalbipy, 1993
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Fig. 37, Wheatfield (854473, Seres and houses.
(Photer Plaral 5. Balbian, 19933

Fig, 3%, Willianwville (R5408). "Shed bowse” @t cast end of villags.
{Photo: §. Duadel Peerond, 19933
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Fig. 41, Waggoner-Foliz Farm (85-482). House, front (novth} and
west elevations, (Phole §. Dandel Perwon, 1993

Fig, 42, Waggoner-Folty Farm (85482}, House, first-story couthwest
v door hinge pimel. {Phot: 1. Daniel Perzoni, 199%)
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